THESIS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY (PHD)

Segregated Residential and COVID-19 pandemic effects on Healthcare Service utilization dynamics among vulnerable populations in Hungary

by Bayu Begashaw Bekele

UNIVERSITY OF DEBRECEN DOCTORAL SCHOOL OF HEALTH SCIENCES

DEBRECEN, 2022

THESIS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY (PHD)

Segregated Residential and COVID-19 pandemic effects on Healthcare Service utilization dynamics among vulnerable populations in Hungary

by Bayu Begashaw Bekele

Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Janos Sandor, DSc, PhD



UNIVERSITY OF DEBRECEN DOCTORAL SCHOOL OF HEALTH SCIENCES

DEBRECEN, 2022

Table of Contents

Т	able of Contents	1
A	bbreviations	4
1.	Introduction	5
	1.1 Background of Healthcare services utilization	5
	1.2 Basic concepts	5
G	eneral practitioner visits, Specialist care and Hospital admission	5
Pı	escription redemption	5
R	oma population	6
Se	gregated settlement or Segregated Roma Colony (SRC)	7
C	brona Virus Disease pandemic	7
V	Inerability to HCS utilization	7
	1.3 Factors affecting HCU among social strata	7
Pı	escription redemption and determinants	8
Et	hnicity and HCS utilization	9
Ν	arital status and HCS utilization	10
Ec	lucational attainment and HCS utilization	10
CI	nronic diseases and HCS utilization	10
Н	ealthcare costs and HCS utilization	11
B	ehavioral (immediate) factors and HCS utilization	11
	1.4 Dynamics of HCU before and during the COVID-19 pandemic	11
	1.5 Health Outcomes of low HCS utilization	13
	1.6 Effective interventions for improving prescription nonredemption	13
A	set-based approach (ABA) model	14
D	gital health interventions (DHI)	14
S١	viss Hungarian Cooperation Program effect on prescription redemption	14
	1.7 Study context	15
	1.8 The rationale of the research	15
2.	Objectives	16
2	Matha Islaam	10
з.	Methodology	18
_	3.1 Study setting and data source	18
Se	gregated Roma Colony and Complementary Areas, Prepandemic and Pandemic data	18
	3.2 Population	19
	3.3 Data collection	20
	3.4 Outcome variable measurement and statistical analysis	22
In	direct age-sex specific redemption ratio	22
A	tributable risk	22
G	P visits, Specialist care, Hospital admission and CRPNR	23
E	planatory variables	23
	3.5 Ethical clearance	24
4.	Kesults	25

4.1 The magnitude of redemption of prescribed medications	25
Crude redemption ratio in segregated Roma colonies and complimentary areas	27
Crude redemption ratio each ATC classification by age and sex among SRC and CA	28
Indirect age-sex standardized redemption ratio	35
4.2 Sociodemographic and economic characteristics during pre-pandemic and COVID-19 pandemic peri Hungary	ods in 37
The extent of HCU in the pre-pandemic and the COVID-19 pandemic periods	39
The distribution of outcome variables under predictors in both periods	39
Factors associated with health care utilization among vulnerable social strata	41
Sociodemographic and clinical factors associated with HCS utilization	43
Determinants of healthcare utilization and subgroup-specific role of COVID-19 pandemic	46
5. Discussion	48
Comparison of the main findings with the international context	48
Prevalence of Redemption of prescriptions among Roma people living in CAs and SRCs	48
Minority and settlement effect on prescription redemption.	49
Age and sex correlation with prescription redemption	49
Empowering and promoting the health of Roma living in the SRCs	50
	50
Magnitude of HCS before and COVID-19 pandemic lockdown	50
GP and specialist visits	50
Hospital admission	50
CRPNR 51	
The interaction role of COVID-19 pandemic along with social strata on HCS uptake	51
Pandemic impact, Educational attainment and HCS uptake	51
Pandemic impact, Roma Ethnicity and HCS uptake	52
Pandemic impact, Marital status and HCS uptake	52
Age and HCS uptake	53
Sex and HCS uptake	53
Chronic diseases versus HCS uptake	54
Residence versus HCS uptake	54
Asset-based approach (Targeted Support, monitoring, and care for vulnerable groups)	54
The role of segregated settlement on HCS utilization and vulnerability	54
The role of COVID-19 pandemic on HCS utilization and vulnerability	54
Practical implications	55
Strenaths and limitations of the study	56
6. Conclusion and Recommendations	57
7. New findings	58
The impact of the segregated colony on prescription redemption	58
The Pandemic Interaction effect /modifying HCS utilization amona the social strata	59
8. Summary	60
9. References	64
10. Keywords	110
11 Advandement	111
11. ACKnowleuginent	111

12. Funding	113
13. Publication List	114

Abbreviations

ABA- Asset-based approach aOR- adjusted odds ratio ATC- Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical CA- Complimentary area CDC-Center for Disease Control **CEE-** Central and Eastern Europe COPD- Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease COVID-19- Corona Virus Disease-2019 CRPNR- Cost related prescription non-redemption CRR- crude redemption ratio CVD- Cardiovascular disease **EU-** European Union **GP-** General Practitioner **HCS-Healthcare Service** HCSO- Hungarian Central Statistical Office HCU- Healthcare Service use/utilization IHD- ischemic heart disease iOR-interaction odds ratio **ISSP-International Social Survey Programe** NIHIFM-National Institute of Health Insurance Fund Management OOP- out-of-pocket payment OTC- Over-the-counter Therapy PHC- Primary Health Care **PNR-Prescription nonredemption RRR-Relative Redemption Ratio** SARS-CoV2- Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome coronavirus SHCP-Swiss Hungarian Cooperation Program SRC- Segregated Roma Colony WHO- World Health Organization

1. Introduction

1.1 Background of Healthcare services utilization

The history of need and demand for secured health and ill-free life status-seeking practices or healthcare utilization (HCU) had been observed in prehistoric or ancient times (1). However, the occurrence of endemic and epidemic diseases created an opportunity for the establishment of causation and innovations in public health and epidemiology for today's world (2). The concept of health care services (HCS) started from 2600 BC when Imhotep described, diagnosed and managed two hundred diseases. From time to time its concepts have been updated and modernized based on technologies, research and scientific findings. The sources of basic healthcare services at a time included societal beliefs and religious views about disease prevention and health promotion (3). Modern HCS includes delivering curative, preventive and palliative care at primary, secondary and tertiary healthcare institutions for patients (4). The following are basic concepts under the modern HCS (General practitioner (GP) visits, Specialist care, Hospital admission and prescription redemption).

1.2 Basic concepts

General practitioner visits, Specialist care and Hospital admission

The general concept of these terms is more or less related to the continuum of health ill process called 'health-seeking process' (5). GPs or medical doctors are health professionals who treat all common or general medical disorders. They refer critical patients to hospitals and other medical services for further specialist treatment. While the specialists are medical doctors who have advanced training and degrees in a specific branch of medicine (each human organ and system level) (6).

Then again, the history of the hospital and its concepts date back to the first century BC and was started in Greece (7). It is the concept that assigning of a severely ill outpatient person to a hospital as an inpatient for further investigation, appropriate care and treatment of an illness or injury wherein the patient's length of stay is overnight and typically exceeds 24 hours (6).

Prescription redemption

For the first time, prescriptions were written on a clay tablet in Mesopotamia around 2100 BC. The ancient city of Baghdad was known for the establishment of the first drugstores in the 8th century BC (8). Regrettably, patients started to miss the order or prescribed medicines at the time either intentionally and unintentionally (9). Gradually, prescription nonredemption (PNR) has started to become a major public health issue. So, it has been described as the ina-

bility to buy or purchase a new drug accordingly within a specified number of days i.e., an averagely of 30 days after the medication was prescribed. If such a mismatch happens that is considered as PNR (10-13). It has synonyms like primary non-compliance, primary medication nonadherence, not dispensing prescriptions, newly initiated drug nonrefilling (14–17). It also shows the linkage or proportion of the number of prescribed medications per the number of dispensed medications by patients. On the other hand, according to a WHO report costrelated PNR (CRPNR) was defined as out-of-pocket (OOP) fees that make difficulties in redeeming the prescriptions at the point of care among the patients (18). The causal factors are usually drug-related, patient-physician communication, sociodemographic and economic, disease-related and health system characteristics (19,20). Subsequently, not a single party is responsible or blamed for PNR (21-24). Earlier studies described the influence of drug costs on achieving or redeeming those medications (25,26,35–41,27–34). Given the financial barriers, the lower redemption of prescriptions among patients leads to poor health illness outcomes. For instance, Kennedy J and colleagues investigated that more than 55% of patients did not redeem the prescribed medications due to the increased cost of drugs (12). CRPNR was also related to the higher sociodemographic disadvantage index (SDI) (42,43). Hence, as the cost of prescribed drugs increases, patients tend to use over-the-counter therapy (OTC), nonordered medicines (44).

Roma population

Roma or Gypsies were moved originally from the northwestern Indian subcontinent to Europe following the Byzantine empire from the 10th to 12th century (45). Later they spread and mixed with indigenous Europeans across Europe (46). Historically despite the democratization, the Romas' socioeconomic and every livelihood become under a big threat (47). In many parts of Europe, they have been considered as minorities and failing to utilize HCS than the general population (48–50). In the Hungarian context, more than half a million Roma (8.8%) of the general population are living in the country (51). Their lesser degree of HCU and poor lifestyle pushed them to underprivileged and making vulnerable to health problems (52). For this reason, enormous findings from Hungary and others uncovered that Roma health is equivalent to global health given that special attention is needed to fill the gaps on ill-health problems. According to these studies and reports usually, they have been known for low HCS seekers, health threats, detested in all HCS perspectives (53–60). They were also mistreated in every regard during the corona virus disease (COVID-19) pandemic in the European Union (EU) including Hungary (48,55).

Segregated settlement or Segregated Roma Colony (SRC)

It has been well studied that the place of residence matters the quality of life, living conditions and lifestyle of the individuals (61–63). The less deprived or undercrowded setting typically favors a healthy lifestyle, better utilization of services, reduced mortality, and morbidity (64–67). According to previous studies in Hungary, the most deprived settlements are clustered in the northern and northeastern parts of the country. In these settlements majority of inhabitants are Roma (68). The indicators of the deprivations were defined as poor quality of housing and overcrowding. This led them to poor lifestyle and health outcomes compared to the Hungarian general population (69–71). Due to the social trends of the last decade, the ethnic composition of segregated colonies changed. The recent colonies are populated mainly but not exclusively by Roma (72).

Corona Virus Disease pandemic

This is a viral disease that originated in Wuhan, China in late 2019 (73) and later covered the whole world declared as a pandemic on 11th May 2020. It is caused by a virus called Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome coronavirus (SARS-CoV2) (73,74). It has caused a whole encircled crisis throughout the world for all human lives. Economy collapse, lack of job, furlough, unemployment, HCS deterioration and low utilization, excess mortality, lack of public trust in healthcare, and others could be mentioned (75–82). The most widely mentioned factors in several works of literature were susceptible social groups and the mechanisms that helped patients to meet their healthcare demand during the pandemic (19,83–87). But a substantial number of patients ceased HCU during the pandemic in different countries with various gradients (75,78,79,88).

Vulnerability to HCS utilization

The noun "vulnerable" and verb "vulnerare" was originated from the Latin origin 'vulnus' (to wound) (89). Its concept has been widely studied and defined as being disadvantaged or deprived socially and which results in social challenges of health disparities (90). It occurs as a gap between an individual or client's demand and the mechanism to achieve those needs. Being easily liable to this mismatch exposes a section of the population in jeopardy of underprivileged HCU (89–93). Thus, a disease-causing agent, environment, ethnicity, or any characteristics of individuals can be a risk factor and trigger the susceptibility to HCU (90,92,93).

1.3 Factors affecting HCU among social strata

Globally, HCU and social inequalities have usually been emanating from several dimensions of factors (78,79,88,94–97). According to Newman and Andersen's model, these factors were

broadly categorized into three themes (98,99). These were (1) predisposing factors are those sociodemographic features of the subject that occur before their health state (age, sex, ethnicity, residence), *enabling factors* to show the means or basic infrastructures and logistics needed to access the services (educational attainment, marital status, economic level, accessibility, availability of medical supplies and drugs), and *need factors* are the utmost and instant reasons for HCU and indicate the perceived health condition of the subject (perceived severity and duration of the diseases). But these factors may facilitate or inhibit the HCU (100–103). For instance, single/divorced or widowed marital status (104–106), lower educational attainment (107,108), chronic nature of diseases (101,109–111) have negatively been affecting the proper HCU.

Prescription redemption and determinants

Piette and colleagues designed five core factors of prescription redemption and CRPNR. These are patient, drug, healthcare, patient-physician, and sociodemographic determinants (19). Sociodemographic and economic characteristics like; age, sex, ethnicity, educational attainment, residence, cost, marital status (112–114), communication with physician (115), fear of medication side effects, access, availability, behavioral factors and natural history of the disease were mentioned. Usually, patients with underlying chronic illnesses skip or underuse the prescribed medications due to the above-mentioned factors. Cooper and colleagues uncovered that 73% of the patients with chronic illness skipped their prescriptions intentionally in the USA (116–123). But the intensity and distribution of factors are not limited to these factors. (25,124–130). Being minority population has a higher PNR than general or indigenous counterparts (44,63,131,132). Marital status is also correlated with the redemption of prescribed medications. In Sweden, PNR of antidepressants was higher among divorced than married couples (133). Being geographically deprived or living in poor settings where access to the healthcare system is associated with low HCU (134–137).

Other recent pooled analyses come with a vast of determinants for prescription nonredemption (138,139). There were several factors from individuals to the healthcare system that had been hampering the magnitude of prescription nonredemption. According to several studies across the globe, there were various factors affecting the proper dispense of their prescribed medications among patients. For instance, having lower income and prolonged duration of medication time in Portugal (140), younger age in the USA (141–144) and Denmark (145), fear of side effects in the USA (22,146), increased cost of medications in the USA (147), being the ethnic minority in the USA (144,148,149) and New Zealand (63,131,150) and vulnerability due to disability Iceland (151) had a higher likelihood of not dispensing their prescribed medications. However, unprecedented situations like the COVID-19 effect have not been studied.

Besides, as mentioned above the unprecedented COVID-19 pandemic is currently driving and widening the gaps on HCU. However, gaps have not been explicitly identified among the susceptible social strata.

Ethnicity and HCS utilization

Before and during the COVID-19 pandemic, numerous previously published researchers revealed the relationship between ethnicity and HCU (152-161). For instance, American-Africans and Hispanics encountered a higher magnitude of rehospitalization and hospital admission rate than whites (157,162). In Vietnam, the indigenous (Tay people) utilized outpatient care more than Kinh and other ethnic groups (163). Regarding total hospital costs, the Hispanics had more total hospital costs than white Americans (161). Concerning PNR and/or CRPNR and minorities, studies were published from various continents (164-173). In Oceania; New Zealand Maori and Pacific populations have higher odds of CRPNR than indigenous counterparts (63,149,150). Filipinos and indigenous Hawaiians were less likely to adhere to prescribed medications compared to the native Japanese population (174). The majority of the studies from North America showed the relationship between CRPNR and ethnicity (12,141,169,170,175–180). Almost all of these findings uncovered that Black American Africans and non-Hispanics have higher odds of CRPNR. For instance, Non-Hispanic Black has fewer odds of facing CRPNR than Non-Hispanic Whites (176). Similarly diabetic, hypertensive and hyperlipidemic patients of Black Americans showed higher PNR (181). Shin and colleagues discovered that Blacks have lower redemption of prescriptions than whites in the integrated healthcare settings (178). Conclusively, a meta-analysis finding revealed that nonwhites have higher odds of nonredemption around 53% than whites (182). But CRPNR extent has not been well addressed during the pandemic era.

During the COVID-19 pandemic era, ethnicity still has been the potential determinant of HCU (183–185). The hospitalization rate among ethnic minorities was higher than indigenous or native populations in the USA and Europe. Hispanics, Asians and Blacks were on averagely two times more likely to get admitted to the hospital than whites (186). In the European context, including Hungary, the Roma were the main victims of the lockdown from HCU perspectives (48,55). Ethnic minorities particularly blacks, Asians and others were highly victims

of getting emergency and referral medical services than whites due to the COVI-19 pandemic in the United Kingdom (187).

Marital status and HCS utilization

Different studies have their inferences regarding the relationship between marital status and HCU before and after the pandemic lockdown. For instance, before the pandemic lockdown widowed had a higher likelihood of HCU among other subgroups due to mental, physical and emotional health burdens following the loss of their partners (188–190). Similarly, studies from South Korea and the Netherlands revealed that this marital stratum had less avoidance of HCU than married ones during the pandemic lockdown (189,191).

Educational attainment and HCS utilization

Most of the studies including European nations and others revealed that achieving higher academic status is usually had been associated with increased HCU (107,108,192,193). A study from the Netherlands and others uncovered that during a pandemic lockdown, patients with lower academic groups had higher avoidance of healthcare use than others (194,195). However, another big European survey revealed that subjects with higher academic status have lower avoidance of HCS during the pandemic (196). But a finding from South Korea did not show the significant relationship between educational attainment stratum and healthcare use (191). In Taiwan, those who had better educational attainment or know-how about health had a higher likelihood of HCU before the pandemic era (197).

Chronic diseases and HCS utilization

Chronic diseases are those illnesses with longstanding duration and multiple risk factors (198). According to the Center for Disease Control (CDC) classification, they are cardiovascular disease (CVD), cancer, diabetes, chronic respiratory diseases (199). Chronic care patients have a better and more frequent visit of a specialist than elective cases (200,201). During COVID-19, especially chronic bronchitis or chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) patients were admitted and readmitted to hospital in a huge number than other respiratory illnesses (202,203). Also, diabetic, malignant, and cardiovascular patients were frequently admitted to the hospitals than healthy individuals (204–207). Previously different findings had their conclusion regarding the relationship between chronic diseases and CRPNR. Several chronic patients rely on multiple medications and face financial barriers to redeem prescriptions. For instance, in the USA CRPNR for Atherosclerotic CVD was 12.6% (35), Canada 10.2% for chronic multimorbidity (38) and 1.6-3.1% among developed European nations (39). During the COVID-19 pandemic, about 10.7% of hypertensive patients did not redeem their prescription due to cost (208). During the pandemic, most respiratory and mental disorder patients were better utilized in healthcare than healthy individuals (209–211).

Healthcare costs and HCS utilization

Healthcare costs include both direct and indirect expenses and resources used related to the management of illness in the healthcare system. Direct cost covers financial payments for the provided service in the specific healthcare institution. Direct cost covers financial payments for the provided service in the specific healthcare institution. Those services might be laboratory diagnostic, nursing care, medical supplies and drugs, food supply during the care period (212). While indirect costs include an economic burden such as lost working time, salary, productivity, home care and chores due to the hospital or any healthcare institution stay (213,214). However, according to findings from Taiwan, UK, Canada and Iran witnessed that as both costs increase, the utilization of such services usually falls among susceptible individuals (212–216).

Behavioral (immediate) factors and HCS utilization

Individuals' current health status, attitude, intention, forgetfulness, knowledge and HCU are interrelated. Jackevicius and Harrison with colleagues stated that patients perceived lack of effectiveness and repeated prescribing of medications usually demotivated the prescription redemption in Canada and USA, respectively (22,217). In Spain, both adults and children sought health care for urgent and severe medical emergencies (218). Similarly, Ray Moynihan and fellow researchers in their systematic review encompassed more than 80 countries revealed this trend had a similar rhythm concerning HCU during the COVID-19 pandemic (219).

1.4 Dynamics of HCU before and during the COVID-19 pandemic

As described in the beginning, HCS services encompass meeting medication demands, GP visits, specialist care, and hospital admission as well. The dynamics of GP visits, specialist care, hospital admission and affording treatment vary from place to place due to the COVID-19 pandemic throughout the world (191,195,219–224). From the global arena, hospital visits were decreased by 63% in China (78), GP visits decreased by 30% in Singapore (77), enormously around nearly three-fourths (73.2%) of patients avoided HCU in South Korea (191). Concerning prescription redemption, before the pandemic globally pooled evidence revealed that 17% of patients did not redeem their prescription accordingly (139). But the magnitude differs from country to country. In New Zealand 9.8%-50% (63,225), Portugal (22.8%) (140), Sweden (2.5%) (226), 9.3% (113), Poland (20.8%) (227), Spain (17.6%) (228), Denmark

(9.3%) (145), Netherlands (51.5%) (229). But during the COVID-19 pandemic, a few studies have shown that CRPNR was found a major health issue after the pandemic. In the USA, about 10.7% of hypertensive patients did not redeem their prescription due to cost (208). For instance, in Singapore, out-of-pocket medical costs were reduced by 23% during the pandemic (77). Also, another study demonstrated that EU members did not modify the regulations regarding out-of-pocket payment for medication during the COVID-19 pandemic (230). However, a pooled analysis from 20 countries with more than 81 studies revealed that substantial declines were seen for aggregate HCU, GP and/or specialist cares, hospital admission rate and therapeutic use. But it suggested the lack of information about HCS inequality among different social strata in those studies (219).

Also, Europe as either EU or each specific country has fallen been under the shadow of the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown effect on HCU. The average avoidance or postponing of the medical service and missing the medications/treatment in the EU were 26% and 12%, respectively (196). From countries perspective, the dynamics in the use of HCS during the pandemic lockdown in the Netherlands, more than 20% of patients did not visit GP or specialist (195), 21% fall in the incidence of hospital admission recorded in Croatia (231), both the GP and specialist care declined by 6% and hospital admission by 39% in Germany (75).

Whereas the magnitude of CRPNR in Central Europe specifically Poland ranges from 16% to 21% before the pandemic. For inhalable 15.3%, antihistamines 20.9%, and aggregate redemption was 20.8%, while general redemption of prescriptions in Hungary ranged from 64.1% to 66.8% (227,232–234). Additionally, CRPNR a little bit varies from general PNR across countries. It was less than 5% in the affluent Western European countries (39). But the CRPNR has not yet been studied during the pandemic lockdown elsewhere.

In Hungary situation, 20% of medical appointments were postponed by doctors and 9% of patients missed visiting their doctors due to the fear of acquiring infection (196). But these respective figures were lowest for Bulgaria (2%) and Slovakia and Spain (4%), respectively. But the deprivation, being male and Roma settlements were a higher risk for increased mortality of the COVID-19 cases than their reference strata (235). Then again, the pandemic lockdown actions also showed a similar trend in excess mortality in the first year of the pandemic in relatively the same pathway with other Eastern and Central European countries (Slovakia, Poland and Romania) (236).

Therefore, it is important to explicitly investigate further the dynamics of HCS services uptakes and susceptible social groups attributed to the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown in Hungary.

1.5 Health Outcomes of low HCS utilization

The consequences of low HCU either preventive or curative have been a global major health issue. When subjects do not tend to use HCS, the prevalence and incidence of the diseases inevitably increase (237–241). From the beginning to the end, this amplifies the severity, poor prognosis, unwanted complications, direct and indirect healthcare costs, hospital admission, disability and even death (242). However, timely healthcare visits and getting appropriate remedies have been crucial to improving the health condition of the individuals, families and community. For instance, those individuals who used to visit their GP and specialists have a higher likelihood of achieving the redemption of the prescribed medication (243,244). Also, another big survey revealed that individuals who had more PHC visits had a lower possibility of hospitalization rate (245).

1.6 Effective interventions for improving prescription nonredemption

According to a few studies across the world, there are different kinds of practical interventions had been taken to improve prescription redemption for chronic diseases (246,247). Most of the interventions used a multifaceted and integrated approach to boost the level of prescription redemptions based on their specific findings.

In Denmark, a trial study was conducted with aim of increasing prescription redemptions among diabetic patients. GPs were provided with electronic feedback on the quality of care provided for patients. At the end of the intervention period, those who were intervened had 32.8% and controls had 12% of redemption of oral hypoglycemics (248). In Hungary, integrated and multi-professional services were delivered for GPs to enhance prescription redemptions at the PHC level. The intervention encouraged patients to dispense their prescriptions significantly than before the intervention period (249). On the other hand, in the USA phone calls were done for patients as a reminder to check their status of dispensing their prescribed medications. All of the interventions had significant effects in enhancing the prescription rate than their counterparts (250,251). For example, Renner and colleagues' study showed that the given intervention was effective with an increased dispensing ratio twice among the intervention group with 15.4% vs 7.5% (252).

Asset-based approach (ABA) model

This approach is a kind of intervention that mostly supports and focuses on strengths and what works among the vulnerable groups or end-users. From a HCU perspective, it enables people to share their insights and views of nearby services, accesses to health resources and their private or shared desires (253). The steps are taken at the individual, community and organizational levels. It allows their active involvement in the planning, delivery and outcomes of the interventions and the invention of community-based solutions (254). Because understanding the vulnerable population's cultural, social and demographic adaptability have a para amount of importance than the usual top-down approaches (255). In a precise explanation, this approach empowers the uptake of the specific healthcare elements among vulnerable sections of the population. This approach showed a substantially positive impact on reducing the gap or inequalities of HCU among the population in Scotland (256), the UK (257), South Korea (258), the USA (253), Japan (259), Finland (258) and Canada (253). But in the Hungary context, before 2012 there was no such approach except Public Health Focused Model Programme for Organizing Primary Care Services Backed by a Virtual Care Service Centre such approach to improve HCU including prescription redemption among subjects in the SRCs and CAs (260).

Digital health interventions (DHI)

This is a recent intervention model launched by WHO to improve HCU among chronic care patients. It uses the social platform, mass media or any electronic devices such as mobile phones to remind the patients not to miss dispensing their prescribed drugs (261) As mentioned above, a few studies were used to apply to improve the prescription redemption among chronic care patients (248,252,262). Also, its cumulative impact was assessed by the pooled analysis making the difference that providing proper DHI has a substantial capacity to bring positive HCU among the vulnerable groups (261).

Swiss Hungarian Cooperation Program effect on prescription redemption

In 2012, Swiss Hungarian Cooperation Program (SHCP) was launched with a theme Public Health Focused Model Programme for Organizing Primary Care Services Backed by a Virtual Care Service Centre such approach to improve HCU including prescription redemption among subjects in Hungary (260). This program mainly focused on reducing preventable deaths and diseases through expanding additional GP clusters (GPC). The four GPCs were providing further new services (health status evaluation, lifestyle counseling on nutrition, health psychology, physiotherapy, preventive services, and community health promotion programs) for the residents with the special focus given to the Roma community. Finally, the

program has been successfully and significantly addressed primary health care services including prescription redemption at the national level (249,263). Even though the intervention program was inclusive of the Roma minority, the prescription redemption in the SRCs and CAs was not yet assessed.

1.7 Study context

According to the previous studies, Hungary has moderate HCU in including prescription redemption due to various determinants (232,249,264). Furthermore, the dynamics of other HCU following the COVID-19 pandemic have not been well investigated except for a few preliminary findings of the immediate effects (235,236). As a result, this will provide the lenses through which the dissertation, as well as its methodological flows, new findings, conclusions and recommendations, can be displayed. Hence, mainly this dissertation focused on the impact of the segregated settlement on prescription redemption and the COVID-19 pandemic on the dynamics of HCU, vulnerable social strata and sociodemographic, and clinical determinants in Hungary. Hence, it is very essential to ensure external validity and intervene in the identified gaps according to the findings across Hungary.

1.8 The rationale of the research

The core reasons behind carrying out this study could be mentioned as follows. According to several reports and study findings, comparatively to the EU, western and a few of Central and Eastern Europeans (CEE), Hungarians bear relatively lower life expectancy, HCU, higher mortality and morbidity rate (57,232,238,241,265–268). Additionally, about 8.8% of the population is Roma (51). As mentioned above, Roma are usually characterized by poor health status and lifestyle. This has been contributing to enormous health problems and increasing their vulnerability (70,269–274). From this perspective, the proper HCU has enormous health implications among the disposed population. These are regular HCS visits including GP and specialist, proper purchasing of prescribed drugs and medical supplies play a crucial role in the wellbeing of nations (237–241,275). It implies that better GP visits, specialist care and prescription redemptions have a decent impact on health; such as reducing mortality, hospital admission rate, severity and disability (17,23,145,146,228,276–278). Despite few studies that have been conducted on primary medication adherence (232,249) in Hungary, none of the studies discovered its magnitude difference among Roma communities and the impact of segregated settlement or Segregated Roma Colony (SRC) on the redemption of prescriptions.

Furthermore, the COVID-19 pandemic deteriorated almost all aspects of life across the globe both at the individual and system level (74,80–82,207,267,279,280). Similarly in Hungary, the pandemic lockdown caused several health crises. Since the pandemic, Hungary ranked among the top ten countries in Europe with more than 39,000 deaths and 1.3 million COVID-19 cases until the end of 2021 (281). Besides the extent, determinants and vulnerable social strata for HCU have not been explicitly studied yet except for limited findings on the immediate effects. For instance, Oroszi B and colleagues' study revealed that being living in the most deprived settings had fewer cases but a higher mortality rate compared to the national figures. Being male, deprived and Roma densely inhabited residentials had a higher mortality incidence (235). So, whether the mortality was due to whether lack or reduction in the HCU attributed to the lockdown or other reasons has not been well defined. Hence, it is essential to uncover and intervene, compare and scrutinize GP visits, specialist care, hospital admission and CRPNR determinants, the susceptible social strata due to the pandemic lockdown in the pre-pandemic and pandemic (after the first wave of the pandemic) periods in Hungary. (**Figure 1**)

2. Objectives

The general objective of this dissertation was to investigate the dynamics and determinants of the HCS uptake in the pre-pandemic and the COVID-19 pandemic periods in Hungary. Having this the specific aims were

- 1. To assess the crude prescription redemption among Roma living in segregated settlements versus complementary areas.
- 2. To investigate the age-sex indirect standardized redemption ratio of Roma living in segregated settlements versus complementary areas.
- To estimate the GP visit, specialist care, hospitalization and CRPNR pre-pandemic and during the COVID-19 pandemic
- 4. To investigate the effect of the pandemic on GP visit, specialist care, hospitalization and CRPNR controlled for established predictors and
- **5.** To determine susceptible social strata to the GP visit, specialist care, hospitalization and CRPNR elicited by the pandemic lockdown in Hungary.



Figure 1 A conceptual framework of Primary Healthcare utilization barriers and enhancers adapted from the various literature review.

3. Methodology

3.1 Study setting and data source

The data were emanated from three different databases. Firstly, the secondary data analysis was applied with data obtained from the 2012 National Institute of Health Insurance Fund Management (NIHIFM) of Hungary for a prescription nonredemption among Segregated Roma Colony (SRC) and Complementary Areas (CAs) http://www.neak.gov.hu/. While 2021 International Social Survey Program (ISSP) (282) and wave 3 European Health Interview Survey (EHIS) (283) databases of Hungary were used for the rest of the objectives (COVID-19 pandemic lockdown versus healthcare use dynamics).

Segregated Roma Colony and Complementary Areas, Prepandemic and Pandemic data

The data were obtained from NIHIFM of Hungary in 2012. It was a part of the "Public Health Focused Model Programme for Organizing Primary Care Services Backed by a Virtual Care Service Centre" program in Hungary (260). The foremost goal of the program was to reorganize preventive service delivery at PHCs by the GP team and to supply improved care without segregating the Roma people (69).

In the SRC, there were about 758 colonies were existed with nearly 134,000 inhabitants. Of these, 94% of colonies are occupied by the Roma population (284). According to previously published studies, the colonies have been living in the underprivileged setting with varying degrees of health seriousness which can be measured by a merged score based on indicators of access to services and the presence of environmental vulnerabilities (53,59,284,285). The proportion of Roma residents were in this colony approximately 20% to 25% of the estimated whole number of Roma population in Hungary (284).

Secondly, we have got the required data from the Hungarian Central Statistical Office (HSCO). Then EHIS 2019 wave 3 database of Hungary has been utilized to investigate socioeconomic, demographic, healthcare, and related factors before the pandemic. Data were collected from September to December 2019. The full description of EHIS was published elsewhere with the aim is to measure European States' health status on a harmonized basis with a high degree of comparability among the member states. It incorporates health status indicators, health determinants, and HCS of EU citizens (283).

Thirdly, 2021 ISSP data of Hungary has been utilized to investigate socioeconomic, demographic, healthcare, related factors after the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic. Data were collected from March to May 2021. ISSP is an international survey conducted each year on social sciences to bring various importance to the theme (282,286). In this survey, Health and Health Care module contains health-related questionnaires.

3.2 Population

In the indirect age-sex standardized redemption all age groups (0 to 85 years and above) were included in the study from both SRC and CA settlements.

All residents of Hungary aged 18 years and above were used for pre-pandemic and pandemic data analysis. Both sexes and ethnicities (Roma and non-Roma origins) were incorporated into our study population. The data of prescription redemption for age was categorized as 0-17 (this category majorly included pediatrics) (287,288), 18-24, 25-44, 45-64 and 65 years and above.

3.3 Data collection

The data were collected from three different sources. The specific data collection method is defined in **figure 2** below.



Figure 2 Segregated and complementary areas sample recruitment process for the dissertation on prescription redemption in Hungary

As the EHIS 2019 data contained participants from 15 years and above, 15-17 years subjects were excluded from the analysis. (Figure 3)



Figure 3 Sample recruitment process for the dissertation on health services utilization in pre-pandemic and pandemic periods in Hungary

3.4 Outcome variable measurement and statistical analysis

Indirect age-sex specific redemption ratio

The normality of indirectly standardized redemption ratios' distribution was checked for both prescription and redemption among SRC and CA. Then, the crude redemption rate (CRR) was calculated for the country, SRCs, and CAs. Prescriptions were calculated by age- and sex-sp ecific numbers of written prescriptions and the national reference redeemed-to-written the ratio for all strata (232,249). To compare the prescription redemption between SRC and CA, age-sex specific indirect standardization was applied to control the confounding effect of age and sex between two strata for each Anatomic Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) classification. ATC was classified and controlled by WHO under Collaborating Centre for Drug Statistics Methodology. Under this classification scheme, the first level of the ATC code was used to show anatomical main groups and its letter (ATC_A to ATC_V) (289).

As the number of participants is quite different both in size, age distribution and settings made the comparison difficult. Thus, the age-and-sex band was used to calculate the age-sex specific redemption ratios between the strata.

The following formula was used to determine the indirectly standardized redemption ratio (SRR) (290).

 $SRR = \frac{Observed (drugs redemeed among the prescribed amounts by healthcare provider)}{Expected (prescribed amounts by healthcare provider \times Reference)}$

where the reference is the crude redemption proportion of each age and sex band.

Then the relative redemption ratio (RRR) was calculated as the ratio of indirect age-sex specific redemption ratio among SRC to CA. Similarly, the relative redemption difference (RRD) was computed as the difference between SRR_{SRC} and SRR_{CA}.

$$RRD = SRR_{SRC} - SRR_{CA}$$

Attributable risk

Attributable risk (the redemption attributed to the residential area) was calculated as the product of the RD and the expected amount of redemption among SRC. The equation was as follows:

> Attributable number of redemptions = $RRD \times expected$ amount of redemption among SRC

GP visits, Specialist care, Hospital admission and CRPNR

All of the dependent variables (GP visit, specialist care, hospitalization and CRPNR) were dichotomous variables for subjects who had at least one episode of them before one year (within 12 months) of the survey. If the patient had a history of GP visits, specialist care, hospital admission and CRPNR in a year was classified as 'yes'=1 and unless 'no'=0. Those who were not willing to answer, remember and medical help was needed according to their yearly perceived health status were excluded from the analysis.

Explanatory variables

The potential explanatory variable in this study was the survey period. Participants recruited for the study were categorized under pre-pandemic and pandemic periods based on this variable. The variable "Educational attainment" had four categories (completed 1 to grade to 8 primary school, the vocational school includes without a high school diploma, high school graduation with diploma and tertiary includes college and university graduates). The variable "region" was classified as the residential place of the subjects as Central-Hungary, Central-Transdanubia, Western-Transdanubia, Southern-Transdanubia, Northern-Hungary, Northern-Great-Plain and Southern-Great-Plain. The variable "Marital status" was classified as married, single, widowed, and divorced. Then "Ethnicity" was categorized based on self-reported information of the subject for which identity or they belong to Roma or non-Roma. In Hungary, Roma comprised 8.9% of the total population (51).

In the analysis section, both descriptive and analytic statistics were done using Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS[®]) version 21 (291). Before carrying out further analysis, data transformation was done as follows.

First, we had two separate datasets with different amounts of variables and cases (EHIS 2019 wave 3 with 541 variables and 5,603 cases while ISSP 2021 contains 136 variables and 1,008 cases). The difference was originated from the data collection guideline or tools of each program. However, they both were collected from the Hungarian population living in Hungary. This makes the first intersection or common in terms of the population and setting under the study. Then we thoroughly searched for common variables from both datasets like age, sex, marital status, educational attainment, and others that are pertinent to our study. After this stage, we got 19 variables those are existing in both datasets except for the IDs of participants. But still, we have to check for the variable's types, categories, or measurement similarities. Then, we have to rename types of variables and recode for variables with different categories in a way that cannot breach or deviate from the original classification or measurement in both

datasets. After renaming names and recoding values of each variable, other independent or mutually exclusive variables were removed from each dataset (original names were removed from each SPSS variable view). In this way, the data were transformed. After finalizing the selection, renaming and recoding of those common and important variables, we have created a new database by merging two datasets using those 19 variables. Through this process, the completeness of each variable has been confirmed and checked before analysis. All of our outcome variables are dummy variables and the interpretation of the results is made accordingly.

Frequency, proportions, and figures were used to display the descriptive findings. In the analytic statistics, first, we conducted a bivariate analysis for identifying the associated variables besides the interaction effect or interaction odds ratio of pandemic (iOR) lockdown. Then multivariable logistic regression was run with the interaction effect of the pandemic, to identify independently associated with dependent variables (control the confounding effect of sociodemographic and clinical factors). Also, the interaction of the effect of the pandemic on outcome variables among selected vulnerable social groups was assessed with a 95% CI to evaluate the statistical significance. Also, a statistical test for the goodness of fit tests had a p-value greater than 0.05, confirming that the data well fits the model (observed event pair expected event rates in subgroups of the population under the model).

Also, the Chi-square (χ^2) test was used to show the relationship between sociodemographic and clinical predictors and each studied outcome variable and for each study period.

3.5 Ethical clearance

The ethical consent for SRC and CA study used a secondary database and did not reveal any participant information (name, identity, or any further data kept anonymously). Therefore, according to the Hungarian regulations, no ethical approval was not required for such a study. The EHIS wave 3 was endorsed by the European Statistical System Committee per Commission Implementing Regulation (EU) No. 255/2018. The ISSP data were used per the Ethical statement of ISSP <u>https://issp.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/ethical_statement_issp.pdf</u> the ethical_requirements_were_approved_according_to_the_legal_requirement_of_Hungary <u>https://tarki.hu/sites/default/files/2018-05/adatbiztonsag_20180525.pdf</u>

4. Results

4.1 The magnitude of redemption of prescribed medications

There were about a total of 67,017 residents studied. Among these 4,943 (7.4%) and 62,074 (92.6%) residents were living in SRCc and CAs, respectively. The majority of inhabitants; 1925 (38.94%) were 0 to 17 years in SRC while 64 years and above were 17,905 (28.84%) followed by 45 to 64 years 17,500 (28.19%) in CA. Males dominated in SRC (50.23% vs 48.28%, p=0.008). (**Table 1**)

Table 1 Sociodemographic data of study participants of Segregated Roma Colonies and Complementary Area in Hungary,2012

Chara	cteristics	Category		SRC (%)	CA (%)	P-value
Churu			Juregory			1 vulue
Age	category	in	0-17	1,925(38.94)	9,974(16.07)	< 0.001
years			18-24	716(14.48)	6,046(9.74)	< 0.001
			25-44	1,305(26.40)	17,905(28.84)	0.006
			45-64	814(16.48)	17,500(28.19)	< 0.001
			65 and above	183(3.70)	10,649(17.16)	< 0.001
Sex			Male	2,483(50.23)	29,969(48.28)	0.008
			Female	2,460(49.77)	32,105(51.72)	0.066
Total				4,943(100%)	62,074(100%)	

SRC- Segregated Roma colonies, CA complementary area

The 2012 national crude redemption ratio of Hungary was 66.8%. Females and pediatric age followed by old age groups have redeemed better than their respective counterparts (p<0.001). (**Table 2**)

The majority of redemption was done for ATC-J (anti-infectives for systemic use) followed by ATC P (Antiparasitic products, insecticides, and repellents) with 76.8% and 75.33%, respectively. Conversely, cardiovascular and dermatological classes occupied the least space. (**Table 3**)

Patient char- acteristics	Category	Written pre-	Dispensed prescriptions	Dispensed percentage	p-value*
	0-17	7,117,169	4,966,700	69.78	
Age groups	18-24	1,471,638	941,073	63.95	
(vears)	25-44	8,859,296	5,804,608	65.52	< 0.001
() • • • • • •	45-64	45,160,578	29,125,328	64.49	
	65 and above	63,615,115	43,485,342	68.36	
Sex	Male	50,581,743	33,589,698	66.41	< 0.001
~ ~ ~	Female	75,642,053	50,733,353	67.07	
Total		126,223,796	84,323,051	66.80	-

Table 2 National Crude Redemption ratios by sociodemographic characteristics in Hungary 2012

*by chi-square test

Table 3 National	Crude	Redemption	ratios by	ATC classifica	ations in Hungary	2012
------------------	-------	------------	-----------	----------------	-------------------	------

	Written pre-	Dispensed pre-	Dispensed
A I C groups	scriptions	scriptions	percentage
A- Alimentary tract and metabolism	20,395,783	14,417,501	70.69
B- Blood and blood forming organs	8,919,109	6,049,914	67.83
C- Cardiovascular system	61,978,491	39,118,918	63.12
D- Dermatologicals	1,519,730	958,432	63.07
G- Genito-urinary system and sex hor-	879,489	625,473	71.12
mones	075,105	023,173	/ 1.12
H- Systemic hormonal preparations*	1,306,624	929,123	71.11
J- Anti-infectives for systemic use	5,786,947	4,444,509	76.80
M-Musculo-skeletal system	7,849,077	5,544,645	70.64
N- Nervous system	7,944,060	5,730,169	72.13
P-Antiparasitic products, insecticides and	62 044	46 736	75 33
repellents	02,011	10,750	15.55
R-Respiratory system	7,456,389	5,043,686	67.64
S- Sensory organs	871,650	597,112	68.50
V-various	1,254,403	816,833	65.12
Total	126,223,796	84,323,051	66.80

* excluding sex hormones and insulins

Crude redemption ratio in segregated Roma colonies and complimentary areas

In 2012, a total of 947,008 prescriptions were written by healthcare providers for patients in the study area. Among these 674,670 were dispensed by patients. This makes the crude prevalence of prescription redemption 71.24% (95% CI, 71.15-71.34%). Comparatively, in SRC 46,107 prescriptions written and dispensed amount was 33,720 making 73.13% (95% CI, 72.79-73.60%) while in CA 900,901 prescriptions written and dispensed amount was 640,950 making 71.15%, (95% CI, 71.06-71.25%) by patients. The amount prescription per person for specific age and sex, majority of prescriptions went for 65 years and above followed by 45 to 64 years in SRC and vice versa for CA. More prescriptions were written for females in both settlements (61.9% in SRC vs 61.58% in non-SRC). There were significant differences seen in the age-specific dispense rate between the settlements. In SRC, both females and males dispensed relatively higher than counterparts in CAs. On the other hand, significant differences were seen in the redemption rate for different ATC classes. Regarding each ATC class, prescription redemption among two settlements, alimentary tract and metabolism (77.6 vs 74.96%), cardiovascular (74.92 vs 67.15%), musculoskeletal (76.53 vs 73.96%), and various types (81.83 vs 75.23%) of prescriptions were highly redeemed among SRC than CA patients. Conversely, anti-infectives for systemic use (57.60 vs 74.67%) and sensory organ system (62.57 vs 71.47%) prescriptions were less redeemed among SRC than CA. (Table 4)

		Segrega	ted Roma	Colonies	Comj			
Characteristics	Category	Num- ber of Pre- scrip- tions	Dis- pensed	Per- centage	Number of Pre- scrip- tions	Dis- pensed	Per- centage	p-value
	0-17	8,839	5,134	58.08	47,172	32,187	68.23	< 0.001
A	18-24	1,284	671	52.23	14,130	9,122	64.56	< 0.001
Age category in	25-44	7,884	5,933	75.26	80,208	57,453	71.63	< 0.001
years	45-64	19,923	15,874	79.67	350,836	246,581	70.28	< 0.001
	65 and above	8,177	6,108	74.69	408,555	295,607	72.36	< 0.001
Sov	Male	17,662	12,703	71.9	346,089	245,279	70.8	< 0.001
Sex	Female	28,445	21,017	73.88	554,812	395,671	71.3	< 0.001
A- Alimentary tra olism	act and metab-	6,581	5,107	77.60	132,702	99,469	74.96	< 0.001
B- Blood and blood forming organs		2,493	1,894	75.97	66,839	49,669	74.31	0.064
C- Cardiovascular system		13,356	10,156	74.92	409,505	274,969	67.15	< 0.001
D- Dermatologicals		1,029	685	66.57	12,384	8,575	69.24	0.747
G- Genito-urinary sex hormones	y system and	201	159	79.10	5,846	4,557	77.95	0.698

Table 4 Crude prescription redemption of medications by age and sex among Segregated Roma Colonies and Complementary Area, Hungary in 2012

Table 4 Continued

H- Systemic hormonal prepara- tions, excluding sex hormones and insulins	406	305	75.12	9,651	7,482	77.53	0.257
J- Anti-infectives for systemic use	6,451	3,716	57.60	53,999	40,324	74.67	< 0.001
M-Musculo-skeletal system	5,143	3,936	76.53	71,036	52,403	73.96	< 0.001
N- Nervous system	3,369	2,612	77.53	64,578	49,299	76.40	0.113
P-Antiparasitic products, insec- ticides and repellents	32	20	62.50	539	416	77.18	0.057
R-Respiratory system	5,125	3,819	74.52	62,137	45,222	72.78	0.007
S- Sensory organs	505	316	62.57	6,012	4,297	71.47	< 0.001
V-various	1,216	995	81.83	5,673	4,268	75.23	< 0.001
Total	46,107	33,720	73.15	900,901	640,950	71.14	-

Crude redemption ratio each ATC classification by age and sex among SRC and CA

The crude redemption ratio by age and sex among SRC and CA was calculated from **Tables 5-17**. The Chi-square test was used to evaluate the significant difference in the redemption between the two groups.

Alimentary tract and metabolism group (ATC-A)

The significant differences were seen for the majority of redemption in the CA from 0-17 years old; 70.29% in the vs 50.82% in the SRC (p<0.001). On the contrary, for age group 45-64 years old redeemed significantly higher in the SRC than with 81.62% in the SRC vs 75% in the CA (p=0.001). There is no significant difference for redemption for sex between the two groups. (**Table 5**)

 Table 5 Crude prescription redemption ratio by sociodemographic characteristics for segregated Roma colonies and complementary area for ATC-A (Alimentary tract and metabolism group)

		Segrega	ated Roma co	lonies	Com			
Var- iable	Category	Written prescrip- tions	Dispensed prescrip- tions	Dispensed percent- age	Written prescrip- tions	Dispensed prescrip- tions	Dis- pensed percent- age	p-value*
Age	0-17	549	279	50.82	4,238	2,979	70.29	< 0.001
cate-	18-24	148	106	76.35	1,385	938	72.56	0.676
gory	25-44	1,204	936	77.74	11,324	8,292	73.22	0.192
in	45-64	3,417	2,789	81.62	53,098	39,825	75.00	0.001
years	65-X	1,263	997	78.94	62,657	47,435	75.71	0.328
Sau	Male	2,496	1,944	77.88	48,788	36,512	74.84	0.198
Sex	Female	4,085	3,163	77.43	83,914	62,957	75.03	0.194
Total		6,581	5,107	77.60	132,702	99,469	74.96	0.070

Blood and blood-forming organs (ATC-B)

The significant difference in redemption was only seen for the age category of 45-64 years old with the higher 82.08% in the SRC vs 73.05% in the CA (p=0.006). There is no significant difference for redemption for sex between the two groups. (**Table 6**)

Cardiovascular system group (ATC-C)

The significant differences were seen for redemption in the age category of 25-44 and 45-64 years old with the higher 75.48% vs 65.74%, and 76.53% vs 65.55% in the SRC and CA, respectively, p<0.001. There is a significant difference for redemption among males (73.8% vs 66.42%) and females (75.55% vs 67.59%) given that higher for both sexes in the SRC than CA (p<0.001). Moreover, an aggregate crude redemption ratio was significantly higher in SRC than CA (74.92% vs 67.15; p<0.001). (**Table 7**)

Table 6 Crude prescription redemption ratio by sociodemographic characteristics for segregated Roma colonies and complementary area for ATC-B group (Blood and blood-forming organs)

		Segreg	ated Roma c	olonies	Con			
Varia- ble	Category	Written prescrip-	Dispensed prescrip-	Dispensed percent-	Written prescrip-	Dispensed prescrip-	Dispensed percent-	p- value *
		tions	tions	age	tions	tions	age	
A = -	0-17	124	60	48.39	740	488	65.95	0.064
Age	18-24	81	38	46.91	595	343	57.65	0.321
calego-	25-44	456	340	74.56	3,917	2,831	72.27	0.681
I y III Voors	45-64	1,278	1,049	82.08	24,975	18,244	73.05	0.006
years	65-X	554	407	73.47	36,612	27,763	75.83	0.630
Sau	Male	954	754	79.04	27,793	20,635	74.25	0.207
Sex	Female	1,539	1,140	74.07	39,046	29,034	74.36	0.923
Total		2,493	1,894	75.97	66,839	49,669	74.31	0.476

*by chi-square test

Va	Segregated Roma colonies Complementary area							
riable	tegory	Written prescrip- tions	Dispensed prescrip- tions	Dispensed percent- age	Written prescrip- tions	Dispensed prescrip- tions	Dis- pensed per- centage	p-value*
Ag yea	0-17	28	21	75.00	150	110	73.33	0.943
e ca urs	18-24	69	43	62.32	1,001	720	71.93	0.474
ıteg	25-44	2,235	1,687	75.48	25,065	16,477	65.74	< 0.001
çory	45-64	7,350	5,625	76.53	170,792	111,962	65.55	< 0.001
/ in	65-X	3,874	2,780	71.76	212,497	145,700	68.57	0.069
Sov	Male	4,852	3,581	73.80	155,851	103,520	66.42	< 0.001
Sex	Female	8,704	6,575	75.54	253,654	171,449	67.59	< 0.001
Total		13,556	10,156	74.92	409,505	274,969	67.15	< 0.001

Table 7 Crude prescription redemption ratio by sociodemographic characteristics for segregated Roma colonies and complementary area for ATC-C group (Cardiovascular system)

Dermatologicals (ATC-D)

In this ATC classifications, there is no significant redemptions were seen for age, sex and aggregate as well. However, it was relatively higher observed redemption in the CA (69.24%) than SRC in aggregate form. (**Table 8**)

Va	Ca	Segreg	ated Roma c	olonies	Complementary area			
riable	tegory	Written prescrip-	Dispensed prescrip-	Dispensed percent-	Written prescrip-	Dispensed prescrip-	Dispensed percent-	p- value*
		tions	tions	age	tions	tions	age	
Age catego-	0-17	276	156	56.52	1,975	1,241	62.84	0.320
	18-24	49	33	67.35	716	509	71.09	0.816
	25-44	238	145	60.92	2,221	1,551	69.83	0.216
I y III	45-64	312	239	76.60	4,239	2,987	70.46	0.349
years	65-X	154	112	72.73	3,233	2,287	70.74	0.827
Sov	Male	442	261	59.05	4,784	3,260	68.14	0.078
Sex	Female	587	424	72.23	7,600	5,315	69.93	0.625
Total		1.029	685	66.57	12.384	8.575	69.24	0.443

Table 8 Crude prescription redemption ratio by sociodemographic characteristics for segregated Roma colonies and complementary area for ATC-D group (Dermatologicals)

*by chi-square test

Genito-urinary system and sex hormones excluding contraceptives(ATC-G)

Despite the lack of significant redemptions differences, for age, sex and aggregate band, it was a higher observed redemption in the CA (79.1% vs 77.95%). Also, males redeemed more than females in both settlements. (**Table 9**)

Table 9 Crude prescription redemption ratio by sociodemographic characteristics for segregated Roma colonies and complementary area for ATC-G group (Genito-urinary system and sex hormones)

Vari	Cate	Segregated Roma colonies			Con			
able	gory	Written prescrip- tions	Dispensed prescrip- tions	Dispensed percent- age	Written prescrip- tions	Dispensed prescrip- tions	Dispensed percent- age	p- value*
	0-17	5	4	80.00	39	33	84.62	0.937
Age	18-24	10	5	50.00	120	91	75.83	0.458
catego-	25-44	43	34	79.07	455	380	83.52	0.819
Ty III	45-64	77	55	71.43	1,573	1,162	73.87	0.852
years	65-X	66	61	92.42	3,659	2,891	ry area percent- age 84.62 0.9 75.83 0.4 83.52 0.8 73.87 0.8 79.01 0.3 81.00 0.7 73.71 0.9 77.95 0.8	0.381
Sau	Male	96	81	84.38	3,400	2,754	81.00	0.790
Sex	Female	105	78	74.29	2,446	1,803	73.71	0.960
Total		201	159	79.10	5,846	4,557	77.95	0.892

Systemic hormonal preparations excluding sex hormones and insulins (ATC-H)

The huge observed redemption variation was seen for the 18-24 years age category higher for CA (83.6% vs 42.86%). However, there was no significant difference due to the low observed number of patients in the SRC. As a whole, the observed redemption was higher in the CA than SRC (77.53% vs 7512%) for age categories, sexes and aggregate as well. (**Table 10**)

Table 10 Crude prescription redemption ratio by sociodemographic characteristics for segregated Roma colonies and complementary area for ATC-H group (Systemic hormonal preparations**)

Va	Ca	Segreg	gated Roma c	olonies	Con	plementary	area	
riable	tegory	Written prescrip- tions	Dispensed prescrip- tions	Dispensed percent- age	Written prescrip- tions	Dispensed prescrip- tions	Dispensed percent- age	p- value*
Age catego-	0-17	11	9	81.82	149	115	77.18	0.900
	18-24	7	3	42.86	189	158	83.60	0.330
	25-44	105	76	72.38	1,458	1,135	77.85	0.640
I y III Voars	45-64	221	163	73.76	4,364	3,348	76.72	0.710
years	65-X	62	54	87.10	3,491	2,726	78.09	0.561
Sov	Male	96	70	72.92	1,860	1,428	76.77	0.749
Sex	Female	310	235	75.81	7,791	6,054	77.71	0.779
Total		406	305	75.12	9,651	7,482	77.53	0.684

*by chi-square test ** excluding sex hormones and insulins

Anti-infectives for systemic use (ATC-J)

The significant differences were seen for redemption in the age category of 0-17 and 18-24 years old with the higher 65.98% vs 50.29% in the CA and 60.17% vs 37.14% in the SRC, respectively (p<0.001). There is a significant difference for redemption among males (72.82% vs 55.65%) and females (76.01% vs 59.11%) given that higher for both sexes in the CA than SRC (p<0.001). Also, an aggregate crude redemption ratio was significantly higher in CA than SRC (74.68% vs 57.6%; p<0.001). (**Table 11**)

Musculoskeletal system (ATC-M)

The significant difference in redemption was only seen for the age category of 45-64 years old with the higher 81.99% in the SRC vs 73.41% in the CA (p<0.001). Also, there was a significant difference in redemption for females with the higher 78.48% in the SRC vs 74% in the CA (p=0.031) between the two groups. (**Table 12**)

Table 11 Crude prescription redemption ratio by sociodemographic characteristics for segregated Roma colonies and complementary area for ATC-J group (Anti-infectives for systemic use)

Varia	Cate	Segreg	ated Roma	colonies	Com			
able	gory	Written prescriptions	Dispensed prescriptions	Dispensed percentage	Written prescriptions	Dispensed prescriptions	Dispensed percentage	p-value*
Ag yez	0-17	4,186	2,105	50.29	20,819	13,736	65.98	< 0.001
e ca urs	18-24	490	182	37.14	5,195	3,126	60.17	< 0.001
ateg	25-44	731	531	72.64	10,005	7,883	78.79	0.168
gory	45-64	851	730	85.78	11,760	10,134	86.17	0.930
/ in	65-X	193	168	87.05	6,220	5,445	87.54	0.958
Sov	Male	2,807	1,562	55.65	22,574	16,439	72.82	< 0.001
эех	Female	3,644	2,154	59.11	31,425	23,885	76.01	< 0.001
Total		6,451	3,716	57.60	53,999	40,324	74.68	< 0.001

*by chi-square test

Table 12 Crude prescription redemption ratio by sociodemographic characteristics for segregated Roma colonies and complementary area for ATC-M group (Musculoskeletal system)

Varia- ble		Segre	gated Roma o	colonies	Com			
	Category	Written prescrip- tions	Dispensed prescrip- tions	Dispensed percent- age	Written prescrip- tions	Dis- pensed prescrip- tions	Dis- pensed percent- age	p-value *
	0-17	491	297	60.49	2,773	1,819	65.60	0.308
Age	18-24	136	74	54.41	1,089	666	61.16	0.444
calego-	25-44	1,228	914	74.43	9,571	6,867	71.75	0.430
I y III Voors	45-64	2,532	2,076	81.99	31,593	23,191	73.41	< 0.001
years	65-X	756	575	76.06	26,010	19,860	76.36	0.945
Sov	Male	1,853	1,354	73.07	28,110	20,638	73.42	0.898
Sex	Female	3,290	2,582	78.48	42,926	31,765	74.00	0.031
Total		5.143	3.936	76.53	71.036	52,403	73.77	0.094

*by chi-square test

Nervous system (ATC-N)

In this ATC group, there is no significant redemptions were seen for age, sex, and aggregate as well. However, it was a higher observed redemption in the SRC (77.53%) than CA (76.34%) (p=0.563). On the other hand, for 45-64 years age categories there was a marginal significance with a higher redemption among SRC than CA (p=0.060). (**Table 13**)

Table 13 Crude prescription redemption ratio by sociodemographic characteristics for segregated Roma colonies and complementary area for ATC-N group (Nervous system)

		Segreg	gated Roma co	lonies	Comp	lementary are		
Varia- ble	Catego- ry	Written prescrip- tions	Dispensed prescrip- tions	Dis- pensed percent- age	Written prescrip- tions	Dispensed prescrip- tions	Dis- pensed per- centag e	p-value *
Ag yea	0-17	284	224	78.87	929	762	82.02	0.701
e ca urs	18-24	103	69	66.99	638	459	71.94	0.670
ateg	25-44	869	665	76.52	6,911	5,653	81.80	0.222
gory	45-64	1,588	1,275	80.29	23,352	17,427	74.63	0.060
/ in	65-X	525	379	72.19	32,748	24,998	76.33	0.411
Sov	Male	1,161	921	79.33	20,796	16,346	78.60	0.839
Sex	Female	2,208	1,691	76.59	43,782	32,953	75.27	0.600
Total		3,369	2,612	77.53	64,578	49,299	76.34	0.563

*by chi-square test

Antiparasitic products, insecticides, and repellents (ATC-P)

Although there were no significant redemptions were seen for age, sex, and aggregate as well, it had a higher observed redemption in the (CA 77.18%) than SRC (62.50%) (p=0.470). (**Table 14**)

		Segregated Roma colonies			Com	Complementary area			
Varia- ble	Category	Written prescrip- tions	Dispensed prescrip- tions	Dispensed percent- age	Written prescrip- tions	Dispensed prescrip- tions	Dis- pensed percent- age	p- val- ue*	
Ag yea	0-17	4	3	75.00	24	23	95.83	0.764	
e ca	18-24	8	5	62.50	28	17	60.71	0.964	
ateg	25-44	7	5	71.43	151	105	69.54	0.964	
ory	45-64	10	5	50.00	245	202	82.45	0.364	
/ in	65-X	3	2	66.67	91	69	75.82	0.889	
Sov	Male	16	10	62.50	179	119	66.48	0.883	
Sex	Female	16	10	62.50	360	297	82.50	0.498	
Total		32	20	62.50	539	416	77.18	0.470	

Table 14 Crude prescription redemption ratio by sociodemographic characteristics for segregated Roma colonies and complementary area for ATC-P group (Antiparasitic products, insecticides and repellents)

*by chi-square test

Respiratory system (ATC-R)

In this ATC classification, there were significant redemptions seen for 0-17 years old with the majority in the CA 67.95% vs 60.66% (p=0.001). On the other hand, for 25-44 and 45-64 years old with the majority in the SRC 79.21% vs 68.86% (p=0.021), and 81.83% vs 72.99% (p=0.001) than CA, respectively. There were no significant redemptions were seen for sexes and aggregate population between two groups. (**Table 15**)

Table 15 Crude prescription redemption ratio by sociodemographic characteristics for segregated Roma colonies and complementary area for ATC-R group (Respiratory system)

Va	Ca	Segreg	ated Roma c	olonies	Com			
riable	tegory	Written prescrip- tions	Dispensed prescrip- tions	Dispensed percent- age	Written prescrip- tions	Dispensed prescrip- tions	Dis- pensed percent- age	p- value*
Age	0-17	1,505	913	60.66	9,886	6,718	67.95	0.011
	18-24	165	107	64.85	2,822	1,857	65.80	0.909
calego-	25-44	683	541	79.21	8,106	5,582	68.86	0.020
I y III Voors	45-64	2,135	1,747	81.83	22,677	16,551	72.99	0.001
years	65-X	637	511	80.22	18,646	14,514	77.84	0.618
Sov	Male	2,073	1,513	72.99	26,910	19,835	73.71	0.779
Sex	Female	3,052	2,306	75.56	35,227	25,387	72.07	0.100
Total		5,125	3,819	74.52	62,137	45,222	72.78	0.289

*by chi-square test

Sensory organs (ATC-S)

There were significant redemptions seen for 0-17 years old with the majority in the CA 66.49% vs 47.32% (p=0.001). Remarkably, the redemption was less than 50% in this ATC classification among Roma. There were no significant redemptions were seen for sexes and aggregate population between two groups. (**Table 16**)

Various (ATC-V)

Under this classification, none of age, sex band and aggregate did not show significant differences for redemptions. But the total redemption is higher in the SRC (81.83%) than in CA (75.23%). (**Table 17**)

Table 16 Crude prescription redemption ratio by sociodemographic characteristics for segregated Roma colonies and complementary area for ATC-S group (Sensory organs)

Va	Ca	Segreg	ated Roma c	olonies	Com			
riable	tegory	Written prescrip- tions	Dispensed prescrip- tions	Dispensed percent- age	Written prescrip- tions	Dispensed prescrip- tions	Dis- pensed percent- age	p- value*
Age	0-17	205	97	47.32	1,125	748	66.49	0.001
	18-24	18	6	33.33	276	179	64.86	0.160
category	25-44	82	59	71.95	878	622	70.84	0.931
in years	45-64	121	96	79.34	1,773	1,271	71.69	0.473
	65-X	79	58	73.42	1,960	1,477	75.36	0.882
Sau	Male	204	129	63.24	2,248	1,634	72.69	0.234
Sex	Female	301	187	62.13	3,764	2,663	70.75	0.178
Total		505	316	62.57	6,012	4,297	71.47	0.074
Table 17 Crude prescription redemption ratio by sociodemographic characteristics for segregated Roma colonies and Non-segregated Roma settlements for ATC-V group (Various)

Va	Ca	Segreg	gated Roma c	olonies	Com	plementary a	area	
riable	tegory	Written prescrip- tions	Dispensed prescrip- tions	Dispensed percent- age	Written prescrip- tions	Dispensed prescrip- tions	Dis- pensed percent- age	p- value*
	0-17	1,171	966	82.49	4,325	3,415	78.96	0.373
Age	18-24	0	0	-	76	59	77.63	NA
category	25-44	3	0	0	146	75	51.37	0.216
in years	45-64	31	25	80.65	395	277	70.13	0.617
	65-X	11	4	36.36	731	442	60.47	0.381
Sov	Male	612	523	85.46	2,796	2,159	77.22	0.125
Sex	Female	604	472	78.15	2,877	2,109	73.31	0.346
Total		1,216	995	81.83	5,673	4,268	75.23	0.076

*by chi-square test, NA- Not applicable

Indirect age-sex standardized redemption ratio

Regarding the relative risk of redemptions, alimentary tract and metabolism RR=1.035 [95% CI 1.006-1.062], cardiovascular RRR=1.115 [95% CI, 1.097-1.135], musculoskeletal RRR=1.037 [95% CI, 1.003-1.067] and various types RRR=1.088 [95% CI, 1.006-1.139] of prescriptions were highly redeemed among SRC than CA. Conversely, anti-infectives for systemic use RRR=0.771 [95% CI, 0.766-0.816] and sensory organ system RRR=0.875 [95% CI, 0.791-0.987] prescriptions were less likely re-deemed among SRC than CA. The risk of re-demption among SRC was higher than CA after adjusting differences for age and sex. About 3.6% of Roma living in SRC were more likely to dispense the prescribed medications than CA, RRR=1.028[1.018-1.038] vs RRR=0.998[0.992-1.005]. (Table 18)

ATC classification	Segregated Re	oma colonies	Compler	nentary area		At nu rec	At per rec
	Dispensed/Expected	SRR [95% CI]	Dispensed/ Ex- pected	SRR [95% CI]	RRR (95%, CI)	tributable umber of lemptions	tributable centage of lemptions
A- Alimentary tract and metabolism	5,107/4,941.12	1.034[1.006-1.062]	99,469/99,634.87	0.998[0.992-1.005]	1.035(1.010-1.060)	173	3.5
B- Blood and blood forming organs	1,894/1,854.07	1.021[0.976-1.069]	49,669/49,708.93	0.999[0.990-1.008]	1.022(0.983-1.063)	43	-2.2
C- Cardiovascular system	10,156/9,136.16	1.111[1.090-1.133]	274,969/275,988.84	0.996[0.993-1.001]	1.115(1.097-1.135)	1051	11.5
D- Dermatologicals	685/710.4	0.964[0.895-1.039]	8,575/8,549.6	1.003[0.982-1.024]	0.961(0.904-1.022)	-28	-3.9
G- Genito-urinary system and sex hormones	159/156.76	1.014[0.868-1.185]	4,557/4,559.22	0.999[0.971-1.029]	1.015(0.884-1.165)	2	-1.5
H- Systemic hormonal prep- arations, excluding sex hor- mones and insulins	305/314.36	0.970[0.867-1.085]	7,482/7,472.64	1.001[0.978-1.024]	0.969(0.879-1.068)	-10	-3.1
J- Anti-infectives for sys- temic use	3,716/4,699.78	0.791[0.766-0.816]	40,324/39,340.2	1.025[1.015-1.035]	0.771(0.753-0.791)	-1100	-22.9
M-Musculo-skeletal system	3,936/3,803.56	1.035[1.003-1.067]	52,403/52,535.44	0.997[0.989-1.006]	1.037(1.010-1.067)	141	3.7
N- Nervous system	2,612/2,573.89	1.015[0.977-1.055]	49,299/49,337.11	0.999[0.99-1.008]	1.016(0.982-1.051)	41	-1.6
P-Antiparasitic products, insecticides and repellents	20/24.43	0.818 [0.528- 1.268]	416/411.56	1.011[0.918-1.112]	0.809(0.573-1.145)	-5	-19.0
R-Respiratory system	3,819/3,736.66	1.022[0.99-1.055]	45,222/45,304.34	0.998[0.989-1.007]	1.024(0.996-1.052)	90	-2.4
S- Sensory organs	316/357.46	0.884[0.791-0.987]	4,297/4,255.54	1.009[0.979-1.04]	0.875(0.802-0.955)	-45	-12.5
V-various	995/928.99	1.071[1.006-1.139]	4,268/4,334.01	0.984[0.955-1.014]	1.087(1.028-1.150)	80	8.8
Total	33,720/32,847.67	1.034[1.006-1.062]	640,950/641,822.33	0.998[0.992-1.005]	1.028(1.018-1.038)	920	2.8

Table 18 Standardized redemption (dispensed/expected) ratio of medications among Segregated Roma colonies and Complementary areas in Hungary 2012

SRR: standardized redemption ratio = observed/expected number of redemptions RRR: relative redemption = SRRsegregated Roma colonies / SRRcomplementary area Attributable number of redemptions = (SRRsegregated Roma colonies-SRRcomplementary area) × expected number of redemptions in SRC

4.2 Sociodemographic and economic characteristics during pre-pandemic and COVID-19 pandemic periods in Hungary

Under all outcome variables, the frequency of females, middle-and early old-aged adults (35-64 years old), married, central Hungary residents and non-Roma patients dominated in both pre-pandemic and pandemic periods. But the number of Roma who participated during the pre-pandemic was three times higher than the pandemic. The leading chronic diseases were hypertension and diabetes in both periods. (**Table 19**)

Charac-	Category	GP visi	t			Speciali	st care			Hospita	al admissi	on		CRPNF	Ł		
teristics		Pre-	Pan-	P#	Total	Pre-	Pan-	P#	Total	Pre-	Pan-	P#	Total	Pre-	Pandem-	P#	Total
		pan-	demic			pan-	demic			pan-	demic			pan-	ic		
		demic				demic				demic				demic			
Age cate-	18-34 years	1080	162	<0.001	1242	1059	158	<0.001	1217	1094	161	< 0.001	1255	744	88	<0.001	832
gories in		(20.1)	(16.2)		(19.5)	(19.9)	(15.9)		(19.3)	(20.2)	(16.1)		(19.6)	(17.2)	(12.7)		(16.5)
years	35-64 years	2670	623		3293	2652	620		3272	2690	622		3312	2094	394 (57)		2488
		(49.7)	(62.2)		(51.7)	(49.8)	(62.4)		(51.8)	(49.7)	(62.2)		(51.7)	(48.3)			(49.5)
	65+ years	1618	217		1835	1612	216		1828	1624	217		1841	1499	209		1708
		(30.1)	(21.7)		(28.8)	(30.3)	(21.7)		(28.9)	(30)	(21.7)		(28.7)	(34.6)	(30.2)		(34)
Sex	Female	2916	593	0.005	3509	2902	587	0.008	3489	2935	591	0.005	3526	2451	420	0.035	2871
		(54.3)	(59.2)		(55.1)	(54.5)	(59.1)		(55.2)	(54.3)	(59.1)		(55)	(56.5)	(60.8)		(57.1)
	Male	2452	409		2861	2421	407		2828	2473	409		2882	1886	271		2157
		(45.7)	(40.8)		(44.9)	(45.5)	(40.9)		(44.8)	(45.7)	(40.9)		(45)	(43.5)	(39.2)		(42.9)
COPD	Absent	5143	967	0.305	6110	5099	959	0.316	6058	5183	965	0.331	6148	4123	659	0.731	4782
		(95.8)	(96.5)		(95.9)	(95.8)	(96.5)		(95.9)	(95.8)	(96.5)		(95.9)	(95.1)	(95.4)		(95.1)
	Present	225	35		260	224	35		259	225	35		260	214	32 (4.6)		246
		(4.2)	(3.5)		(4.1)	(4.2)	(3.5)		(4.1)	(4.2)	(3.5)		(4.1)	(4.9)			(4.9)
IHD	Absent	5037	935	0.532	5972	4992	927	0.534	5919	5077	933	0.486	6010	4010	628	0.150	4638
		(93.8)	(93.3)		(93.8)	(93.8)	(93.3)		(93.7)	(93.9)	(93.3)		(93.8)	(92.5)	(90.9)		(92.2)
	Present	331	67		398	331	67		398	331	67		398	327	63 (9.1)		390
		(6.2)	(6.7)		(6.2)	(6.2)	(6.7)		(6.3)	(6.1)	(6.7)		(6.2)	(7.5)			(7.8)
Hyperten-	Absent	3443	691	0.003	4134	3403	685	0.003	4088	3481	689	0.006	4170	2479	387 (56)	0.569	2866
sion		(64.1)	(69)		(64.9)	(63.9)	(68.9)		(64.7)	(64.4)	(68.9)		(65.1)	(57.2)			(57)
	Present	1925	311		2236	1920	309		2229	1927	311		2238	1858	304 (44)		2162
		(35.9)	(31)		(35.1)	(36.1)	(31.1)		(35.3)	(35.6)	(31.1)		(34.9)	(42.8)			(43)
Diabetes	Absent	4826	847	<0.001	5673	4782	840	<0.001	5622	4867	845	<0.001	5712	3811	539 (78)	<0.001	4350
		(89.9)	(84.5)		(89.1)	(89.8)	(84.5)		(89)	(90)	(84.5)		(89.1)	(87.9)			(86.5)
	Present	542	155]	697	541	154]	695	541	155		696	526	152 (22)]	678
		(10.1)	(15.5)		(10.9)	(10.2)	(15.5)		(11)	(10)	(15.5)		(10.9)	(12.1)			(13.5)

Table 19 sociodemographic and Clinical characteristics of participants during pre-pandemic and pandemic periods in Hungary

Table 19 continued

Cancer	Absent	5253	980	0.915	6233	5210	972	0.856	6182	5293	978	0.883	6271	4228	672	0.714	4900
		(97.9)	(97.8)		(97.8)	(97.9)	(97.8)		(97.9)	(97.9)	(97.8)		(97.9)	(97.5)	(97.3)		(97.5)
	Present	115	22		137	113	22		135	115	22		137	109	19 (2.7)		128
		(2.1)	(2.2)		(2.2)	(2.1)	(2.2)		(2.1)	(2.1)	(2.2)		(2.1)	(2.5)			(2.5)
Region	Central-Hungary	1533	304	0.334	1837	1523	304	0.289	1827	1549	304	<0.001	1853	1242	202	<0.001	1444
		(28.6)	(30.3)		(28.8)	(28.6)	(30.6)		(28.9)	(28.6)	(30.4)		(28.9)	(28.6)	(29.2)		(28.7)
	Central-Transdanubia	593	110		703	590	110		700	595	110		705	465	89		554 (11)
		(11)	(11)		(11)	(11.1)	(11.1)		(11.1)	(11)	(11)		(11)	(10.7)	(12.9)		
	Northern-Great-Plain	836	148		984	829	146		975	840	148		988	667	102		769
		(15.6)	(14.8)		(15.4)	(15.6)	(14.7)		(15.4)	(15.5)	(14.8)		(15.4)	(15.4)	(14.8)		(15.3)
	Northern-Hungary	673	120		793	663	115		778	678	119		797	562	76 (11)		638
		(12.5)	(12)		(12.4)	(12.5)	(11.6)		(12.3)	(12.5)	(11.9)		(12.4)	(13)			(12.7)
	Southern-Great-Plain	660	133		793	657	133		790	666	132		798	545	97 (14)		642
		(12.3)	(13.3)		(12.4)	(12.3)	(13.4)		(12.5)	(12.3)	(13.2)		(12.5)	(12.6)			(12.8)
	Southern-	508	86		594	502	86		588	513	86		599	413	53 (7.7)		466
	Transdanubia	(9.5)	(8.6)		(9.3)	(9.4)	(8.7)		(9.3)	(9.5)	(8.6)		(9.3)	(9.5)			(9.3)
	Western-	565	101		666	559	100		659	567	101		668	443	72		515
	Transdanubia	(10.5)	(10.1)		(10.5)	(10.5)	(10.1)		(10.4)	(10.5)	(10.1)		(10.4)	(10.2)	(10.4)		(10.2)
Educa-	Primary	1024	165	<0.001	1189	1021	163	<0.001	1184	1026	165	<0.001	1191	871	140	0.001	1011
tional		(19.1)	(16.5)		(18.7)	(19.2)	(16.4)		(18.7)	(19)	(16.5)		(18.6)	(20.1)	(20.3)		(20.1)
attainment	Vocational	1291	309		1600	1282	308		1590	1296	309		1605	1043	215		1258
		(24)	(30.8)		(25.1)	(24.1)	(31)		(25.2)	(24)	(30.9)		(25)	(24)	(31.1)		(25)
	High School	1817	398		2215	1795	394		2189	1839	396		2235	1448	252		1700
		(33.8)	(39.7)		(34.8)	(33.7)	(39.6)		(34.7)	(34)	(39.6)		(34.9)	(33.4)	(36.5)		(33.8)
	Tertiary	1236	130		1366	1225	129		1354	1247	130		1377	975	84		1059
		(23)	(13)		(21.4)	(23)	(13)		(21.4)	(23.1)	(13)		(21.5)	(22.5)	(12.2)		(21.1)
Marital	Married	3110	535	0.077	3645	3084	534	<0.001	3618	3128	535	<0.001	3663	2545	366 (53)	<0.001	2911
status		(57.9)	(53.4)	_	(57.2)	(57.9)	(53.7)		(57.3)	(57.8)	(53.5)		(57.2)	(58.7)			(57.9)
	Single	1026	187		1213	1016	183		1199	1040	186		1226	709	100		809
		(19.1)	(18.7)	_	(19)	(19.1)	(18.4)		(19)	(19.2)	(18.6)		(19.1)	(16.3)	(14.5)		(16.1)
	Divorced	425	149		574	423	147		570	428	148		576	354	104		458
		(7.9)	(14.9)	-	(9)	(7.9)	(14.8)		(9)	(7.9)	(14.8)		(9)	(8.2)	(15.1)		(9.1)
	Widowed	684	126		810	683	125		808	685	126		811	632	119		751
		(12.7)	(12.6)		(12.7)	(12.8)	(12.6)		(12.8)	(12.7)	(12.6)		(12.7)	(14.6)	(17.2)		(14.9)
Ethnicity	non-Roma	5251	937	<0.001	6188	5209	930	<0.001	6139	5291	935	<0.001	6226	4244	647	<0.001	4891
		(97.8)	(93.5)	-	(97.1)	(97.9)	(93.6)		(97.2)	(97.8)	(93.5)		(97.2)	(97.9)	(93.6)		(97.3)
	Roma	104	65		169	102	64		166	104	65		169	87 (2)	44 (6.4)		131
		(1.9)	(6.5)		(2.7)	(1.9)	(6.4)		(2.6)	(1.9)	(6.5)		(2.6)				(2.6)
Total		5368	1002		6370	5323	994		6317	5408	1000		6408	4337	691		5028
		(100)	(100)		(100)	(100)	(100)		(100)	(100)	(100)		(100)	(100)	(100)		(100)

The extent of HCU in the pre-pandemic and the COVID-19 pandemic periods

There were significant reductions in all of the outcome variables except for CRPNR between the two periods. There were 4251 and 561 episodes of GP visits, corresponding to a prevalence of 79.2% (95% CI 78.1-80.3) and 56% (95% CI 52.9-59.1), 3426 and 378 episodes of specialist care, corresponding to a prevalence of 64.4% (95% CI 63.1%-65.7%) and 38.0% (95% CI 35.0%-41.0%), and 728 and 68 episodes of hospital admission, corresponding to a prevalence of 13.5% (95% CI 12.6%-14.4%) and 6.8% (95% CI 5.2%-8.4%), and 245 and 36 episodes of CRPNR, corresponding to a prevalence of 5.6% (95% CI 4.9%-6.3%) and 5.2% (95% CI 3.5%-6.9%) in the pre-pandemic and pandemic periods, respectively. The GP visits, specialist care and hospital admission were accompanied by a significant reduction between two periods for studied predictors. (**Figure 4**)



Figure 4 The change in dynamics of primary healthcare uptake in pre-pandemic and pandemic periods in Hungary

The distribution of outcome variables under predictors in both periods

For each outcome variable, the descriptive measurement for all of the above sociodemographic and clinical variables was computed for both periods. The uptake of studied outcome variables was significantly higher for old age, females, having chronic diseases, central-Transdanubia, Central Hungary inhabitants and non-Roma patients in both periods. But the GP and specialist care were more frequent among widows during the pandemic period and the reverse was true for CRPNR for this subgroup. (**Table 20**) Table 20 The frequency of outcome variables under each explanatory characteristics pre-pandemic and pandemic periods in Hungary

$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $
years 35-64 years 2010(75.3) 326 (52.3) 1664 (62.7) 208 (33.5) 296 (11) 24 (3.9) 105 (5) 15 (3.8) 65+ years 1475 (91.2) 181 1177 135 348 34 91 (6.1) 18 (8.6) Sex Female 2415 (82.8) 342 2001 232 424 41 (6.9) 142 (5.8) 24 (5.7) Male 1836 (74.9) 219 1425 146 304 27 (6.6) 103 (5.5) 12 (4.4) GOND 41 4020 (75.7) 58.9) (35.9) (12.3) 42 (5.6) 103 (5.5) 12 (4.4)
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Sex Female $2415 (82.8)$ 342 2001 232 424 $41 (6.9)$ $142 (5.8)$ $24 (5.7)$ Male 1836 (74.9) 219 1425 146 304 27 (6.6) 103 (5.5) 12 (4.4) GODD (53.5) (58.9) (35.9) (12.3) 27 (6.6) 103 (5.5) 12 (4.4)
Male 1836 (74.9) 219 1425 146 304 27 (6.6) 103 (5.5) 12 (4.4) GODD 44 (53.5) (58.9) (35.9) (12.3) 103 (5.5) 12 (4.4)
Male $1836(74.9)$ 219 1425 146 304 $27(6.6)$ $103(5.5)$ $12(4.4)$ GODD $41020(70.5)$ 58.9 (35.9) (12.3) $103(5.5)$ $12(4.4)$
Mail Mail <th< td=""></th<>
LCOPD LAbsent 14039(78.5) 1533 13228 1355 1662 160(6.2) 1220(5.3) 132(4.0
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Present 212 (94 2) 28 198 23 66 (29 3) 8 (22 9) 25 (11 7) A (12 5)
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
IHD Absent $3035(78.1)$ 502 3131 320 602 $53(5.7)$ $200(5.2)$ $26(A.1)$
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$
Hyper- Absent $2455(71.5)$ 285 1900 191 $540(9.8)$ $29(4.2)$ $151(5.5)$ $14(5.6)$ tension (41.2) (57.9) (37.0)
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
Diabetes Absent $3736(77.4)$ 421 2965 271 600 37(4.4) 196(5.1) 15(2.8
(49.7) (62) (32.3) (12.3)
Present 515 (95) 140 461 107 128 31 (20) 49 (9.3) 21
(90.3) (85.2) (69.5) (23.7) (13.8)
Cancer Absent 4143 (78.9) 544 3319 363 677 58 (5.9) 239 (5.7) 32 (4.8)
(55.5) (63.7) (37.3) (12.8)
Present $108 (93.9)$ 17 107 15 $51 (44.3)$ 10 $6 (5.5)$ $4 (21.1)$
(77.3) (94.7) (68.2) (45.5)
RegionCentral- $1206(78.7)$ 150 1075 98 196 $13(4.3)$ $67(5.4)$ $10(5)$
Hungary (49.3) (70.6) (32.2) (12.7)
Central- $482 (81.3)$ 87 374 64 $85 (14.3)$ 12 $21 (4.5)$ $1 (1.1)$
Transdanu- (79.1) (63.4) (58.2) (10.9)
bia
Northern- 667 (79.8) 84 519 65 115 7 (4.7) 52 (7.8) 13
Great-Plain (56.8) (62.6) (44.5) (13.7) (12.7)
Northern- 532 (79) 64 420 31 99 (14.6) 13 43 (7.7) 2 (2.6)
Hungary (53.3) (63.3) (27) (10.9)
Southern- 522 (79.1) 58 397 37 99 (14.9) 8 (6.1) 36 (6.6) 2 (2.1)
Great-Plain (43.6) (60.4) (27.8)
Southern- 397 (78.1) 50 300 34 69 (13.5) 8 (9.3) 19 (4.6) 4 (7.5)
Transdanu- (58.1) (59.8) (39.5)
bia
Western- 445 (78.8) 68 341 (61) 49 65 (11.5) 7 (6.9) 7 (1.6) 4 (5.6)
Transdanu- (67.3) (49)
bia in the second se
Educa- Primary 827 (80.8) 121 614 84 199 22 83 (9.5) 23
tional (73.3) (60.1) (51.5) (19.4) (13.3) (16.4)
attain- Vocational 1026 (79.5) 176 790 115 182 (14) 24 (7.8) 49 (4.7) 8 (3.7)
ment (57) (61.6) (37.3)

Table 20 continued

	High school	1456 (80.1)	200	1177	145	207	17 (4.3)	81 (5.6)	5 (2)
			(50.3)	(65.6)	(36.8)	(11.3)			
	Tertiary	942 (76.2)	64	845 (69)	34	140	5 (3.8)	32 (3.3)	(0)
			(49.2)		(26.4)	(11.2)			
Marital	Married	2472 (79.5)	295	2054	203	404	31 (5.8)	126 (5)	10 (2.7)
status			(55.1)	(66.6)	(38)	(12.9)			
	Single	727 (70.9)	72	533	42	87 (8.4)	9 (4.8)	44 (6.2)	4 (4)
			(38.5)	(52.5)	(23)				
	Divorced	345 (81.2)	76	293	49	71 (16.6)	9 (6.1)	25 (7.1)	9 (8.7)
			(51)	(69.3)	(33.3)				
	Widowed	621 (90.8)	116	475	82	150	19	44 (7)	13
			(92.1)	(69.5)	(65.6)	(21.9)	(15.1)		(10.9)
	Married	86 (69.9)	2 (40)	71 (60.7)	2 (40)	16 (12.6)	(0)	6 (6.2)	(0)
	missed								
Ethnicity	non-Roma	4167 (79.4)	529	3372	354	705	62 (6.6)	230 (5.4)	28 (4.3)
			(56.5)	(64.7)	(38.1)	(13.3)			
	Roma	76 (73.1)	32	47 (46.1)	24	20 (19.2)	6 (9.2)	14 (16.1)	8 (18.2)
			(49.2)		(37.5)				
	Roma	8 (61.5)	0 (0)	7 (58.3)	NC	3 (23.1)	NC	1 (16.7)	NC
	missed	. ,						. ,	
Total		4251 (79.2)	561	3426	378	728	68 (6.8)	245 (5.6)	36 (5.2)
			(56)	(64.4)	(38)	(13.5)			

Factors associated with health care utilization among vulnerable social strata

The higher level of educational attainment had more frequent utilization of specialist care, while with less for hospital admission and CRPNR. Roma people accessed GP and specialist care more frequently, and they had more often CRPNR than non-Roma counterparts. The occurrence of each outcome was more frequent among widowed, and less frequent (except for CRPNR) among single. Residence places of the subjects manifested the inequality for all outcome variables for different subgroups. The probability of CRPNR was significantly elevated among divorced and widowed.

Moreover, the uneven effect of the pandemic lockdown on health care use among most of the social strata was observed. During the pandemic lockdown, the utilization of GP and specialist was significantly higher among primary level educational attainment compared to highly educated patients. While the CRPNR was significantly lower for highly educated persons than primary educated counterparts. The pandemic lockdown modified the use of GP and specialist care use among widowed patients in the same direction [increased utilization]. On the other hand, this stratum showed an increased odds of facing the CRPNR during the pandemic period. Among the Roma, the less reduction in specialist care use [only 9.6%] was recorded compared to the non-Roma population (26.6%) attributed to the pandemic lockdown. (**Table 21**)

	Characteristics	Category	Pre-pandemic prevalence*	Pandemic prev- alence*	95% CI**
	Educational	Primary	827 (80.8)	121 (73.3)	reference
	attainment	Vocational	1026 (79.5)	176 (57.0)	0.768 (0.641-0.920)
		High school	1456 (80.1)	200 (50.3)	0.753 (0.635-0.893)
ar		Tertiary	942 (76.2)	64 (49.2)	0.710 (0.590-0.855)
ye	Marital status	Married	2472 (79.5)	295 (55.1)	reference
in a		Single	727 (70.9)	72 (38.5)	0.612 (0.532-0.705)
sit		Divorced	345 (81.2)	76 (51.0)	0.873 (0.715-1.066)
, v		Widowed	621 (90.8)	116 (92.1)	3.204 (2.489-4.122)
IJ		Missed	86 (69.9)	2 (40.0)	NC
	Ethnicity	non-Roma	4167 (79.4)	529 (56.5)	reference
		Roma	76 (73.1)	32 (49.2)	0.563 (0.409-0.774)
		Missed	8 (61.5)	0 (0.0)	NC
	Educational	Primary	614 (60.1)	84 (51.5)	reference
	attainment	Vocational	790 (61.6)	115 (37.3)	0.920 (0.790-1.071)
ar		High school	1177 (65.6)	145 (36.8)	1.062 (0.919-1.226)
ye		Tertiary	845 (69.0)	34 (26.4)	1.288 (1.097-1.513)
in a	Marital status	Married	2054 (66.6)	203 (38.0)	reference
ure i		Single	533 (52.5)	42 (23.0)	0.556 (0.487-0.634)
it ce		Divorced	293 (69.3)	49 (33.3)	0.905 (0.755-1.084)
alis		Widowed	475 (69.5)	82 (65.6)	1.338 (1.136-1.576)
ieci		Missed	71 (60.7)	2 (40.0)	NC
$\mathbf{S}\mathbf{p}$	Ethnicity	non-Roma	3372 (64.7)	354 (38.1)	reference
		Roma	47 (46.1)	24 (37.5)	0.484 (0.354-0.661)
		Missed	7 (58.3)	0 (0.0)	NC
	Educational	Primary	199 (19.4)	22 (13.3)	reference
ц	attainment	Vocational	182 (14)	24 (7.8)	0.646 (0.526-0.795)
yea		High school	207 (11.3)	17 (4.3)	0.489 (0.400-0.598)
n a		Tertiary	140 (11.2)	5 (3.8)	0.517 (0.412-0.647)
i nc	Marital status	Married	404 (12.9)	31 (5.8)	reference
ssic		Single	87 (8.4)	9 (4.8)	0.630 (0.500-0.794)
lmi		Divorced	71 (16.6)	9 (6.1)	1.197 (0.926-1.547)
ul ac		Widowed	150 (21.9)	19 (15.1)	1.953 (1.604-2.378)
pita		Missed	16 (12.6)	0 (0.0)	NC
los	Ethnicity	non-Roma	705 (13.3)	62 (6.6)	reference
Į		Roma	20 (19.2)	6 (9.2)	1.294 (0.846-1.979)
		Missed	3 (23.1)	0 (0.0)	NC
	Educational	Primary	83 (9.5)	23 (16.4)	reference
	attainment	Vocational	49 (4.7)	8 (3.7)	0.405 (0.290-0.565)
		High school	81 (5.6)	5 (2.0)	0.455 (0.338-0.612)
ear		Tertiary	32 (3.3)	(0.0)	0.266 (0.177-0.399)
a ye	Marital status	Married	126 (5.0)	10 (2.7)	reference
in		Single	44 (6.2)	4 (4.0)	1.287 (0.917-1.806)
NR		Divorced	25 (7.1)	9 (8.7)	1.636 (1.108-2.415)
RP		Widowed	44 (7.0)	13 (10.9)	1.676 (1.217-2.308)
Ũ		Missed	6 (6.2)	0 (0.0)	NC
	Ethnicity	non-Roma	230 (5.4)	28 (4.3)	reference
		Roma	14 (16.1)	8 (18.2)	3.624 (2.254-5.828)
		Missed	1 (16.7)	0 (0.0)	NC

Table 21 Dynamics and determinants of the health services utilization among vulnerable social groups before and during the COVID-19 pandemic in Hungary

* -Number of cases (and proportion as %) of a positive outcome ** -odds ratios with 95% confidence intervals from logistic regression models, NC-not computable

Sociodemographic and clinical factors associated with HCS utilization

Bivariate logistic analysis was computed to observe the relationship between pertinent social strata and outcome variables. At least one subgroup of the sociodemographic and clinical characteristics is associated with studied outcome variables. Aging, being female and having a chronic disease were highly related to GP visits, specialist access and hospitalization rate. However, age and sex did not show the same pattern for CRPNR except for chronic diseases. Particularly COPD, IHD and diabetes patients had more frequent episodes of CRPNR. Furthermore, for each predictor and the studied characteristics association varied by age, sex, residence and chronic illness status. (**Table 22a-d**)

Characteristics	Category	Pre-pandemic preva- lence*	Pandemic prevalence*	OR (95%CI)**
Age groups	18-34 years	766 (70.9)	54 (33.3)	reference
	35-64 years	2010 (75.3)	326 (52.3)	1.256 (1.093-1.444)
	65+ years	1475 (91.2)	181 (83.4)	4.761 (3.922-5.779)
Sex	Female	2415 (82.8)	342 (57.7)	reference
	Male	1836 (74.9)	219 (53.5)	0.695 (0.620-0.78)
COPD	No	4039 (78.5)	533 (55.1)	reference
	Yes	212 (94.2)	28 (80.0)	4.037 (2.549-6.393)
IHD	No	3935 (78.1)	502 (53.7)	reference
	Yes	316 (95.5)	59 (88.1)	5.641 (3.688-8.628)
Hypertension	No	2455 (71.3)	285 (41.2)	reference
	Yes	1796 (93.3)	276 (88.7)	6.428 (5.414-7.631)
Diabetes	No	3736 (77.4)	421 (49.7)	reference
	Yes	515 (95.0)	140 (90.3)	5.687 (4.140-7.812)
Cancer	No	4143 (78.9)	544 (55.5)	reference
	Yes	108 (93.9)	17 (77.3)	3.436 (1.895-6.230)
Region	Central-Hungary	1206 (78.7)	150 (49.3)	reference
	Central-Transdanubia	482 (81.3)	87 (79.1)	1.506 (1.215-1.868)
	Northern-Great-Plain	667 (79.8)	84 (56.8)	1.143 (0.955-1.369)
	Northern-Hungary	532 (79.0)	64 (53.3)	1.073 (0.886-1.300)
	Southern-Great-Plain	522 (79.1)	58 (43.6)	0.966 (0.800-1.166)
	Southern- Transdanubia	397 (78.1)	50 (58.1)	1.079 (0.871-1.335)
	Western- Transdanubia	445 (78.8)	68 (67.3)	1.189 (0.966-1.465)
Educational	Primary	827 (80.8)	121 (73.3)	reference
attainment	Vocational	1026 (79.5)	176 (57.0)	0.768 (0.641-0.920)
	High school	1456 (80.1)	200 (50.3)	0.753 (0.635-0.893)
	Tertiary	942 (76.2)	64 (49.2)	0.710 (0.590-0.855)
Marital status	Married	2472 (79.5)	295 (55.1)	reference
	Single	727 (70.9)	72 (38.5)	0.612 (0.532-0.705)
	Divorced	345 (81.2)	76 (51.0)	0.873 (0.715-1.066)
	Widowed	621 (90.8)	116 (92.1)	3.204 (2.489-4.122)
	Married missed	86 (69.9)	2 (40.0)	NC
Ethnicity	non-Roma	4167 (79.4)	529 (56.5)	reference
	Roma	76 (73.1)	32 (49.2)	0.563 (0.409-0.774)
	Roma missed	8 (61.5)	0 (0.0)	NC

Table 22a Sociodemographic and clinical stratum-specific GP visit frequency in a year observed in pre-pandemic and pandemic periods in Hungary.

* Number of cases (and proportion as %) of positive outcomes

** odds ratios with 95% confidence intervals from logistic regression models

NC- not computable

Characteristics	Category	Pre-pandemic preva- lence*	Pandemic preva- lence*	OR (95%CI)**
Age groups	18-34 years	585 (55.2)	35 (22.2)	reference
	35-64 years	1664 (62.7)	208 (33.5)	1.288 (1.128-1.469)
	65+ years	1177 (73.0)	135 (62.5)	2.448 (2.104-2.849)
Sex	Female	2001 (69.0)	232 (39.5)	reference
	Male	1425 (58.9)	146 (35.9)	0.703 (0.635-0.778)
COPD	No	3228 (63.3)	355 (37.0)	reference
	Yes	198 (88.4)	23 (65.7)	4.017 (2.837-5.689)
IHD	No	3131 (62.7)	329 (35.5)	reference
	Yes	295 (89.1)	49 (73.1)	4.527 (3.383-6.060)
Hypertension	No	1966 (57.8)	191 (27.9)	reference
	Yes	1460 (76.0)	187 (60.5)	2.533 (2.263-2.836)
Diabetes	No	2965 (62.0)	271 (32.3)	reference
	Yes	461 (85.2)	107 (69.5)	3.298 (2.701-4.026)
Cancer	No	3319 (63.7)	363 (37.3)	reference
	Yes	107 (94.7)	15 (68.2)	6.372 (3.589-11.313)
Region	Central-Hungary	1075 (70.6)	98 (32.2)	reference
	Central-Transdanubia	374 (63.4)	64 (58.2)	0.932 (0.778-1.116)
	Northern-Great-Plain	519 (62.6)	65 (44.5)	0.833 (0.710-0.977)
	Northern-Hungary	420 (63.3)	31 (27.0)	0.769 (0.648-0.913)
	Southern-Great-Plain	397 (60.4)	37 (27.8)	0.680 (0.574-0.805)
	Southern-Transdanubia	300 (59.8)	34 (39.5)	0.733 (0.607-0.886)
	Western-Transdanubia	341 (61.0)	49 (49.0)	0.808 (0.674-0.970)
Educational	Primary	614 (60.1)	84 (51.5)	reference
attainment	Vocational	790 (61.6)	115 (37.3)	0.920 (0.790-1.071)
	High school	1177 (65.6)	145 (36.8)	1.062 (0.919-1.226)
	Tertiary	845 (69.0)	34 (26.4)	1.288 (1.097-1.513)
Marital status	Married	2054 (66.6)	203 (38.0)	reference
	Single	533 (52.5)	42 (23.0)	0.556 (0.487-0.634)
	Divorced	293 (69.3)	49 (33.3)	0.905 (0.755-1.084)
	Widowed	475 (69.5)	82 (65.6)	1.338 (1.136-1.576)
	Married missed	71 (60.7)	2 (40.0)	NC
Ethnicity	non-Roma	3372 (64.7)	354 (38.1)	reference
	Roma	47 (46.1)	24 (37.5)	0.484 (0.354-0.661)
	Roma missed	7 (58.3)	0 (0.0)	NC

Table 22b Sociodemographic and clinical stratum-specific specialist visit frequency in a year observed in pre-pandemic and pandemic periods

* Number of cases (and proportion as %) of positive outcomes ** odds ratios with 95% confidence intervals from logistic regression models NC- not computable

 Table 22c Sociodemographic and clinical stratum-specific hospital admission frequency in a year observed in pre-pandemic and pandemic periods

Characteristics	Category	Pre-pandemic preva- lence*	Pandemic preva- lence*	OR (95%CI)**
Age groups	18-34 years	84 (7.7)	10 (6.2)	reference
	35-64 years	296 (11.0)	24 (3.9)	1.321 (1.039-1.679)
	65+ years	348 (21.4)	34 (15.7)	3.234 (2.548-4.105)
Sex	Female	424 (14.4)	41 (6.9)	reference
	Male	304 (12.3)	27 (6.6)	0.854 (0.735-0.993)
COPD	No	662 (12.8)	60 (6.2)	reference
	Yes	66 (29.3)	8 (22.9)	2.990 (2.259-3.957)
IHD	No	602 (11.9)	53 (5.7)	reference
	Yes	126 (38.1)	15 (22.4)	4.485 (3.597-5.594)
Hypertension	No	340 (9.8)	29 (4.2)	reference
	Yes	388 (20.1)	39 (12.5)	2.429 (2.090-2.822)
Diabetes	No	600 (12.3)	37 (4.4)	reference
	Yes	128 (23.7)	31 (20.0)	2.359 (1.941-2.867)
Cancer	No	677 (12.8)	58 (5.9)	reference

Table 22c Continued

	Yes	51 (44.3)	10 (45.5)	6.045 (4.279-8.541)
Region	Central-Hungary	196 (12.7)	13 (4.3)	reference
	Central-Transdanubia	85 (14.3)	12 (10.9)	1.255 (0.969-1.625)
	Northern-Great-Plain	115 (13.7)	7 (4.7)	1.108 (0.873-1.406)
	Northern-Hungary	99 (14.6)	13 (10.9)	1.286 (1.005-1.645)
	Southern-Great-Plain	99 (14.9)	8 (6.1)	1.218 (0.949-1.563)
	Southern-Transdanubia	69 (13.5)	8 (9.3)	1.160 (0.878-1.534)
	Western-Transdanubia	65 (11.5)	7 (6.9)	0.950 (0.715-1.262)
Educational	Primary	199 (19.4)	22 (13.3)	reference
attainment	Vocational	182 (14)	24 (7.8)	0.646 (0.526-0.795)
	High school	207 (11.3)	17 (4.3)	0.489 (0.400-0.598)
	Tertiary	140 (11.2)	5 (3.8)	0.517 (0.412-0.647)
Marital status	Married	404 (12.9)	31 (5.8)	reference
	Single	87 (8.4)	9 (4.8)	0.630 (0.500-0.794)
	Divorced	71 (16.6)	9 (6.1)	1.197 (0.926-1.547)
	Widowed	150 (21.9)	19 (15.1)	1.953 (1.604-2.378)
	Married missed	16 (12.6)	0 (0.0)	NC
Ethnicity	non-Roma	705 (13.3)	62 (6.6)	reference
	Roma	20 (19.2)	6 (9.2)	1.294 (0.846-1.979)
	Roma missed	3 (23.1)	0 (0.0)	NC

* Number of cases (and proportion as %) of positive outcomes ** odds ratios with 95% confidence intervals from logistic regression models NC- not computable

Table 22d Sociodemographic	and clinical	l stratum-specifi	CRPNR	frequency	in a ye	ar observed	in pre-po	andemic a	nd pan-
demic periods									

Characteristics	Category	Pre-pandemic preva-	Pandemic preva-	OR (95%CI)**
		lence*	lence*	
Age groups	18-34 years	49 (6.6)	3 (3.4)	reference
	35-64 years	105 (5.0)	15 (3.8)	0.760 (0.544-1.063)
	65+ years	91 (6.1)	18 (8.6)	1.023 (0.727-1.438)
Sex	Female	142 (5.8)	24 (5.7)	reference
	Male	103 (5.5)	12 (4.4)	0.918 (0.719-1.172)
COPD	No	220 (5.3)	32 (4.9)	reference
	Yes	25 (11.7)	4 (12.5)	2.402 (1.598-3.612)
IHD	No	209 (5.2)	26 (4.1)	reference
	Yes	36 (11.0)	10 (15.9)	2.505 (1.793-3.501)
Hypertension	No	131 (5.3)	14 (3.6)	reference
	Yes	114 (6.1)	22 (7.2)	1.260 (0.99-1.603)
Diabetes	No	196 (5.1)	15 (2.8)	reference
	Yes	49 (9.3)	21 (13.8)	2.258 (1.701-2.998)
Cancer	No	239 (5.7)	32 (4.8)	reference
	Yes	6 (5.5)	4 (21.1)	1.448 (0.750-2.792)
Region	Central-Hungary	67 (5.4)	10 (5.0)	reference
	Central-Transdanubia	21 (4.5)	1 (1.1)	0.734 (0.452-1.192)
	Northern-Great-Plain	52 (7.8)	13 (12.7)	1.639 (1.164-2.309)
	Northern-Hungary	43 (7.7)	2 (2.6)	1.347 (0.921-1.97)
	Southern-Great-Plain	36 (6.6)	2 (2.1)	1.117 (0.749-1.667)
	Southern-Transdanubia	19 (4.6)	4 (7.5)	0.922 (0.572-1.486)
	Western-Transdanubia	7 (1.6)	4 (5.6)	0.387 (0.204-0.735)
Educational	Primary	83 (9.5)	23 (16.4)	reference
attainment	Vocational	49 (4.7)	8 (3.7)	0.405 (0.290-0.565)
	High school	81 (5.6)	5 (2.0)	0.455 (0.338-0.612)
	Tertiary	32 (3.3)	(0.0)	0.266 (0.177-0.399)
Marital status	Married	126 (5.0)	10 (2.7)	reference
	Single	44 (6.2)	4 (4.0)	1.287 (0.917-1.806)
	Divorced	25 (7.1)	9 (8.7)	1.636 (1.108-2.415)
	Widowed	44 (7.0)	13 (10.9)	1.676 (1.217-2.308)

Table 22d Continued

	Married missed	6 (6.2)	0 (0.0)	NC
Ethinicity	non-Roma	230 (5.4)	28 (4.3)	reference
	Roma	14 (16.1)	8 (18.2)	3.624 (2.254-5.828)
	Roma missed	1 (16.7)	0 (0.0)	NC

* Number of cases (and proportion as %) of positive outcomes

** odds ratios with 95% confidence intervals from logistic regression models NC- not computable

Determinants of healthcare utilization and subgroup-specific role of COVID-19 pandemic

After controlling for the potential confounders and social strata, with time to the pandemic the remarkable exhaustive reductions were observed for the probability of specialist care and hospital admission during the pandemic period. But the decline in GP visit frequency was less strong and proved to be borderline significant in the multivariable model. Also, the CRPNR did not show a significant change during the pandemic period.

The association between the studied outcome variables and age, sex, residential place, and prevalence of chronic disease described by bivariate analyses have been confirmed by multivariable analysis with varying degrees of association. The remarkable social stratum for HCU was Roma for CRPNR. The CRPNR was more frequent among Roma (aOR=2.018, 95% CI: 1.061-3.838). But the association was insignificant with GP visits, specialist care, and hospital admission for this ethnicity. However, marital status did not show a significant relationship with the three studied outcomes (GP visit, hospital admission and CRPNR). But it showed significant association with the specialist care, which was less likely among single (aOR=0.753, 95%CI: 0.636-0.891) and widowed (aOR=0.740, 95%CI: 0.597-0.918) compared to the married group. The role of achieving a higher educational attainment as a determinant of more frequent use of GP and specialist care after controlling the sociodemographic and clinical status of survey participants. Conversely, the subgroup had fewer odds of hospital admission and CRPNR was confirmed by the final model.

Under the pandemic interaction model, a multivariable model proved that uneven distribution of pandemic effect by social status. The decline in hospital admission attributed to the pandemic was evenly distributed for all of the social strata [educational attainment, ethnicity and marital] subgroups. The pandemic effect was appeared to be significantly lower among midlevel educated for GP (iORhigh school/primary=0.434, 95%CI: 0.243-0.776) and specialist care (iORhigh school/primary=0.598, 95%CI: 0.364-0.985, iORtertiary/primary=0.331, 95%CI: 0.179-0.611). Also, this subgroup had a less likelihood of CRPNR than primary educational attainment subjects (iORhigh school/primary=0.236, 95%CI: 0.075-0.743).

Regarding the marital stratum, the pandemic significantly provoked the likelihood of both GP visits (iOR=2.284, 95% CI: 1.043-4.998) and specialist care (iOR=1.915, 95% CI: 1.157-3.168) with among widowed compared to married subgroup. The specific pandemic effect on HCU among the Roma was not confirmed in the multivariable approach. Thus, the pandemic has no sole effect on the ethnicity in terms of Roma and non-Roma counterparts. (**Table 23**)

Table 23 Determinants of the outcome variable pre-pandemic and pandemic by multivariable logistic regression model controlled for the interaction between periods and the studied sociodemographic characteristics in Hungary.

Explanatory variables		Catagory	CD visit in a	Spacialist core	Hospital admis	CDDND in a
		Calegory	OF VISIT III a	in a year	sion in a year	Vear
Age groups in	18-34		Reference	in a year	sion in a year	ycar
vear	35-64		0.954 [0.802-	0.964 [0.819-	0.969.[0.730-	0 789 [0 521-
5	35-04		1 1341	1 136]	1 2851	1 1951
	65+		1.700 [1.318-	1 112 [0 898-	1.500 [1.089-	0 749 [0 457-
	0.51		2.193]	1.376]	2.0681	1.2271
Sex	Female		0.651 [0.570-	0.662 [0.589-	0.891 [0.751-	0.978 [0.744-
			0.744]	0.744]	1.058]	1.285]
	Male		Reference			
COPD	Absent					
	Present		2.703 [1.630-	2.959 [2.04-	1.979 [1.454-	2.104 [1.365-
			4.483]	4.292]	2.693]	3.244]
IHD	Absent					
	Present		1.892 [1.204-	3.016 [2.211-	2.755 [2.153-	1.790 [1.226-
			2.973]	4.115]	3.525]	2.614]
Hypertension	Absent					
	Present		4.039 [3.333-	1.830 [1.595-	1.366 [1.135-	0.888 [0.658-
			4.895]	2.101]	1.643]	1.198]
Diabetes	Absent					
	Present		2.841 [2.017-	2.546 [2.038-	1.566 [1.256-	2.104 [1.528-
			4.002]	3.182]	1.952]	2.899]
Cancer	Absent					
	Present		1.746 [0.932-	4.688 [2.591-	4.686 [3.24-	1.317 [0.662-
			3.271]	8.483]	6.776]	2.619]
Region	Central Hung	gary	Reference			
	Central Tran	sdanubia	1.547 [1.218-	0.986 [0.809-	1.034 [0.766-	0.631 [0.384-
			1.964]	1.202]	1.395]	1.036]
	Northern Gre	eat Plain	1.177 [0.961-	0.865 [0.725-	1.280 [0.910-	1.301 [0.906-
			1.441]	1.033]	1.801]	1.87]
	Northern Hu	ngary	1.046 [0.839-	0.754 [0.622-	1.060 [0.765-	1.012 [0.676-
			1.304]	0.914]	1.470]	1.515]
	Southern Gre	eat Plain	1.01/[0.821-	0.735 [0.609-	1.22/ [0.8/8-	0.921 [0.600-
	South am Tro	madanuhia	1.20	0.007]	1./14]	1.415]
	Soutieni ma	uisuanuota	1.105 [0.808-	0.752 [0.011-	1.550 [0.970-	0.711 [0.430-
	Western Tra	nsdanuhia	1 250 [0 993-	0.860 [0.704-	1 178 [0 823-	0 352 [0 184-
	western mai	lisualiuola	1 575]	1 051	1.170 [0.025-	0.673]
Educational	Primary		Reference	1.00]	1.000]	
attainment	Vocational		1.273 [1.008-	1.226 [1.014-	0 852 [0 666-	0.546 [0.369-
	vocutional		1.606]	1.481]	1.0891	0.810]
	High School		1.488 [1.194-	1.580 [1.319-	0.733 [0.578-	0.622 [0.436-
	8		1.854]	1.893]	0.929]	0.888]
	Tertiary		1.258 [0.996-	1.797 [1.473-	0.766 [0.587-	0.346 [0.218-
			1.59]	2.193]	0.999]	0.549]
Marital status	Married		Reference			
	Single		0.990 [0.821-	0.753 [0.636-	0.863 [0.652-	1.217 [0.805-
			1.192]	0.891]	1.143]	1.838]

Table 23 Continued

	Divorced	0.918 [0.697-	0.962 [0.763-	1.210 [0.905-	1.499 [0.947-
		1.210]	1.214]	1.618]	2.373]
	Widowed	1.113 [0.814-	0.740 [0.597-	1.030 [0.800-	1.091 [0.718-
		1.522]	0.918]	1.325]	1.657]
Ethnicity	non-Roma	Reference			
	Roma	1.054 [0.647-	0.687 [0.444-	1.598 [0.924-	2.018 [1.061-
		1.718]	1.063]	2.763]	3.838]
Year	Pre-pandemic	Reference			
	Pandemic	0.595 [0.342-	0.459 [0.287-	0.480 [0.236-	0.939 [0.371-
		1.035]	0.733]	0.975]	2.376]
Educational	Primary	0.586 [0.325-	0.707 [0.426-	1.022 [0.485-	0.474 [0.173-
attainment by		1.057]	1.172]	2.154]	1.301]
pandemic	Vocational				
	High school	0.434 [0.243-	0.598 [0.364-	0.728 [0.328-	0.236 [0.075-
		0.776]	0.985]	1.614]	0.743]
	Tertiary	0.536 [0.277-	0.331 [0.179-	0.763 [0.253-	NC
		1.035]	0.611]	2.302]	
Marital status by pandemic	Married	Reference			
	Single	0.743 [0.497-	0.836 [0.543-	1.284 [0.556-	1.092 [0.300-
		1.11]	1.289]	2.962]	3.968]
	Divorced	0.831 [0.51-	0.850 [0.529-	0.822 [0.352-	2.784 [0.930-
		1.353]	1.367]	1.918]	8.331]
	Widowed	2.284 [1.043-	1.915 [1.157-	1.073 [0.52-	2.009 [0.716-
		4.998]	3.168]	2.215]	5.642]
Ethnicity by pandemic	non-Roma	Reference			
	Roma	0.480 [0.207-	1.130 [0.511-	0.533 [0.168-	0.827 [0.251-
		1.112]	2.497]	1.687]	2.725]

Bolded=Odds ratio, 95% Confidence Interval for Outcome variables

5. Discussion

Comparison of the main findings with the international context

Prevalence of Redemption of prescriptions among Roma people living in CAs and SRCs

This study assessed the crude redemption ratio (CRR) of national, SRC, and complementary areas. The CRR was 66.80%, 73.13%, and 71.15% for national, SRC, and complementary areas, respectively. Then age-sex standardized redemption ratio was calculated for SRC and complementary areas using WHO guidelines for classification of prescriptions (289).

The magnitude of crude PNR in this study for both SRC (26.86%), CA (28.85%) and national (33.2%) was higher than other EU members. Portugal (22.8%) (140), Sweden (2.5%) (226), Poland (20.8%) (227), Spain (17.6%) (228), Denmark (9.3%) (145), USA (11.5%), and Argentina (4-12%) (292), (293). But lower than other studies from the USA (39.3%) (294), Netherlands (51.5%) (229), and New Zealand 50% (63). The reason for the increment might be the fact that CEE countries have lower socioeconomic status compared to western parts (271,295,296).

Minority and settlement effect on prescription redemption.

Our current finding is a breakthrough that the Roma community living in the SRC both crude and age-sex specific standardized redemptions were higher than CAs. More than 73% and 71% of prescriptions were redeemed in the SRC and the CA, respectively, p<0.001. Other findings from Hungary and international settings have dissimilar conclusions for minorities and deprivations versus HCS uptake. For instance, studies from Hungary and Slovakia concerning health and segregated Roma revealed that age-sex specific HCU and all-cause of premature mortality rate were higher in SRC than in CA (53,58,285). Our finding also negates other findings from New Zealand that Maori and the USA black elderly minorities had a lower likelihood of achieving the prescribed medications (44,63). Similarly, other studies from Israel, New Zealand and Sweden uncovered that being socioeconomically disadvantaged and deprived has a higher likelihood of nonredemption of prescriptions (42,149,297). Also, Kapur and Basu revealed that being a rural inhabitant predisposes patients not to redeem medications accordingly (30). In Israel even though patients have universal health insurance coverage, those with low socioeconomic status have a high nonredemption rate (297). In Canada Ontario senior or indigenous population has higher indirectly need-standardized specific dispense of prescription than counterparts (298). Yet again, in the USA the relative rate of prescription redemption among type 2 diabetic patients was significantly low in Latino patients than whites with RR=1.23 [95% CI, 1.19-1.27] to 1.30 [95% CI, 1.23-1.39] (294).

Age and sex correlation with prescription redemption

Females redeemed more prescriptions than males in all settings. The national, SRC, and CAs with 67.07 vs 66.41%, 73.88 vs 71.90%, and 71.3% vs 70.8%, respectively. From 0-17, 45-64, and 64 years and above relatively redeemed 69.78%, 79.67%, and 72.36% for the national, SRC, and complementary areas, respectively. Younger age categories have a lower extent of redemption than middle-aged and elderly-aged classes in all settings. Convincingly, the younger age has a lesser ratio of redemption in both settlements (SRC and CAs). This has similar discoveries from other findings conducted by several researchers across the globe (299–305). The plausible reason for this might be a lack of awareness among youths on the benefits of filling the prescribed medications for better health. In addition, socioeconomic reliance on family or any proxy ones might expose early young patients not to fully adhere to the prescribed medications and supplies.

Regarding gender versus prescription redemption, most studies claimed that women fill better than men (113,306–309). In the UK, females redeemed much more than males (113). Also, a

finding from South Korea uncovered women were better at filling the prescribed medications than men (310). Conversely, in Denmark females have high nonredemption rate than males (145). This inconsistency might be related to the epidemiological trend of ill-health related issues variation across the nations.

Empowering and promoting the health of Roma living in the SRCs

Empowering through provision and delivery of basic health care facilities and promoting health is one of the preventive care strategies to ensure the better utilization of HCS (311–314). This reflection or strategy better works from a prescription redemption point of view among Roma living in the SRCs. If these conditions meet and implemented, they could achieve better HCS package use beyond the prescription redemption at the individual, family and community level as well.

Magnitude of HCS before and COVID-19 pandemic lockdown

GP and specialist visits

There were significant reductions were seen for GP visits, and specialist care by 23.2%, 26.4%, respectively, due to the pandemic lockdown effect. But the CRPNR did not result in significant change. These findings were in line with the others from Europe and elsewhere. For instance, in EU member states, Taiwan, Asian countries and the USA significant decreases in GP and visits, specialists were recorded during the pandemic compared to the prepandemic period (75,77,315,78,79,88,109,159,194,196,220). The Hungarian figures of GP and specialist visits are in between among EU and others parts of the globe. These could be taken as a positive response from subjects to the pandemic lockdown regulations that only serious medical illnesses were allowed to attend healthcare institutions and this was supported by other findings (219,223)

Hospital admission

Similarly, the hospital admission rate was declined by 6.7%. But it was quite lower than Germany [39%] (75), and Croatia [21%] (231) while relatively equal with Finland [7%] (316) in Europe and others like Ethiopia [28%] (205), and China [33%] (78). This might be due to the lockdown regulation which promotes only severe medical cases and COVID-19 complicated cases in Hungary. Additionally, the reduction could be due to people's fear to visit the hospitals, imposed restrictions by the government, hospital capacity to accommodate patients and priority given for COVID-19 and intensive care unit (ICU) patients. However, there was no significant pandemic impact was seen for the hospital admission for social strata.

CRPNR

Our study revealed the CRPNR was 5.6% and 5.2% (only 0.4% observed difference) prepandemic and pandemic, respectively. However, other studies from the USA (317), and Australia (318) showed a 27.1% and 36% reduction in the overall redemption of the prescriptions, respectively, before and during the pandemic. However, the sole and collaborative effect of the pandemic alongside other predictor characteristics particularly on CRPNR have not been evaluated. The lack of significant difference between the two periods might be due to the availability of home delivery of pharmaceuticals in most EU countries (230).

The interaction role of COVID-19 pandemic along with social strata on HCS uptake

The COVID-19 pandemic lockdown significantly changed/interacted or modified the dynamics of HCU for GP visits, special care and CRPNR among the susceptible social strata.

Pandemic impact, Educational attainment and HCS uptake

Our finding also revealed that subjects with primary educational attainment had a higher hospitalization frequency. This trend was not changed during the pandemic lockdown. The probable reason could be their poor health status. Conversely, an increased frequency of specialist care among highly educated subjects during the prepandemic period might not indicate their poor health condition and needs. Possibly, this imbalance is might be due to variation in the educational attainment difference that existed before the pandemic. Again, inability and intention to use the available health services (193). Then again, this might be due to the higher magnitude of cosmetic or life-prolonging, and/or other elective services in the medical intervention pattern among better more educated stratum. This gap has significantly been declined during the pandemic period. It suggests that the elective interventions were mainly postponed in the time.

These Hungarian findings are not agreeing with the other study from the large survey of the EU and Netherlands (195,196) that established an indirect relationship between educational attainment and HCU [lower educated subjects had higher odds of avoiding HCU] during the pandemic But they were in line with other findings from another big survey in European countries during the pandemic lockdown (222). Moreover, this dissertation revealed the inverse association between CRPNR and the educational attainment that was attributed to the pandemic period. As the result, the difference has been increased among the less educated subgroups. This is the finding that resulted in widened HCU gap due to the pandemic.

Pandemic impact, Roma Ethnicity and HCS uptake

The Roma ethnicity did not show a significant relationship with GP visits and the frequency has been resisted for the pandemic period. But, the specialist care use was found to be less frequent while the hospital admission was more frequent than non-Roma counterparts with a marginal significance. This suggests that Roma had a poor health condition and lesser advanced HCU compared to the non-Roma population. In both periods the Roma were more frequently faced CRPNR compared to their counterparts. This suggests that they have a higher underprivileged situation or settings in the country. But the pandemic lockdown has no significant role in modifying the CRPNR among the subgroup.

In Hungary (53) and other countries, less use of advanced HCS and an increased hospitalization rate among the Roma has widely been investigated (53,54,319–323). Similarly, the relationship between ethnicity/race and CRPNR was widely mentioned in the previous studies from the USA and New Zealand in the prepandemic period. Due to bearable sociodemographic and clinical inequalities, black Americans and Hispanics in the USA (12,141,169,170,175– 180), Maori and Pacific populations in New Zealand (63,149,150), and Filipinos and indigenous Hawaiians in Japan (174) were significantly exposed to CRPNR. Despite the pandemic did not bring a significant influence on the CRPNR among Roma, other studies from the USA, UK and other countries established that ethnic minorities were more affected by the pandemic than native people (55,183–185,187,324,325). In addition, more other factors have been contributed to CRPNR before the pandemic (18,56,330,123,130,140,309,326-329). Thus, according to the earlier findings and inferences on the ethnicity or racial minorities during the COVID-19 pandemic (235,324), an appropriate follow-up and support are needed to curb the vulnerability to HCU in terms of CRPNR among the Roma (55,331,332). Nonetheless, our investigation could not demonstrate the pandemic impact on ethnic inequalities in Hungary.

Pandemic impact, Marital status and HCS uptake

Our study discovered that the frequency of GP and specialist visits were highest among widowed stratum. These figures kept resistant compared to the married counterparts attributed to the pandemic. According to the previous findings from European states, Netherlands, Japan, India and USA, this suggests that the lack of close or proxy care given by the partner could increase their susceptibility for physical, social and mental health. This usually pushes them for increased utilization of HCSs (188–190,333–335). After controlling for other potential sociodemographic and clinical factors, the widowed showed less likelihood of getting advanced care from specialists. This indicated that their healthcare demands were not addressed during the pandemic accordingly.

Among widowed stratum, there was no significant general reduction for GP and specialist cares during the pandemic. The GP visit was an exceptional increase from 90.8% to 92.1% while other marital subgroups showed significant declines. Despite there has been a reduction in specialist care [only 3.9% among widowed] and other subgroups showed remarkable declines for more than 28% and above. Thus, pandemic effect modification/interaction analysis revealed that widows were found to play a protective role against the GP and specialist care restriction. That signals the special healthcare needs of widowed were better addressed during the pandemic resulting in the narrowing of the marital status inequality. This was an outstanding and updated finding that the pandemic lockdown modified the effect in the same direction among the widowed subgroups.

Nonetheless, there was no marital status inequality in terms of hospital admission and CRPNR and were not changed during the pandemic in Hungary as well.

Age and HCS uptake

This study revealed that the uptake of GP visits, specialist care, hospital admission and CRPNR were significantly higher among older patients in both periods. It has a similar inference with previous findings that aging has been a risk factor for poor health due to weakened immunity (191,194,224,336).

Sex and HCS uptake

In our study, males had less likelihood of vising GP and specialists after controlling for other variables in both periods in Hungary. This is in line with other studies suggesting that women or females had a higher prevalence of morbidity and lower self-reported general health status. These push them to visit healthcare professionals more than males (94,191,337–339). Still, females had a higher frequency of hospital admission and CRPNR in both periods. This deviates from EU and Netherlands findings that males were more likely to use HCS than females during the pandemic (195,196). Our finding disproved the previous discoveries and debates that females had more familial burden which resulted in less utilization and more adherence to the first wave of pandemic lockdown regulations in Hungary and elsewhere (340,341).

Chronic diseases versus HCS uptake

In our study, those who had chronic diseases were highly utilized the services in both periods. Mainly COPD, diabetes and IHD patients were significantly increased during the pandemic lockdown for hospital admission and CRPNR than others. Similarly, the lockdown put a significant role on specialist visits and hospital admission frequency among cancer patients. This finding has a similar trend with findings from Italy and other countries that the pre-existing immunosuppression and related pathophysiology of these chronic diseases highly exposed patients for further PHC visits and high admission rates in the hospitals (202,206,207,342)

Residence versus HCS uptake

The residential place of the subjects was found to be the determinant of each HCU under the subgroups. Despite the decline in GP and specialist visits during the pandemic, patients from Transdanubia (Central And Western) regions had better uses of these services during the pandemic. On the other hand, Northern Hungary and Northern Great plain had a higher negative difference in GP and specialist visits during the pandemic. Similarly, the decline in the hospital admission rate was quite narrow for Central-Transdanubia and Northern Hungary during the lockdown compared to Central Hungary. This suggests that to variation in the affluence, health status and deprivation of the regions (238,241).

Asset-based approach (Targeted Support, monitoring, and care for vulnerable groups)

As the pandemic caused a lot of health crises across the globe, its decisive influence and severity worsened among some strata of society. Hungary is also under the domain of this crisis in terms of the uptake of basic HCSs. Thus, integrated and targeted support [professional, community, family and others] for the inadequate reaction, could have been mitigated by the targeted intervention (and should be mitigated in the next phase of the epidemic). Alternatively, it is very vital to further assess the protective role of widowed over PHC service uptake influence by the pandemics.

The role of segregated settlement on HCS utilization and vulnerability

Our study firmly confirmed that the SRC had a significant effect on the redemption of prescriptions after adjusting for age and sex among the Roma. The changes attributed were mainly due to the alimentary tract [ATC-A] and cardiovascular [ATC-C] drug classes. This suggests that the magnitude of these illnesses is more prevalent among Roma.

The role of COVID-19 pandemic on HCS utilization and vulnerability

This study explicitly demonstrated that the preexisting social inequalities among a few susceptible social strata resulted in a decline in the uptake of the HCS during the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown. Thus, it shows the dynamics (decreasing specific HCU) were adequate reactions among the social strata. From this regard, the pandemic exceptionally affected patients with lower academic status increasing the odds of the CRPNR. According to previously published findings, several factors determine CRPNR. To list a few of these, age, educational attainment, ethnicity, marital status. sex. and residence were mentioned (18,56,330,123,130,140,309,326-329). Patients with primary educational attainment and Roma origin had a higher likelihood of the CRPNR during the lockdown. Furthermore, widows had a higher likelihood of using GP and advanced specialist care during the pandemic. This emanated from the severity of health status and priority given for those medical cases during the lockdown pushed them to utilize more than the prepandemic period.

Practical implications

Firstly, the excess prescription redemption among SRCs was a breakthrough finding among the vulnerable, unethically and usually blamed Roma population (61,343). This reflected the improvement in the uptake of basic health services among the Roma population. It revealed that if the culturally adapted interventions are targeted, Roma can better utilize other pillars of HCS. Thus, our study revealed that keeping their preference or analyzing the situation on the ground would better promote their uptakes.

Secondly, the COVID-19 pandemic spectacularly caused a negative magnitude on the HCU among different social strata in Hungary. Except for a hospital admission rate, other HCU were unevenly affected across social strata during the pandemic lockdown. Most of the declined HCSs during the pandemic lockdown were emanated from the preexisting (before the pandemic) social inequality and inequity among the substrata. For this reason, the declines could be considered as adequate reactions from the subjects. During the pandemic, less uptake of the GP and specialist care among the highly educated subgroup suggested that severe medical conditions are less prevalent as the pandemic restrictions allow only those patients with serious medical scenarios (51,219,344,345). This assumption has also been supported by our descriptive findings that this subgroup had a lower frequency of hospital admission during both periods compared to others. While increased GP and advanced care uptake among the widowed subgroup indicated their severe health status in either period (188,189,346,347). On the contrary, the pandemic caused inequality and negatively influenced the CRPNR among less-educated patients. This is a profound COVID-19 pandemic social gap that declined HCU among the educational attainment. This could be mitigated by the state to enable affordability of prescription among the stratum in the next epidemic waves.

On the other hand, Roma vs non-Roma subgroup had a higher magnitude of hospital admission in both periods [19.2 vs 13.3% and 9.2 vs 6.6 % pre-pandemic and pandemic], respectively. That meant they had poor or severe medical conditions during the pandemic. It is also important to note that the Roma had a higher CRPNR than the non-Roma population regardless of the pandemic [with a slight increase in the frequency during the pandemic and problem was almost quadruple among Roma in both periods]. Reasonably, a higher COVID-19 related mortality among the densely populated Roma residences during the lockdown could be due to less redemption (235). This signals that the affordability of drugs and medical supplies is a matter of Roma and it needs prompt attention to overcome the identified problem among the Roma. In general, ABA intervention models can better reduce social inequalities among a vulnerable population in terms of HCU in Hungary.

Strengths and limitations of the study

Firstly, the data from NHIFM includes all data about the prescriptions vs redemption of the country. Thus, the possibility of selection bias is very low. The imbalance of SRCs and CA sample size was compensated by the indirect standardization which was resulted in a good inference.

Regarding the COVID-19 pandemic effect study, a huge database was created from two datasets with a large sample size for both periods. The same structure, flow and questionnaires were included from two separate datasets. Particularly, the pre-pandemic dataset has a quite big sample which increases the statistical power of making the inference for the population under the study. Also, the effect of prescribed medication price has been included in the second study despite the population and study period differ.

Nonetheless, our study has some limitations. In the PNR in SRCs and CAs study, although we had recruited a large sample, this does not show the national Roma number. Thus, it was not a comparative study interpretation for the total Roma versus non-Roma population in Hungary. On one hand, 6% of people living in SRC are non-Roma (348). Then again, 75% of the Roma are living in the CA in Hungary (349). Therefore, this analysis could underestimate the actual Roma-to-non-Roma variations.

The price of the drugs and medical supplies has been one of the important predictors for achieving redemption. But it has not been investigated in our initial study.

Hungary is one of the better countries in Europe in terms of HCS availability. Besides, it was discovered that GP visiting by Roma people living in SRC was better than the general popula-

tion (53). It indicates unlikely that limited access to primary healthcare could in some way affect the habit of prescriptions redemption.

Under the pre-pandemic and pandemic investigation, due to the time interval between the data collection period, the recall bias is likely. On the other hand, social desirability bias can affect the statistical results. Also, CRPNR has a hugely limited number of the similar topic during the pandemics and further comparison was difficult. Thus, it needs further explicit investigation.

In addition, the variables used in the dissertation for characterization of HCU dynamics and socioeconomic inequalities due to the pandemic effect covered by the basic surveys (EHIS2019 and ISSP2021) only investigated the social subgroups we could evaluate. But it has been quite understandable that more sociodemographic, clinical, economical and other relevant characteristics of participants would be required to make sensible and deep inferences about the target population.

The sample size differs for two periods. A multivariable logistic regression model was used to control such a bias, but it could not compensate for the selection bias caused by different representations of the Hungarian adult society in the two surveys.

6. Conclusion and Recommendations

This dissertation uncovered that the prescription redemption was better in SRCs than CAs after adjusting for age and sex. The chronic illness medications were highly prescribed and significantly redeemed among SRCs than CAs. There was about 3% excess redemption among SRC than CAs.

Next, the COVID-19 pandemic dramatically reduced access to GP visits, specialist care and the hospital admission rate but did not affect CRPNR in Hungary. The changes were unevenly distributed across the social strata. The reductions confessed the better compliance with the pandemic lockdown regulations among the social strata except for inadequate reactions in a few strata for some specific outcomes. The GP and specialist care were had an adequate reaction among the widowed subgroups that were related to the services, attributable to the pandemic lockdown. Whereas specialist care had an adequate reaction for all sociodemographic influenced by the pandemic. Also, a higher academic status was associated with less utilization of specialist services due to the pandemic lockdown. Thus, these reduced uptakes of these services due to the priority given for the severe medical conditions during the lockdown. But

the pandemic lockdown effect on CRPNR among the less educational attainment suggests that integrated support targeting these social strata has high importance in mitigating the harmful consequence of lockdown. Widowed patients proved to be protective to the pandemic lockdown in the respect of GP and specialist care. Although the increased uptake of these services was inspiring, the reasons for these protective factors need further and deep investigations. Wholly, this investigation demonstrated that integrated support for patients with the most susceptible groups has to be focused on during the pandemic-related restrictions or lockdown. In general, ABA can better empower the uptake of HCU that could result in reducing the inequalities and social exclusion among vulnerable societal sections in Hungary.

7. New findings

First study (Study I)

The impact of the segregated colony on prescription redemption

The core finding of this dissertation under the general and specific objectives came with eight important new elements.

i. Roma pediatrics has higher prescription of anti-infectives (ATC_J) than CAs

The majorly of anti-infective (ATC-J) medications were highly prescribed (64.9%) for pediatrics groups within Roma than non-Roma (38.55%) inhabitants. This shows still communicable diseases or susceptibility to acquiring ill-health situations were prevalent among the Roma community. But the redemption for this specific age class was significantly lower for SRC than CAs, (50.29% vs 65.98%). Similarly, the aggregate redemption of this group was significantly lower in SRC (57.6% vs 74.68%) than in the complimentary area.

ii. The cumulative impact of the colony on prescription redemption was seen in excess among Roma living in SRCs

Alimentary tract and metabolism, cardiovascular, musculoskeletal, anti-infective, and sensory organs ATC classes with excess redemption of 3.7%, 11.5%, -22.9%, and -12.5%, respective-ly.

Overall, 2.8% of excess redemption was seen among SRC than CA that was attributed to the settlement. This might be related to the previous study that the Swiss Hungarian Cooperation Program (SHCP) has been effective in improving the redemption of ATC_A and ATC_C prescriptions by 19.9% and 42.6% (249).

Second study (Study II)

The COVID-19 pandemic lockdown and dynamics of HCS utilization in Hungary

iii. There were massive changes in basic HCS utilization due to the pandemic

Except for CRPNR, the remaining basic HCS were significantly reduced due to the pandemic lockdown in Hungary. The uptake of GP, Specialist service and hospital admission were reduced by 22.2%, 26.4% and 6.7%, respectively. However, the CRPNR did not result in significant change despite there was a 0.4% decrease due to the pandemic lockdown. These changes suggest prepandemic social inequalities and inequities resulted in the difference during the pandemic lockdown except for a few strata and outcomes.

iv. Gender role showed the dominance of females HCU in Hungary

Regardless of the pandemic lockdown, females were found to be more frequent users of all of the studied HCS including the segregated settlements than males.

v. The uptake of HCS for chronic illnesses was moderately reduced during the pandemic period

Almost all kinds of chronic patients had lower utilization of basic HCS during the pandemic lockdown. Thus, it is very crucial to trace chronic patients to reduce the severity, further complications and mortality during the pandemic lockdown period.

vi. Roma had significantly a higher CRPNR than the non-Roma population

Although Roma had better redemption in SRC in the previous study (264), in both periods they had a higher likelihood of CRPNR than non-Roma people. It suggested that the pandemic was not the sole cause for the increased CRPNR among the Roma. Thus, Roma needs special attention on achieving the prescribed drugs and medical supplies from financial barriers perspectives regardless of the pandemic.

The Pandemic Interaction effect /modifying HCS utilization among the social strata

vii. The pandemic lockdown significantly modified the effect of educational attainment on GP visits, specialist care and CRPNR

Subjects with a higher academic level showed a significant decline in the use of GP during the pandemic lockdown. Conversely, the less educated subjects faced a significant increase in CRPNR during the pandemic lockdown. While this is a unique social stratum in that the pan-

demic caused a remarkable inequality in utilizing HCS from CRPNR perspectives in Hungary.

viii. The pandemic lockdown significantly modified the GP and specialist care among marital categories.

Being widowed had a significant role in the GP visits attributed to the pandemic lockdown restrictions. Even though there was a decline in specialist care during the pandemic lockdown, such a reduction was significantly lower than other marital subgroups. This suggested that the responses seemed to be adequate as this marital stratum had serious health issues, needs and demands.

8. Summary

Background: Prescription redemption or primary medication compliance is defined as the proper purchasing of prescribed medications and medical supplies. It does not include over counter drugs or informal dispensed prescriptions. Attaining a better redemption of prescription has the power to alleviate the pain, severity, and speed up the prognosis of the diseases among the patients. But patients usually tend to miss or skip or omit to dispense the prescribed drugs and medical supplies either intentionally or unintentionally. Moreover, sociodemographic vulnerability worsen the problem. Subsequently, it is very crucial to scrutinize the reason behind the nonredemption of prescribed medications among SRCs versus CAs.

On the other hand, a continuum of HCU is a basic approach to ensure the wellbeing of nations. They include both preventive and curative services provided by HCS units. They have a chain-like feature starting from visiting frontline professionals; general practitioners (GP), specialist levels, getting proper curative services for health ill conditions. The better utilization of HCS had an extra benefit on reducing severity, incidence, prevalence, complications and quickening the prognosis of the illness. Thus, better GP or specialist care has a lower possibility of facing medical emergencies and admission to hospitals. Besides this, redeeming the prescribed medications and medical supplies has equal importance in relieving the further negative consequences of diseases among the patients. However, there is a paucity of explicit understanding regarding the variation due to the segregated areas of residence, ethnicity, and other sociodemographic and clinical predictors on uptake of the continuum of health care services. Furthermore, the COVID-19 pandemic caused an imbalance in the HCU dynamics and created vulnerable social strata throughout the globe. But this dynamics of HCU has not been investigated yet in Hungary or elsewhere. **Objectives**: The general objective of this study was to investigate the effect of segregated settlement and COVID-19 pandemic on the dynamics of basic HCU among the vulnerable population in Hungary. Accordingly, our specific objectives were (1) to investigate the crude prescription redemption among Roma living in segregated settlements versus complementary areas, (2) to investigate the indirect age-sex standardized redemption ratio of Roma living in segregated settlements versus complementary areas, (3) to estimate the GP visit, specialist care, hospitalization and CRPNR pre-pandemic and during the COVID-19 pandemic (4) to investigate the effect of the pandemic on GP visit, specialist care, hospitalization and CRPNR controlled for established predictors and (5) to determine subgroups susceptible to the GP visit, specialist care, hospitalization and CRPNR provoked by the pandemic in Hungary.

Methods: Data were obtained from NIHIFM-2012, EHIS-2019 and ISSP-2021 for SRCs vs CAs, pre-pandemic and pandemic periods, respectively. All age groups [for SRCs vs CAs], and 18 years and above [for pre-pandemic and pandemic periods] were included in the study. The indirect adjusted age-sex standardized redemption ratios [SRR] were calculated for SRCs vs CAs.

Whereas descriptive and analytic computations were done for pre-pandemic and pandemic data. Tables, figures, and proportions were displayed for sociodemographic and clinical characteristics for each outcome variable. Under the analytic section, multivariable logistic regression along with 95% CI was calculated to control the confounding factors in the pre-pandemic and pandemic data analysis. The COVID-19 lockdown was found to be the effect modifier or interaction variable on outcome variables of HCU for some sociodemographic strata that were more susceptible to the pandemic lockdown/restrictions.

Results: The crude redemption ratio of national, SRC and CAs were 84,323,051/126,223,796 (66. 8%), 46,107/33,720 (73.13%) and 901,901/640,950 (71.15%), respectively. SRC has the highest CRR than both CAs and national figures. Females dispensed more than males in both settlements. From 45-64 and 65 years and above redeemed more than other age strata in SRCs and CAs, respectively. The age-sex standardized redemption ratio was 1.028 [1.018-1.038] SRCs to CAs. The impact of the settlement showed an excess of 2.8% or extra 920 redemptions per year among SRCs compared to the CAs.

The COVID-19 pandemic lockdown caused drastic reductions in the HCU compared to the pre-pandemic period; GP visit (79.2% vs 56%, p<0.001), specialist care (64.4% vs 38%, p<0.001), hospital admission (13.5% vs 6.8%, p<0.001) but not for CRPNR (5.6 vs 5.2%,

p=0.662). The pandemic lockdown modified the effect on GP and specialist care among widowed strata. It significantly shifted the uptake of GP visits from 90.8% to 92.1% aOR=2.284 (1.043-4.998). While positively from provoked the effect of widowed on the specialist care from unadjustedOR=1.338 (1.136-1.576) to aOR=1.915 (1.157-3.168) after controlling for pertinent sociodemographic and clinical factors. Conversely, the effect of educational attainment [highly educated levels] were negatively dragged by the pandemic lockdown on GP visits and specialist care from unadjustedOR=0.710 (0.590-0.855) to aOR=0.434 (0.243-0.776), and aOR=1.288 (1.097-1.513) to aOR= 0.331 (0.179-0.611), respectively. The important social inequities observed in this study was that the subjects with lower academic levels had higher CRPNR than others due to the pandemic lockdown.

Practical implications: The main practical interpretation of better-prescribed medication redemption means quickening the prognosis of the disease and maintaining the well-being of the subjects. Compared to the earlier research about the Roma and their poor health status, lifestyle and HCU, our current findings disproved that Roma were poor healthcare utilizers from a prescription redemption viewpoint. This has been supported by both CRR of 73.13% which was greater than national (66.8%) and CAs (71.15%) and age-sex adjusted SRR with an excess of 2.8% redemption among Roma. If culturally adapted preventive models are applicable, other pillars of HCU and lifestyle could be improved based on our current findings.

Meantime, the continuum of HCU was significantly affected by the pandemic lockdown. The uneven influence of the pandemic was seen for GP visits and specialist care among marital while CRPNR among educational attainment strata were provoked in positive and negative directions, respectively. These are prominent findings are that the widowed stratum effect on GP and specialist visits were significantly modified as a protective role. This seemed an adequate reaction as the disadvantaged groups in the prepandemic era got more opportunities to utilize HCS during the pandemic. In addition, serious health crises among the widowed subgroup may increase GP and specialists during the lockdown. Then again, the higher educational attainment stratum effect on the specialist care was shifted from protective to exposing role. But the CRPNR was significantly reduced among less-educated patients attributed to the pandemic lockdown needs further mitigations in the next epidemic waves.

Conclusion and recommendations: Nearly a three-fourth of Roma living in the SRCs redeemed their prescriptions accordingly. They had a significant portion of excess redemption than CAs for in a year. It shows that Roma contradicted the previous findings which prejudiced and marked them for poor health and lifestyle. The pandemic dramatically dragged down the continuum of HCS care in Hungary. Several sociodemographic and clinical factors played an exposing and protective role subject to the interaction of the pandemic lockdown. Some social strata were mainly victims or susceptible to the pandemic lockdown. Lower educational attainment was found to be improved for GP and specialist care attributed to the pandemic lockdown. This indicated that the preexisting sociality inequality was manifested during the pandemic lockdown restrictions. Remarkably, the widowed stratum played a protective role for GP and specialist care attributed to the pandemic. These effects seem to be adequate reactions since the pandemic regulations allow only serious medical conditions. But the lower CRPNR among the less-educated subgroup was an inadequate reaction. A Roma had a higher likelihood of CRPNR than a non-Roma population regardless of the lockdown.

Thus, our finds suggested that culturally adapted approaches mainly ABA and in-depth interview studies are important for investigating the HCS uptake of the Roma population in SRCs. The basic reason for applying the ABA for Roma in the SRCs it enables well exploring and understanding of their needs, demands, gaps and opportunities through their active involvement from beginning to the end of the intervention program in the future. This could enhance and empower them more than the usual or standard public health intervention model or topdown approach. So at the end of the day, a better prescription redemption and other HCU push them for an improved healthy lifestyle and health status.

Also, the continuum of HCU needs close monitoring mainly for susceptible social strata under each studied outcome component. Inadequate reactions among the predisposed social strata (less educated subgroup) should be mitigated in the next phase of the epidemic. We also recommend further studies on the new insights which played a protective role in the utilization of GP and specialist care among the widowed subgroup in Hungary.

9. References

- Richardson, Robert G., Rhodes, Philip, Guthrie, Douglas James, Thomson, William Archibald Robson and Underwood EA. "history of medicine" [Internet]. Encyclopedia Britannica; 2020. Available from: https://www.britannica.com/science/history-ofmedicine
- Tulchinsky TH, Varavikova EA. A History of Public Health. The New Public Health. 2014. p. 1–42.
- Hajar R. History of medicine timeline. Heart Views [Internet]. 2015;16(1):43–5.
 Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/25838882
- 4. World Health Organization [WHO] and The United Nations Children's Fund [UNICEF]. A vision for primary health care in the 21st century: towards universal health coverage and the Sustainable Development Goals. [Internet]. World Health Organization. Geneva, Switzerland; 2018. 1–64 p. Available from: http://www.who.int/docs/default-source/primary-health/vision.pdf?sfvrsn=c3119034_2
- Chrisman NJ. The health seeking process: An approach to the natural history of illness. Cult Med Psychiatry [Internet]. 1977;1(4):351–77. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00116243
- NHS. General Practice [Internet]. NHS England. [cited 2021 Oct 29]. Available from: https://www.healthcareers.nhs.uk/explore-roles/doctors/roles-doctors/generalpractitioner-gp/general-practice-gp
- Cilliers L, Retief FP. The evolution of the hospital from antiquity to the end of the middle ages. Curationis. 2002 Nov;25(4):60–6.
- Nix E. Where did the Rx symbol come from? [Internet]. The Factual Entertainment Brand. 2014 [cited 2021 Nov 29]. Available from: https://www.history.com/news/where-did-the-rx-symbol-come-from
- Hendler G. Medicine in Quotations: Views of Health and Disease Through the Ages. Bull Med Libr Assoc [Internet]. 2001 Jan;89(1):88. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC31715/
- 10. Beardon PH, McGilchrist MM, McKendrick AD, McDevitt DG, MacDonald TM.

Primary non-compliance with prescribed medication in primary care. BMJ [Internet]. 1993;307(6908):846–8. Available from: https://www.bmj.com/content/307/6908/846

- 11. Karter AJ, Parker MM, Moffet HH, Ahmed AT, Schmittdiel JA, Selby J V. New prescription medication gaps: A comprehensive measure of adherence to new prescriptions. Health Serv Res [Internet]. 2009;44(5 PART 1):1640–61. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-69749108431&doi=10.1111%2Fj.1475-6773.2009.00989.x&partnerID=40&md5=428b3a9cb8513586a3509050844871f7
- 12. Kennedy J, Tuleu I, Mackay K. Unfilled prescriptions of medicare beneficiaries: Prevalence, reasons, and types of medicines prescribed. J Manag Care Pharm [Internet]. 2008;14(6):553–60. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-51349156689&doi=10.18553%2Fjmcp.2008.14.6.553&partnerID=40&md5=fa55ab30 711614ba90f5612e014c6157
- 13. Shah NR, Hirsch AG, Zacker C, Wood GC, Schoenthaler A, Ogedegbe G, et al. Predictors of first-fill adherence for patients with hypertension. Am J Hypertens [Internet]. 2009;22(4):392–6. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-62849103057&doi=10.1038%2Fajh.2008.367&partnerID=40&md5=a35892eb672d95 d14a4539ee08a9ecd0
- Hugtenburg JG, Timmers L, Elders PJ, Vervloet M, van Dijk L. Definitions, variants, and causes of nonadherence with medication: a challenge for tailored interventions. Patient Prefer Adherence. 2013;7:675–82.
- 15. Fischer MA, Stedman MR, Lii J, Vogeli C, Shrank WH, Brookhart MA, et al. Primary medication non-adherence: Analysis of 195,930 electronic prescriptions. J Gen Intern Med [Internet]. 2010;25(4):284–90. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-77951102841&doi=10.1007%2Fs11606-010-1253-9&partnerID=40&md5=3f8a67804981f005631137f27a65a929
- Karter AJ, Parker MM, Adams AS, Moffet HH, Schmittdiel JA, Ahmed AT, et al.
 Primary non-adherence to prescribed medications. Vol. 25, Journal of general internal

medicine. 2010. p. 763; author reply 765.

- Raebel MA, Ellis JL, Carroll NM, Bayliss EA, McGinnis B, Schroeder EB, et al. Characteristics of patients with primary non-adherence to medications for hypertension, diabetes, and lipid disorders. J Gen Intern Med. 2012 Jan;27(1):57–64.
- 18. WHO. Out-of-pocket payments, user fees and catastrophic expenditure [Internet]. WHO. World Health Organization; 2018 [cited 2021 May 27]. Available from: https://www.who.int/health_financing/topics/financial-protection/out-of-pocketpayments/en/#.YK9abEmx0wE.mendeley
- Piette JD, Heisler M, Horne R, Caleb Alexander G. A conceptually based approach to understanding chronically ill patients' responses to medication cost pressures. Soc Sci Med. 2006 Feb;62(4):846–57.
- Raebel MA, Schmittdiel J, Karter AJ, Konieczny JL, Steiner JF. Standardizing terminology and definitions of medication adherence and persistence in research employing electronic databases. Med Care [Internet]. 2013;51(8 SUPPL.3):S11–21. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-84879885497&doi=10.1097%2FMLR.0b013e31829b1d2a&partnerID=40&md5=9f3f6 9130f4cdd7341dd458ee3c46784
- Cahir C. Primary nonadherence: the forgotten component of medication adherence?
 Polish Arch Intern Med [Internet]. 2020 Jan 31;130(1):1–3. Available from: https://www.mp.pl/paim/issue/article/15164
- Harrison TN, Derose SF, Cheetham TC, Chiu V, Vansomphone SS, Green K, et al. Primary nonadherence to statin therapy: Patients' perceptions. Am J Manag Care [Internet]. 2013;19(4):e133–9. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-84877774940&partnerID=40&md5=8350616dc22eaca4847613f6836b2b11
- 23. Rodriguez-Bernal CL, Peiró S, Hurtado I, García-Sempere A, Sanfélix-Gimeno G.
 Primary Nonadherence to Oral Anticoagulants in Patients with Atrial Fibrillation: Real-World Data from a Population-Based Cohort. J Manag Care Spec Pharm [Internet].
 2018 May;24(5):440–8. Available from: https://www.jmcp.org/doi/10.18553/jmcp.2018.24.5.440
- 24. Lemstra M, Nwankwo C, Bird Y, Moraros J. Primary nonadherence to chronic disease

medications: a meta-analysis. Patient Prefer Adherence [Internet]. 2018;12:721–31. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29765208

- Jackson JE, Doescher MP, Saver BG, Fishman P. Prescription drug coverage, health, and medication acquisition among seniors with one or more chronic conditions. Med Care. 2004 Nov;42(11):1056–65.
- 26. Hovstadius B, Petersson G. Non-adherence to drug therapy and drug acquisition costs in a national population A patient-based register study. BMC Health Serv Res [Internet]. 2011;11. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-82155186111&doi=10.1186%2F1472-6963-11-326&partnerID=40&md5=55870567a6638b862ae5770895afd65b
- Goldman DP, Joyce GF, Zheng Y. Prescription drug cost sharing: associations with medication and medical utilization and spending and health. JAMA. 2007 Jul;298(1):61–9.
- Yala SM, Duru OK, Ettner SL, Turk N, Mangione CM, Brown AF. Patterns of prescription drug expenditures and medication adherence among medicare part D beneficiaries with and without the low-income supplement. BMC Health Serv Res. 2014 Dec;14:665.
- 29. Krähenbühl J-M, Decollogny A, Bugnon O. Using the costs of drug therapy to screen patients for a community pharmacy-based medication review program. Pharm World Sci [Internet]. 2008;30(6):816–22. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-56549111424&doi=10.1007%2Fs11096-008-9232-5&partnerID=40&md5=133cabe223e7ee9a73ac6093afd53fff
- 30. Kapur V, Basu K. Drug coverage in Canada: who is at risk? Health Policy (New York)
 [Internet]. 2005 Feb;71(2):181–93. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0168851004001794
- Gondek K. Prescription drug payment policy: past, present, and future. Health Care Financ Rev. 1994;15(3):1–7.
- Encinosa WE, Bernard D, Dor A. Does prescription drug adherence reduce hospitalizations and costs? The case of diabetes. Adv Health Econ Health Serv Res. 2010;22:151–73.

- Fahlman C, Lynn J, Doberman D, Gabel J, Finch M. Prescription drug spending for Medicare+Choice beneficiaries in the last year of life. J Palliat Med. 2006 Aug;9(4):884–93.
- Blumberg DM, Prager AJ, Liebmann JM, Cioffi GA, De Moraes CG. Cost-Related Medication Nonadherence and Cost-Saving Behaviors Among Patients With Glaucoma Before and After the Implementation of Medicare Part D. JAMA Ophthalmol [Internet]. 2015 Sep 1;133(9):985. Available from: http://archopht.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?doi=10.1001/jamaophthalmol.2015.1671
- 35. Khera R, Valero-Elizondo J, Das SR, Virani SS, Kash BA, de Lemos JA, et al. Cost-Related Medication Nonadherence in Adults With Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease in the United States, 2013 to 2017. Circulation [Internet]. 2019 Dec 17;140(25):2067–75. Available from: https://www.ahajournals.org/doi/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.119.041974
- 36. Holbrook AM, Wang M, Lee M, Chen Z, Garcia M, Nguyen L, et al. Cost-related medication nonadherence in Canada: a systematic review of prevalence, predictors, and clinical impact. Syst Rev [Internet]. 2021;10(1):11. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-020-01558-5
- 37. Miranda AC, Serag-Bolos ES, Cooper JB. Cost-related medication underuse: Strategies to improve medication adherence at care transitions. Am J Heal Pharm [Internet].
 2019;76(8):560–5. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.085065708804&doi=10.1093%2Fajhp%2Fzxz010&partnerID=40&md5=8ee567e6c8f3
 9843b8d6998b78161dad
- Laba T-L, Cheng L, Kolhatkar A, Law MR. Cost-related nonadherence to medicines in people with multiple chronic conditions. Res Soc Adm Pharm [Internet]. 2019 Jun; Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S155174111930381X
- 39. Morgan SG, Lee A. Cost-related non-adherence to prescribed medicines among older adults: a cross-sectional analysis of a survey in 11 developed countries. BMJ Open [Internet]. 2017 Jan 31;7(1):e014287. Available from: http://bmjopen.bmj.com/lookup/doi/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-014287
- 40. Gupta S, McColl MA, Guilcher S, Smith K. Cost-related nonadherence to prescription

medications in Canada: a scoping review. Patient Prefer Adherence [Internet]. 2018 Sep;12:1699–715. Available from: https://www.dovepress.com/cost-relatednonadherence-to-prescription-medications-in-canada-a-scop-peer-reviewed-article-PPA

- Rohan Khera, Javier Valero-Elizondo, Sandeep R. Das, Salim S. Virani, Bita A.Kash, James A.de Lemos, Harlan M.Krumholz KN. Cost-Related Medication Nonadherence in Disease in the United States , 2013 to 2017. Circulation [Internet]. 2019;140:2067– 75. Available from: http://dx.doi/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.119.041974
- 42. Wamala S, Merlo J, Bostrom G, Hogstedt C, Agren G. Socioeconomic disadvantage and primary non-adherence with medication in Sweden. Int J Qual Heal Care [Internet]. 2007;19(3):134–40. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/intqhc/mzm011
- 43. Ekedahl A, Oskarsson V, Sundberg B, Gustafsson V, Lundberg T, Gullberg B. Impact of postal and telephone reminders on pick-up rates of unclaimed e-prescriptions.
 Pharm World Sci. 2008 Oct;30(5):503–8.
- 44. Bazargan M, Barbre AR, Hamm V. Failure to have Prescriptions Filled among Black Elderly. J Aging Health [Internet]. 1993 May 29;5(2):264–82. Available from: http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/089826439300500207
- 45. Gresham D, Morar B, Underhill PA, Passarino G, Lin AA, Wise C, et al. Origins and Divergence of the Roma (Gypsies). Am J Hum Genet [Internet]. 2001 Dec;69(6):1314– 31. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0002929707612610
- 46. Rai N, Chaubey G, Tamang R, Pathak AK, Singh VK, Karmin M, et al. The Phylogeography of Y-Chromosome Haplogroup H1a1a-M82 Reveals the Likely Indian Origin of the European Romani Populations. PLoS One [Internet]. 2012;7(11):1–7. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0048477
- 47. Kállai E. The Gypsies/the Roma in Hungarian Society [Internet]. Budapest, Hungary: Teleki László Institute: Cultural Foreign Policy and National Identity Project Copyright; 2002 [cited 2020 Jan 28]. 1–179 p. Available from: https://www.antikvarium.hu/konyv/the-gypsies-the-roma-in-hungarian-society-679173
- 48. European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights. Coronavirus Pandemic in the EU Impact on Roma and Travellers [Internet]. 2020. Available from: http://doi.org/10.2811/978921

- 49. Kwadrans L. Situation of the Roma Minority in the Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland and Slovakia. Vol. 3. 2011.
- 50. Masseria C, Mladovsky P, Hernández-Quevedo C. The socio-economic determinants of the health status of Roma in comparison with non-Roma in Bulgaria, Hungary and Romania. Eur J Public Health [Internet]. 2010;20(5):549–54. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckq102
- 51. Pásztor I, Pénzes J, Tátrai P, Pálóczi Á. The number and spatial distribution of the Roma population in Hungary - in the light of different approaches. Folia Geogr Acta Fac Stud Humanit naturae Univ Prešoviensis, Prírodné vedy [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2020 Feb 1];58(2):5–21. Available from: http://www.unipo.sk/public/media/26990/1-THE NUMBER AND SPATIAL DISTRIBUTION OF THE ROMA POPULATION IN HUNGARY – IN THE LIGHT OF DIFFERENT APPROACHES.pdf
- 52. Parekh N, Rose T. Health inequalities of the Roma in Europe: A literature review. Cent Eur J Public Health [Internet]. 2011;19(3):139–42. Available from: https://doi.org/10.21101/cejph.a3661
- 53. Pál L, Pálinkás A, Papp M, Sándor J, Falusi Z, Kovács N, et al. Healthcare Utilization and All-Cause Premature Mortality in Hungarian Segregated Roma Settlements: Evaluation of Specific Indicators in a Cross-Sectional Study. Int J Environ Res Public Health [Internet]. 2018;15(9):1835. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15091835
- 54. Kolvek G, Straussova Z, Majernikova M, Rosenberger J, Dijk JP van. Health Differences between Roma and Non-Roma in the Slovak Dialyzed Population. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2018 Feb;15(2).
- 55. Korunovska N, Jovanovic Z. ROMA IN THE COVID-19 CRISIS. An Early Warning from Six EU Member States [Internet]. New York, United States: Open Society Foundations; 2020. Available from: https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/Roma in the COVID-19 crisis - An early warning from six EU Member States.pdf
- 56. Anderson K. ESPN Thematic Report on Inequalities in access to healthcare The Netherlands (2018) [Internet]. Brussels, Belgium; 2018 [cited 2021 Mar 26]. Available from: https://ec.europa.eu/social/main.jsp?catId=1135&langId=en
- 57. Voko Z, Csepe P, Nemeth R, Kosa K, Kosa Z, Szeles G, et al. Does socioeconomic status fully mediate the effect of ethnicity on the health of Roma people in Hungary? J Epidemiol Community Heal [Internet]. 2009 Jun 1;63(6):455–60. Available from: http://jech.bmj.com/cgi/doi/10.1136/jech.2008.079715
- 58. Belak A, Madarasova Geckova A, van Dijk JP, Reijneveld SA. Why don't segregated Roma do more for their health? An explanatory framework from an ethnographic study in Slovakia. Int J Public Health [Internet]. 2018;63(9):1123–31. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00038-018-1134-2
- 59. Bosakova L, Geckova AM, van Dijk JP, Reijneveld SA. Increased employment for segregated roma may improve their health: Outcomes of a public–private partnership project. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2019;16(16).
- 60. Belak A, Madarasova Geckova A, van Dijk JP, Reijneveld SA. Health-endangering everyday settings and practices in a rural segregated Roma settlement in Slovakia: A descriptive summary from an exploratory longitudinal case study. BMC Public Health [Internet]. 2017;17(1):128. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-017-4029-x
- Miranda DE, Garcia-Ramirez M, Balcazar FE, Suarez-Balcazar Y. A Community-Based Participatory Action Research for Roma Health Justice in a Deprived District in Spain. Int J Environ Res Public Health [Internet]. 2019 Oct 2 [cited 2020 Aug 7];16(19):3722. Available from: https://www.mdpi.com/1660-4601/16/19/3722
- 62. Vasiljevic M, Ng Y-L, Griffin SJ, Sutton S, Marteau TM. Is the intention-behaviour gap greater amongst the more deprived? A meta-analysis of five studies on physical activity, diet, and medication adherence in smoking cessation. Br J Health Psychol [Internet]. 2016;21(1):11–30. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-84954370678&doi=10.1111%2Fbjhp.12152&partnerID=40&md5=8d1e2bbd6af7f734 d2ebaf4c51c6c8d5
- 63. Martini ND, van der Werf B, Bassett-Clarke D. Primary medication non-adherence at Counties Manukau Health Emergency Department (CMH-ED), New Zealand: an observational study. BMJ Open [Internet]. 2020;10(7). Available from: https://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/10/7/e035775
- 64. Cooper RS. Social inequality, ethnicity and cardiovascular disease. Int J Epidemiol

[Internet]. 2001;30(SUPPL. 1):48–52. Available from: https://dx.doi.org/10.1093/ije/30.suppl_1.S48

- Brearley M. The Roma/Gypsies of Europe: A Persecuted People. Jewish Policy Res Pap [Internet]. 1996 [cited 2020 Jan 29];3(3):1–58. Available from: http://www.bjpa.org/Publications/details.cfm?PublicationID=4653
- 66. Brown SA, Kouzekanani K, Garcia AA, Orlander PR, Hanis CL. Diabetes selfmanagement and leptin in Mexican Americans with type 2 diabetes: the Starr County border health initiative. Diabetes Educ. 2013;39(6):820–7.
- 67. Cummings DM, Lutes LD, Littlewood K, Dinatale E, Hambidge B, Schulman K. EMPOWER: a randomized trial using community health workers to deliver a lifestyle intervention program in African American women with Type 2 diabetes: design, rationale, and baseline characteristics. Contemp Clin Trials. 2013 Sep;36(1):147–53.
- Juhász A, Nagy C, Páldy A, Beale L. Development of a Deprivation Index and its relation to premature mortality due to diseases of the circulatory system in Hungary, 1998–2004. Soc Sci Med [Internet]. 2010;70(9):1342–9. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S027795361000095X
- 69. Sándor J, Kósa K, Papp M, Fürjes G, Kőrösi L, Jakovljevic M, et al. Capitation-Based Financing Hampers the Provision of Preventive Services in Primary Health Care. Front Public Heal [Internet]. 2016;4:200. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fpubh.2016.00200
- 70. Janka EA, Vincze F, Ádány R, Sándor J. Is the Definition of Roma an Important Matter? The Parallel Application of Self and External Classification of Ethnicity in a Population-Based Health Interview Survey. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2018 Feb;15(2).
- Sándor J, Nagy A, Földvári A, Szabó E, Csenteri O, Vincze F, et al. Delivery of cardiometabolic preventive services to Hungarian Roma of different socio-economic strata. Fam Pract. 2017 Feb;34(1):83–9.
- János S, Ferenc V, Tibor J, Zsófia F, Karolina K, Róza Á. Szegregátumokban él ő k egészségügyi ellátásaIn.: Társadalmi Riport 2020, szerk.: Kolosi Tamás, Szelényi Iván, Tóth István György, Budapest) [Internet]. Budapest; 2020. Available from: https://www.tarki.hu/sites/default/files/2020-10/404_433_Sandor J_web_0.pdf

- 73. World Health Organization (WHO). Pneumonia of unknown cause China COVID-19
 China [Internet]. World Health Organization. 2020 [cited 2021 Dec 10]. Available from: https://www.who.int/emergencies/disease-outbreak-news/item/2020-DON229
- 74. World Health Organization. Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) situation reports [Internet]. 2020. Available from: https://www.who.int/emergencies/diseases/novelcoronavirus-2019/situation-reports
- 75. Michalowsky B, Hoffmann W, Bohlken J, Kostev K. Effect of the COVID-19 lockdown on disease recognition and utilisation of healthcare services in the older population in Germany: a cross-sectional study. Age Ageing [Internet]. 2020;50(2):317–25. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afaa260
- 76. AllazoHealth. COVID-19 widens disparities in medication adherence between patient populations. :19–21.
- SangNam Ahn, Kanghyock Koh SK. Changes in Healthcare Utilization, Spending, and Perceived Health during COVID 19 : A Longitudinal Study from Singapore Changes in Healthcare Utilization, Spending, and Perceived Health during COVID 19 : A Longitudinal Study from Singapore [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2021 May 20]. Available from: https://www.iza.org/publications/dp/13715/changes-in-healthcare-utilization-spending-and-perceived-health-during-covid19-a-longitudinal-study-from-singapore
- 78. Xiao H, Dai X, Wagenaar BH, Liu F, Augusto O, Guo Y, et al. The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on health services utilization in China: Time-series analyses for 2016–2020. Lancet Reg Heal – West Pacific [Internet]. 2021 Apr 1;9. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lanwpc.2021.100122
- Yunus SZSA, Puteh SEW, Ali AM, Daud F. The Covid Impact to Public Healthcare Utilization Among Urban Low-Income Subsidized Community in Klang Valley Malaysia. Heal Serv Res Manag Epidemiol [Internet]. 2021;8:23333928211002410. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/23333928211002407
- Blumenthal D, Fowler EJ, Abrams M, Collins SR. Covid-19 Implications for the Health Care System. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 2020;383(15):1483–8. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMsb2021088
- 81. Dávid Dorosz, Krisztina Hegedűs, Dániel Prinz DR, Sebián-Petrovszki and L.

COVID-19 in Hungary Challenges and Opportunities for Progressives [Internet]. 2019. Available from: https://cdn.americanprogress.org/content/uploads/2020/12/17120823/COVID19-in-Hungary.pdf

- Saechang O, Yu J, Li Y. Public Trust and Policy Compliance during the COVID-19 Pandemic: The Role of Professional Trust. Healthcare [Internet]. 2021;9(2). Available from: https://www.mdpi.com/2227-9032/9/2/151
- 83. Yang X, Yang X, Kumar P, Cao B, Ma X, Li T. Social support and clinical improvement in COVID-19 positive patients in China. Nurs Outlook. 2020;68(6):830–7.
- 84. Giebel C, Pulford D, Cooper C, Lord K, Shenton J, Cannon J, et al. COVID-19-related social support service closures and mental well-being in older adults and those affected by dementia: a UK longitudinal survey. BMJ Open [Internet]. 2021;11(1). Available from: https://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/11/1/e045889
- Szkody E, Stearns M, Stanhope L, McKinney C. Stress-Buffering Role of Social Support during COVID-19. Fam Process [Internet]. 2020 Nov 21;famp.12618. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/famp.12618
- 86. Hills S, Eraso Y. Factors associated with non-adherence to social distancing rules during the COVID-19 pandemic: a logistic regression analysis. BMC Public Health [Internet]. 2021;21(1):352. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-10379-7
- Kretchy IA, Asiedu-Danso M, Kretchy J-P. Medication management and adherence during the COVID-19 pandemic: Perspectives and experiences from low-and middleincome countries. Res Social Adm Pharm. 2021 Jan;17(1):2023–6.
- Singh DR, Sunuwar DR, Shah SK, Karki K, Sah LK, Adhikari B, et al. Impact of COVID-19 on health services utilization in Province-2 of Nepal: a qualitative study among community members and stakeholders. BMC Health Serv Res [Internet]. 2021;21(1):174. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-021-06176-y
- Fifer WR. At Risk in America: The Health and Health Care Needs of Vulnerable Populations in the United States. JAMA [Internet]. 1994;271(3):246–7. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.1994.03510270092051

- Grabovschi C, Loignon C, Fortin M. Mapping the concept of vulnerability related to health care disparities: a scoping review. BMC Health Serv Res [Internet].
 2013;13(1):94. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-13-94
- Shi L, Stevens GD. Vulnerable populations in the United States. John Wiley & Sons;
 2021.
- 92. Clark B, Preto N. Exploring the concept of vulnerability in health care. C Can Med Assoc J = J l'Association medicale Can. 2018 Mar;190(11):E308–9.
- 93. Sossauer L, Schindler M, Hurst S. Vulnerability identified in clinical practice: a qualitative analysis. BMC Med Ethics [Internet]. 2019;20(1):87. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12910-019-0416-4
- 94. Bertakis KD, Azari R, Helms LJ, Callahan EJ, Robbins JA. Gender differences in the utilization of health care services. J Fam Pract. 2000 Feb;49(2):147–52.
- 95. Fanaroff AC, Peterson ED, Kaltenbach LA, Anstrom KJ, Fonarow GC, Henry TD, et al. Copayment Reduction Voucher Utilization and Associations with Medication Persistence and Clinical Outcomes: Findings from the ARTEMIS Trial. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes [Internet]. 2020; Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-85084937018&doi=10.1161%2FCIRCOUTCOMES.119.006182&partnerID=40&md5 =12d2efe3998abc6412a14aea66052977
- 96. Penning MJ. Health, Social Support, and the Utilization of Health Services among Older Adults. Journals Gerontol Ser B [Internet]. 1995;50B(5):S330–9. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/50B.5.S330
- 97. Gibson TB, McLaughlin CG, Smith DG. Generic utilization and cost-sharing for prescription drugs. Adv Health Econ Health Serv Res. 2010;22:195–219.
- 98. Lederle M, Tempes J, Bitzer EM. Application of Andersen's behavioural model of health services use: a scoping review with a focus on qualitative health services research. BMJ Open. 2021 May;11(5):e045018.
- 99. Andersen RM. Revisiting the behavioral model and access to medical care: does it matter? J Health Soc Behav. 1995 Mar;36(1):1–10.
- 100. Abuduxike G, Aşut Ö, Vaizoğlu SA, Cali S. Health-Seeking Behaviors and its

Determinants: A Facility-Based Cross-Sectional Study in the Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus. Int J Heal Policy Manag [Internet]. 2020;9(6):240–9. Available from: https://www.ijhpm.com/article_3701.html

- 101. Chan CQH, Lee KH, Low LL. A systematic review of health status, health seeking behaviour and healthcare utilisation of low socioeconomic status populations in urban Singapore. Int J Equity Health. 2018 Apr;17(1):39.
- Peppa M, John Edmunds W, Funk S. Disease severity determines health-seeking behaviour amongst individuals with influenza-like illness in an internet-based cohort. BMC Infect Dis [Internet]. 2017;17(1):238. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-017-2337-5
- 103. Khajeh A, Vardanjani HM, Salehi A, Rahmani N, Delavari S. Healthcare-seeking behavior and its relating factors in South of Iran. J Educ Health Promot [Internet]. 2019 Sep 30;8:183. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31867368
- 104. Pandey KR, Yang F, Cagney KA, Smieliauskas F, Meltzer DO, Ruhnke GW. The impact of marital status on health care utilization among Medicare beneficiaries. Medicine (Baltimore) [Internet]. 2019;98(12). Available from: https://journals.lww.com/md-journal/Fulltext/2019/03220/The_impact_of_marital_status_on_health_care.21.aspx
- 105. Bucher BT, Skarda DE, Ferraro JP, Finlayson SRG, Chapman WW, Gundlapalli A V. Association of Marital Status with Health Care Utilization after Complex Surgical Procedures. J Am Coll Surg [Internet]. 2019 Oct 1;229(4):e27. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2019.08.822
- 106. Begashaw B, Tessema F, Gesesew HA. Health Care Seeking Behavior in Southwest Ethiopia. Ciccozzi M, editor. PLoS One [Internet]. 2016 Sep 14;11(9):e0161014. Available from: http://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0161014
- 107. Raghupathi V, Raghupathi W. The influence of education on health: an empirical assessment of OECD countries for the period 1995–2015. Arch Public Heal [Internet]. 2020;78(1):20. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/s13690-020-00402-5
- 108. Zajacova A, Lawrence EM. The Relationship Between Education and Health: Reducing Disparities Through a Contextual Approach. Annu Rev Public Health [Internet]. 2018 Apr 1;39(1):273–89. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-

publhealth-031816-044628

- 109. Chou Y-C, Yen Y-F, Chu D, Hu H-Y. Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Healthcare-Seeking Behaviors among Frequent Emergency Department Users: A Cohort Study. Int J Environ Res Public Health [Internet]. 2021;18(12). Available from: https://www.mdpi.com/1660-4601/18/12/6351
- Bulloch AGM, Patten SB. Non-adherence with psychotropic medications in the general population. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. 2010 Jan;45(1):47–56.
- 111. Federman AD, O'Conor R, Wolf MS, Wisnivesky JP. Associations of Medication Regimen Complexity with COPD Medication Adherence and Control. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis [Internet]. 2021 Aug 19;16:2385–92. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/34434045
- 112. Gemmill MC, Thomson S, Mossialos E. What impact do prescription drug charges have on efficiency and equity? Evidence from high-income countries. Int J Equity Health [Internet]. 2008;7(1):12. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/1475-9276-7-12
- 113. Hagström B, Mattsson B, Rost I-M, Gunnarsson RK. What happened to the prescriptions?: A single, short, standardized telephone call may increase compliance. Fam Pract [Internet]. 2004;21(1):46–50. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/fampra/cmh110
- 114. Mayberry LS, Piette JD, Lee AA, Aikens JE. Out-of-home informal support important for medication adherence, diabetes distress, hemoglobin A1c among adults with type 2 diabetes. J Behav Med. 2019 Jun;42(3):493–501.
- 115. Sidorkiewicz S, Tran V-T, Cousyn C, Perrodeau E, Ravaud P. Discordance Between Drug Adherence as Reported by Patients and Drug Importance as Assessed by Physicians. Ann Fam Med [Internet]. 2016 Sep 1;14(5):415–21. Available from: http://www.annfammed.org/cgi/doi/10.1370/afm.1965
- 116. Cooper JK, Love DW, Raffoul PR. Intentional Prescription Nonadherence (Noncompliance) by the Elderly. J Am Geriatr Soc [Internet]. 1982 May;30(5):329–33. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/j.1532-5415.1982.tb05623.x
- 117. Ofori-Asenso R, Ilomäki J, Tacey M, Si S, Curtis AJ, Zomer E, et al. Predictors of

first-year nonadherence and discontinuation of statins among older adults: a retrospective cohort study. Br J Clin Pharmacol [Internet]. 2019 Jan 8;85(1):227–35. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/bcp.13797

118. Loke YK, Hinz I, Wang X, Salter C. Systematic review of consistency between adherence to cardiovascular or diabetes medication and health literacy in older adults [Una revisión sistemática-ninguna conexión consistente entre la adherencia al tratamiento con medicamentos cardiovasculares o p. Ann Pharmacother [Internet]. 2012;46(6):863–72. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2s2.0-84862265660&doi=10.1345%2Faph.1Q718&partnerID=40&md5=4f05bcdf2d0b937ad

84862265660&doi=10.1345%2Faph.1Q/18&partnerID=40&md5=4f05bcdf2d0b93/ad 9aba4c7e71f71ff

- Marcum ZA, Zheng Y, Perera S, Strotmeyer E, Newman AB, Simonsick EM, et al. Prevalence and correlates of self-reported medication non-adherence among older adults with coronary heart disease, diabetes mellitus, and/or hypertension. Res Soc Adm Pharm [Internet]. 2013;9(6):817–27. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-84887614731&doi=10.1016%2Fj.sapharm.2012.12.002&partnerID=40&md5=3389ad 3e1f94e9e4f005cae15509dba9
- Goldstein CM, Gathright EC, Dolansky MA, Gunstad J, Sterns A, Redle JD, et al. Randomized controlled feasibility trial of two telemedicine medication reminder systems for older adults with heart failure. J Telemed Telecare [Internet]. 2014;20(6):293–9. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2s2.0-84927616139&doi=10.1177%2F1357633X14541039&partnerID=40&md5=cf0a11b53 2af8c7d9ee1050daed25a25
- Maffoni M, Traversoni S, Costa E, Midão L, Kardas P, Kurczewska-Michalak M, et al. Medication adherence in the older adults with chronic multimorbidity: a systematic review of qualitative studies on patient's experience. Eur Geriatr Med [Internet]. 2020;11(3):369–81. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2s2.0-85083115487&doi=10.1007%2Fs41999-020-00313-2&partnerID=40&md5=6023745858dca43f78f29ac96baae468
- 122. Lee S, Jiang L, Dowdy D, Hong YA, Ory MG. Attitudes, Beliefs, and Cost-Related

Medication Nonadherence Among Adults Aged 65 or Older With Chronic Diseases. Prev Chronic Dis. 2018 Dec;15:E148.

- 123. Piette JD, Heisler M, Wagner TH. Problems paying out-of-pocket medication costs among older adults with diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2004 Feb;27(2):384–91.
- 124. Timmerman L, Stronks DL, Groeneweg JG, Huygen FJ. Prevalence and determinants of medication non-adherence in chronic pain patients: A systematic review. Acta Anaesthesiol Scand [Internet]. 2016;60(4):416–31. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-84960451983&doi=10.1111%2Faas.12697&partnerID=40&md5=2603ce7fcce806b772b9032cef4deb40
- 125. Iyengar RN, LeFrancois AL, Henderson RR, Rabbitt RM. Medication Nonadherence Among Medicare Beneficiaries with Comorbid Chronic Conditions: Influence of Pharmacy Dispensing Channel. J Manag Care Spec Pharm [Internet]. 2016 May;22(5):550–60. Available from: http://www.jmcp.org/doi/10.18553/jmcp.2016.22.5.550
- 126. Patel PA, Liang L, Khazanie P, Hammill BG, Fonarow GC, Yancy CW, et al. Antihyperglycemic Medication Use Among Medicare Beneficiaries With Heart Failure, Diabetes Mellitus, and Chronic Kidney Disease. Circ Heart Fail. 2016 Jul;9(7).
- 127. Park Y, Yang H, Das AK, Yuen-Reed G. Prescription fill rates for acute and chronic medications in claims-EMR linked data. Medicine (Baltimore) [Internet]. 2018 Nov;97(44):e13110. Available from: http://insights.ovid.com/crossref?an=00005792-201811020-00078
- 128. Tamás Á, Ágnes M. Compliance and persistence with medication in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease [Terápiás compliance és perzisztencia a krónikus obstruktív tüdobetegség gyógyszeres kezelésében]. Orv Hetil [Internet].
 2009;150(32):1497–502. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-68549128686&doi=10.1556%2FOH.2009.28691&partnerID=40&md5=06480b353ae2 cd7c971a62d0c8774a67
- 129. Nielsen TM, Juhl MF, Feldt-Rasmussen B, Thomsen T. Adherence to medication in

patients with chronic kidney disease: A systematic review of qualitative research. Clin Kidney J [Internet]. 2018;11(4):513–27. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-85054957134&doi=10.1093%2Fckj%2Fsfx140&partnerID=40&md5=a8f79d8e31572a 2bfd3bf28286aff315

- Hennessy D, Sanmartin C, Ronksley P, Weaver R, Campbell D, Manns B, et al. Out-of-pocket spending on drugs and pharmaceutical products and cost-related prescription non-adherence among Canadians with chronic disease. Heal reports. 2016 Jun;27(6):3–8.
- 131. Martini N, van der Werf B, Bassett-Clarke D. Primary medication non-adherence to analgesics and antibiotics at Counties Manukau Health Emergency Department. N Z Med J. 2021 Jun;134(1536):52–76.
- 132. John D. Piette, Michele Heisler, Anita Harand, Michelina Juip. Beliefs about Prescription Medications among Patients with Diabetes: Variation Across Racial Groups and Influences on Cost-Related Medication Underuse. J Health Care Poor Underserved [Internet]. 2010 Feb;21(1):349–61. Available from: http://muse.jhu.edu/content/crossref/journals/journal_of_health_care_for_the_poor_and _underserved/v021/21.1.piette.html
- 133. Freccero C, Sundquist K, Sundquist J, Ji J. Primary adherence to antidepressant prescriptions in primary health care: A population-based study in Sweden. Scand J Prim Health Care [Internet]. 2016;34(1):83–8. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-84960490026&doi=10.3109%2F02813432.2015.1132884&partnerID=40&md5=3afa4 b0b6e554cd5f4c9ee771c71bd45
- 134. Smith M, Towne Jr S, Bergeron C, Zhang D, McCord C, Mier N, et al. Geographic disparities associated with travel to medical care and attendance in programs to prevent/manage chronic illness among middle-aged and older adults in Texas. Rural Remote Health [Internet]. 2019 Nov 9;19(4):5147. Available from: https://www.rrh.org.au/journal/article/5147
- 135. Norris P, Horsburgh S, Sides G, Ram S, Fraser J. Geographical access to community pharmacies in New Zealand. Health Place [Internet]. 2014;29:140–5. Available from:

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1353829214000975

- 136. Susana Sofia Monteiro Mourão SG da CFB. Ethnic minorities "and immigrants" therapeutic (non) adherence: What is the role of social and cultural contexts? Psychol Anal [Internet]. 2014;32:341–51. Available from: http://www.scielo.mec.pt/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S0870-82312014000300007&nrm=iso
- 137. Hensley C, Heaton PC, Kahn RS, Luder HR, Frede SM, Beck AF. Poverty, Transportation Access, and Medication Nonadherence. Pediatrics [Internet]. 2018 Apr;141(4):e20173402. Available from: http://pediatrics.aappublications.org/lookup/doi/10.1542/peds.2017-3402
- 138. Lee S-Q, Raamkumar AS, Li J, Cao Y, Witedwittayanusat K, Chen L, et al. Reasons for Primary Medication Nonadherence: A Systematic Review and Metric Analysis. J Manag Care Spec Pharm [Internet]. 2018 Aug;24(8):778–94. Available from: https://www.jmcp.org/doi/10.18553/jmcp.2018.24.8.778
- Cheen MHH, Tan YZ, Oh LF, Wee HL, Thumboo J. Prevalence of and factors associated with primary medication non-adherence in chronic disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Clin Pract. 2019;73(6):1–18.
- 140. da Costa FA, Pedro AR, Teixeira I, Bragança F, da Silva JA, Cabrita J. Primary nonadherence in Portugal: findings and implications. Int J Clin Pharm [Internet]. 2015 Aug;37(4):626—635. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s11096-015-0108-1
- 141. Jackson TH, Bentley JP, McCaffrey, III DJ, Pace P, Holmes E, West-Strum D. Store and Prescription Characteristics Associated with Primary Medication Nonadherence. J Manag Care Pharm [Internet]. 2014 Aug;20(8):824–32. Available from: http://www.jmcp.org/doi/10.18553/jmcp.2014.20.8.824
- 142. Adamson AS, Suarez EA, Gorman AR. Association between method of prescribing and primary nonadherence to dermatologic medication in an urban hospital population. JAMA Dermatology [Internet]. 2017;153(1):49–54. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-85011827202&doi=10.1001%2Fjamadermatol.2016.3491&partnerID=40&md5=f254e 65994383d94664549701b944138
- 143. Cheetham TC, Niu F, Green K, Scott RD, Derose SF, Vansomphone SS, et al. Primary

nonadherence to statin medications in a managed care organization. J Manag Care Pharm [Internet]. 2013;19(5):367–73. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-84877768117&doi=10.18553%2Fjmcp.2013.19.5.367&partnerID=40&md5=ed7b3201 e05e6752d0d0941c32216715

- 144. Rashid N, Vassilakis M, Lin KJ, Kristy R, Ng DB. Primary nonadherence to overactive bladder medications in an integrated managed care health care system. J Manag Care Spec Pharm [Internet]. 2017;23(4):484–93. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-85016307213&doi=10.18553%2Fjmcp.2017.23.4.484&partnerID=40&md5=f5a74561 3a076e230c43908f75ddea8a
- 145. Pottegård A, Christensen R dePont, Houji A, Christiansen CB, Paulsen MS, Thomsen JL, et al. Primary non-adherence in general practice: a Danish register study. Eur J Clin Pharmacol [Internet]. 2014 Jun 23;70(6):757–63. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s00228-014-1677-y
- Polinski JM, Kesselheim AS, Frolkis JP, Wescott P, Allen-Coleman C, Fischer MA. A matter of trust: Patient barriers to primary medication adherence. Health Educ Res [Internet]. 2014;29(5):755–63. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-84979828691&doi=10.1093%2Fher%2Fcyu023&partnerID=40&md5=3754d58155db e407ab70405683950601
- 147. Yu J, Brenneman SK, Sazonov V, Modi A. Reasons for not initiating osteoporosis therapy among a managed care population. Patient Prefer Adherence. 2015;9:821–30.
- 148. Bauer AM, Schillinger D, Parker MM, Katon W, Adler N, Adams AS, et al. Health literacy and antidepressant medication adherence among adults with diabetes: The diabetes study of northern california (DISTANCE). J Gen Intern Med [Internet]. 2013;28(9):1181–7. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2s2.0-84883165362&doi=10.1007%2Fs11606-013-2402-8&partnerID=40&md5=973655af07ce161c490dc28024646cb2
- 149. Jatrana S, Crampton P, Norris P. Ethnic differences in access to prescription medication because of cost in New Zealand. J Epidemiol \& Community Heal

[Internet]. 2011 May 1;65(5):454–60. Available from: https://jech.bmj.com/content/65/5/454

- 150. Jatrana S, Richardson K, Norris P, Crampton P. Is cost-related non-collection of prescriptions associated with a reduction in health? Findings from a large-scale longitudinal study of New Zealand adults. BMJ Open [Internet]. 2015;5(11). Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-84947289236&doi=10.1136%2Fbmjopen-2015-007781&partnerID=40&md5=716b23185c04e620e4d79160c09d59d4
- 151. Thengilsdõttir G, Pottegård A, Linnet K, Halldõrsson M, Almarsdõttir AB, Gardarsdõttir H. Do patients initiate therapy? Primary non-adherence to statins and antidepressants in Iceland. Int J Clin Pract [Internet]. 2015;69(5):597–603. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-84928582929&doi=10.1111%2Fijcp.12558&partnerID=40&md5=2140e52dbba87fe15 2e34003f782abcb
- 152. Atiim GA, Elliott SJ, Clarke AE, Janes C. "What the mind does not know, the eyes do not see". Placing food allergy risk in sub-Saharan Africa. Health Place [Internet].
 2018;51:125–35. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1353829217306123
- 153. Harrison TA, Hindorff LA, Kim H, Wines RCM, Bowen DJ, McGrath BB, et al.
 Family history of diabetes as a potential public health tool. Am J Prev Med [Internet].
 2003;24(2):152–9. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0749379702005883
- 154. Roth EM, Bujas-Bobanovic M, Louie MJ, Cariou B. Patient and Physician Perspectives on Mode of Administration of the PCSK9 Monoclonal Antibody Alirocumab, an Injectable Medication to Lower LDL-C Levels. Clin Ther [Internet]. 2015;37(9):1945-1954.e6. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0149291815009364
- 155. Jaam M, Ibrahim MIM, Kheir N, Hadi MA, Diab MI, Awaisu A. Assessing prevalence of and barriers to medication adherence in patients with uncontrolled diabetes attending primary healthcare clinics in Qatar. Prim Care Diabetes [Internet]. 2018;12(2):116–25. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S175199181730181X

- 156. Bethel MA, Chacra AR, Deedwania P, Fulcher GR, Holman RR, Jenssen T, et al. A Novel Risk Classification Paradigm for Patients With Impaired Glucose Tolerance and High Cardiovascular Risk. Am J Cardiol [Internet]. 2013;112(2):231–7. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0002914913008151
- 157. Chase J-AD, Russell D, Huang L, Hanlon A, O'Connor M, Bowles KH. Relationships Between Race/Ethnicity and Health Care Utilization Among Older Post-Acute Home Health Care Patients. J Appl Gerontol [Internet]. 2020;39(2):201–13. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/0733464818758453
- 158. Jones R, Krishnamoorthy V, Raghunathan K. RACIAL AND ETHNIC DIFFERENCES IN HEALTHCARE UTILIZATION FOLLOWING SEVERE ACUTE BRAIN INJURY. Crit Care Med [Internet]. 2019;47(1). Available from: https://journals.lww.com/ccmjournal/Fulltext/2019/01001/1__RACIAL_AND_ETHNI C_DIFFERENCES_IN_HEALTHCARE.4.aspx
- 159. Razjouyan J, Helmer DA, Li A, Naik AD, Amos CI, Bandi V, et al. Differences in COVID-19-Related Testing and Healthcare Utilization by Race and Ethnicity in the Veterans Health Administration. J Racial Ethn Heal Disparities [Internet]. 2021; Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s40615-021-00982-0
- 160. Chen J, Vargas-Bustamante A, Mortensen K, Ortega AN. Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Health Care Access and Utilization Under the Affordable Care Act. Med Care [Internet]. 2016 Feb;54(2):140–6. Available from: https://journals.lww.com/00005650-201602000-00006
- 161. May FP, Rolston VS, Tapper EB, Lakshmanan A, Saab S, Sundaram V. The impact of race and ethnicity on mortality and healthcare utilization in alcoholic hepatitis: a crosssectional study. BMC Gastroenterol [Internet]. 2016;16(1):129. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12876-016-0544-y
- 162. Song Z, Zhang X, Patterson LJ, Barnes CL, Haas DA. Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Hospitalization Outcomes Among Medicare Beneficiaries During the COVID-19 Pandemic. JAMA Heal Forum [Internet]. 2021;2(12):e214223–e214223. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1001/jamahealthforum.2021.4223
- 163. Le Anh T, Vu Ngoc H, Nguyen Nhu D, Truong Thi Mai A, Ngo Thi T, Nguyen XuanB, et al. Ethnic Variations in Healthcare Service Utilization and Access in Vietnamese

Mountainous Setting. Medina-Solis CE, editor. Sci World J [Internet]. 2021;2021:6650303. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/6650303

- 164. Gomes MB, Rodacki M, Pavin EJ, Cobas RA, Felicio JS, Zajdenverg L, et al. The impact of ethnicity, educational and economic status on the prescription of insulin therapeutic regimens and on glycemic control in patients with type 1 diabetes. A nationwide study in Brazil. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2017 Dec;134:44–52.
- 165. Borrero S, Zhao X, Mor MK, Schwarz EB, Good CB, Gellad WF. Adherence to hormonal contraception among women veterans: Differences by race/ethnicity and contraceptive supply. Am J Obstet Gynecol [Internet]. 2013;209(2):103.e1-103.e11. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-84880923681&doi=10.1016%2Fj.ajog.2013.03.024&partnerID=40&md5=d9db3c3d52 7f816aab9e5acaf3fe3f7d
- 166. Axon RN, Gebregziabher M, Hunt KJ, Lynch CP, Payne E, Walker RJ, et al. Comorbid depression is differentially associated with longitudinal medication nonadherence by race/ethnicity in patients with type 2 diabetes. Med (United States) [Internet].
 2016;95(25). Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-84976407003&doi=10.1097%2FMD.00000000003983&partnerID=40&md5=01d48 5eb803aa16735c6ff38d3dd1cb9
- 167. Barbieri JS, Shin DB, Wang S, Margolis DJ, Takeshita J. Association of Race/Ethnicity and Sex with Differences in Health Care Use and Treatment for Acne. JAMA Dermatology [Internet]. 2020;156(3):312–9. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-85079229055&doi=10.1001%2Fjamadermatol.2019.4818&partnerID=40&md5=9929b e7d668a9521a782c221339a5409
- 168. Laws MB, Lee Y, Rogers WH, Beach MC, Saha S, Korthuis PT, et al. Provider-patient communication about adherence to anti-retroviral regimens differs by patient race and ethnicity. AIDS Behav [Internet]. 2014;18(7):1279–87. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-84902298191&doi=10.1007%2Fs10461-014-0697-z&partnerID=40&md5=62487dd84515c1d0a111f07c042af381
- 169. Gellad WF, Haas JS, Safran DG. Race/Ethnicity and Nonadherence to Prescription

Medications Among Seniors: Results of a National Study. J Gen Intern Med [Internet]. 2007 Oct 12;22(11):1572–8. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s11606-007-0385-z

- 170. Tseng C-W, Tierney EF, Gerzoff RB, Dudley RA, Waitzfelder B, Ackermann RT, et al. Race/ethnicity and economic differences in cost-related medication underuse among insured adults with diabetes: The translating research into action for diabetes study. Diabetes Care [Internet]. 2008;31(2):261–6. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-38949190645&doi=10.2337%2Fdc07-1341&partnerID=40&md5=bcab23421b1e138ddf71e339d7a5f4b4
- 171. Rosicova K, Reijneveld SA, Madarasova Geckova A, Stewart RE, Rosic M, Groothoff JW, et al. Inequalities in mortality by socioeconomic factors and Roma ethnicity in the two biggest cities in Slovakia: a multilevel analysis. Int J Equity Health [Internet]. 2015 Dec 5;14(1):123. Available from: http://www.equityhealthj.com/content/14/1/123
- 172. Xie Z, St Clair P, Goldman DP, Joyce G. Racial and ethnic disparities in medication adherence among privately insured patients in the United States. PLoS One. 2019;14(2):e0212117.
- 173. Ghimire S, Castelino RL, Lioufas NM, Peterson GM, Zaidi STR. Nonadherence to medication therapy in haemodialysis patients: A systematic review. PLoS One [Internet]. 2015;10(12). Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-84961352108&doi=10.1371%2Fjournal.pone.0144119&partnerID=40&md5=e248ea9 6c7b54faf592d2d82c29b6c3a
- 174. Taira DA, Seto BK, Davis JW, Seto TB, Landsittel D, Sumida WK. Examining Factors Associated With Nonadherence And Identifying Providers Caring For Nonadherent Subgroups. J Pharm Heal Serv Res an Off J R Pharm Soc Gt Britain. 2017 Dec;8(4):247–53.
- 175. Wroth TH, Pathman DE. Primary medication adherence in a rural population: the role of the patient-physician relationship and satisfaction with care. J Am Board Fam Med. 2006;19(5):478–86.
- 176. Afulani P, Herman D, Coleman-Jensen A, Harrison GG, Afulani P, Coleman-Jensen A,

et al. Food Insecurity and Cost-Related Medication Underuse Among Nonelderly Adults in a Nationally Representative Sample. Am J Public Health [Internet]. 2015 Oct;105(10):e48–59. Available from: http://ajph.aphapublications.org/doi/10.2105/AJPH.2015.302712

- Kennedy J, Coyne J, Sclar D. Drug affordability and prescription noncompliance in the United States: 1997-2002. Clin Ther. 2004 Apr;26(4):607–14.
- 178. Shin J, McCombs JS, Sanchez RJ, Udall M, Deminski MC, Cheetham TC. Primary nonadherence to medications in an integrated healthcare setting. Am J Manag Care [Internet]. 2012;18(8):426–34. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-84869237740&partnerID=40&md5=50080f8d3b6167b836d6ee30ba4ba606
- 179. Frankenfield DL, Wei II, Anderson KK, Howell BL, Waldo D, Sekscenski E. Prescription medication cost-related non-adherence among Medicare CAHPS respondents: disparity by Hispanic ethnicity. J Health Care Poor Underserved. 2010 May;21(2):518–43.
- 180. Wells K, Pladevall M, Peterson EL, Campbell J, Wang M, Lanfear DE, et al. Raceethnic differences in factors associated with inhaled steroid adherence among adults with asthma. Am J Respir Crit Care Med [Internet]. 2008;178(12):1194–201. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-57149119256&doi=10.1164%2Frccm.200808-1233OC&partnerID=40&md5=f7f2fb03c899d046033d07b32465a1e4
- 181. Dong X, Tsang CCS, Wan JY, Shih Y-CT, Chisholm-Burns MA, Dagogo-Jack S, et al. Exploring racial and ethnic disparities in medication adherence among Medicare comprehensive medication review recipients. Explor Res Clin Soc Pharm [Internet]. 2021;3:100041. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S266727662100041X
- 182. Lewey J, Shrank WH, Bowry ADK, Kilabuk E, Brennan TA, Choudhry NK. Gender and racial disparities in adherence to statin therapy: A meta-analysis. Am Heart J [Internet]. 2013;165(5):665-678.e1. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-84876807908&doi=10.1016%2Fj.ahj.2013.02.011&partnerID=40&md5=843db2f27d2

0665eec505cc91ebcb54d

- 183. Etti M, Fofie H, Razai M, Crawshaw AF, Hargreaves S, Goldsmith LP. Ethnic minority and migrant underrepresentation in Covid-19 research: Causes and solutions. EClinicalMedicine [Internet]. 2021 Jun 1;36. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2021.100903
- 184. Iacobucci G. Covid-19: Increased risk among ethnic minorities is largely due to poverty and social disparities, review finds. BMJ [Internet]. 2020;371. Available from: https://www.bmj.com/content/371/bmj.m4099
- Morales DR, Ali SN. COVID-19 and disparities affecting ethnic minorities. Lancet (London, England). 2021 May;397(10286):1684–5.
- 186. Agyemang C, Richters A, Jolani S, Hendriks S, Zalpuri S, Yu E, et al. Ethnic minority status as social determinant for COVID-19 infection, hospitalisation, severity, ICU admission and deaths in the early phase of the pandemic: a meta-analysis. BMJ Glob Heal [Internet]. 2021;6(11). Available from: https://gh.bmj.com/content/6/11/e007433
- 187. Flynn D, Moloney E, Bhattarai N, Scott J, Breckons M, Avery L, et al. COVID-19 pandemic in the United Kingdom. Heal Policy Technol [Internet]. 2020 Dec;9(4):673– 91. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S2211883720300757
- 188. Avis NE, Brambilla DJ, Vass K, McKinlay JB. The effect of widowhood on health: A prospective analysis from the Massachusetts women's health study. Soc Sci Med [Internet]. 1991;33(9):1063–70. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/027795369190011Z
- 189. Peña-Longobardo LM, Rodríguez-Sánchez B, Oliva-Moreno J. The impact of widowhood on wellbeing, health, and care use: A longitudinal analysis across Europe. Econ Hum Biol [Internet]. 2021;43:101049. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1570677X21000733
- 190. Rolden HJA, van Bodegom D, Westendorp RGJ. Changes in Health Care Expenditure after the Loss of a Spouse: Data on 6,487 Older Widows and Widowers in the Netherlands. PLoS One [Internet]. 2014;9(12):1–17. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0115478
- 191. Lee M, You M. Avoidance of Healthcare Utilization in South Korea during the

Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) Pandemic. Int J Environ Res Public Health [Internet]. 2021;18(8). Available from: https://www.mdpi.com/1660-4601/18/8/4363

- 192. Yin J, Yeung R, Luk A, Tutino G, Zhang Y, Kong A, et al. Gender, diabetes education, and psychosocial factors are associated with persistent poor glycemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes in the Joint Asia Diabetes Evaluation (JADE) program. J Diabetes. 2016 Jan;8(1):109–19.
- 193. Grustam A, Jovic Vranes A, Soldatovic I, Stojicic P, Jovanovic Andersen Z. Factors Associated with Utilization of Primary and Specialist Healthcare Services by Elderly Cardiovascular Patients in the Republic of Serbia: A Cross-Sectional Study from the National Health Survey 2013. Int J Environ Res Public Health [Internet]. 2020;17(7). Available from: https://www.mdpi.com/1660-4601/17/7/2602
- 194. Bastani P, Mohammadpour M, Samadbeik M, Bastani M, Rossi-Fedele G, Balasubramanian M. Factors influencing access and utilization of health services among older people during the COVID – 19 pandemic: a scoping review. Arch Public Heal [Internet]. 2021;79(1):190. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/s13690-021-00719-9
- 195. Splinter MJ, Velek P, Ikram MK, Kieboom BCT, Peeters RP, Bindels PJE, et al. Prevalence and determinants of healthcare avoidance during the COVID-19 pandemic: A population-based cross-sectional study. PLOS Med [Internet]. 2021;18(11):1–15. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1003854
- 196. Ksinan Jiskrova G, Bobák M, Pikhart H, Ksinan AJ. Job loss and lower healthcare utilisation due to COVID-19 among older adults across 27 European countries. J Epidemiol Community Health [Internet]. 2021 Nov 12;75(11):1078–83. Available from: http://jech.bmj.com/content/early/2021/05/11/jech-2021-216715.abstract
- 197. Crispim D, Canani LHLH, Gross JL, Tschiedel BB, Souto KEPKEP, Roisenberg I. Familial history of type 2 diabetes in patients from southern Brazil and its influence on the clinical characteristics of this disease. Arq Bras Endocrinol Metabol. 2006 Oct;50(5):862–8.
- 198. Bernell S, Howard SW. Use Your Words Carefully: What Is a Chronic Disease? Front public Heal [Internet]. 2016 Aug 2;4:159. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27532034

- 199. MedicineNet. Definition of Chronic Disease [Internet]. 2016. Available from: http://www.medicinenet.com/script/main/art.asp?articlekey=33490
- 200. Priest JL, Cantrell CR, Fincham J, Cook CL, Burch SP. Quality of care associated with common chronic diseases in a 9-state Medicaid population utilizing claims data: an evaluation of medication and health care use and costs. Popul Health Manag. 2011 Feb;14(1):43–54.
- 201. Domino ME, Beadles CA, Lichstein JC, Farley JF, Morrissey JP, Ellis AR, et al. Heterogeneity in the quality of care for patients with multiple chronic conditions by psychiatric comorbidity. Med Care. 2014 Mar;52 Suppl 3:S101-9.
- 202. Leung JM, Niikura M, Yang CWT, Sin DD. COVID-19 and COPD. Eur Respir J [Internet]. 2020;56(2). Available from: https://erj.ersjournals.com/content/56/2/2002108
- 203. Cerezo Lajas A, Gutiérrez González E, Llorente Parrado C, Puente Maestu L, de Miguel-Díez J. Readmission Due to Exacerbation of COPD: Associated Factors. Lung [Internet]. 2018;196(2):185–93. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00408-018-0093-y
- 204. Smith-Ray R, Roberts EE, Littleton DE, Singh T, Sandberg T, Taitel M. Distribution of Patients at Risk for Complications Related to COVID-19 in the United States: Model Development Study. JMIR public Heal Surveill. 2020 Jun;6(2):e19606.
- 205. Abebe W, Worku A, Moges T, Tekle N, Amogne W, Haile T, et al. Trends of followup clinic visits and admissions three-months before and during COVID-19 pandemic at Tikur Anbessa specialized hospital, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia: an interrupted time series analysis. BMC Health Serv Res [Internet]. 2021;21(1):731. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-021-06730-8
- 206. Onder G, Rezza G, Brusaferro S. Case-Fatality Rate and Characteristics of Patients Dying in Relation to COVID-19 in Italy. JAMA [Internet]. 2020;323(18):1775–6. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2020.4683
- 207. Rajpal A, Rahimi L, Ismail-Beigi F. Factors Leading to High Morbidity and Mortality of COVID-19 in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes. J Diabetes. 2020 Jul;
- 208. Tajeu GS, Muntner P. Cost-Related Antihypertensive Medication Nonadherence:

Action in the Time of COVID-19 and Beyond. Am J Hypertens [Internet]. 2020;33(9):816–8. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/ajh/hpaa085

- 209. Rossi R, Socci V, Talevi D, Mensi S, Niolu C, Pacitti F, et al. COVID-19 Pandemic and Lockdown Measures Impact on Mental Health Among the General Population in Italy. Front psychiatry. 2020;11:790.
- 210. Gunnell D, Appleby L, Arensman E, Hawton K, John A, Kapur N, et al. Suicide risk and prevention during the COVID-19 pandemic. The lancet Psychiatry. 2020 Jun;7(6):468–71.
- 211. Volpato E, Centanni S, Banfi P, D'Antonio S, Peterle E, Bugliaro F, et al. Narrative Analysis of the Impact of COVID-19 on Patients with Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease, Their Caregivers, and Healthcare Professionals in Italy. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis. 2021;16:2181–201.
- 212. Maetzel A, Li LC, Pencharz J, Tomlinson G, Bombardier C. The economic burden associated with osteoarthritis, rheumatoid arthritis, and hypertension: a comparative study. Ann Rheum Dis [Internet]. 2004;63(4):395–401. Available from: https://ard.bmj.com/content/63/4/395
- Bitton R. The economic burden of osteoarthritis. Am J Manag Care. 2009;15(8 Suppl):S230-5.
- 214. Yousefi M, Assari Arani A, Sahabi B, Kazemnejad A, Fazaeli S. Household Health Costs: Direct, Indirect and Intangible. Iran J Public Health [Internet]. 2014 Feb;43(2):202–9. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26060744
- 215. Finlayson GS, Reimer J, Dahl M, Stargardter M, McGowan K-L. The Direct Cost of Hospitalizations in Manitoba 2005/06 [Internet]. Winnipeg: MB: Manitoba Centre for Health Policy; 2009. 89 p. Available from: http://mchpappserv.cpe.umanitoba.ca/reference/HospCost_fullreport.pdf
- 216. Lee S-YD, Tsai T-I, Tsai Y-W, Kuo KN. Health literacy, health status, and healthcare utilization of Taiwanese adults: results from a national survey. BMC Public Health [Internet]. 2010;10(1):614. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-10-614
- 217. Jackevicius CA, Li P, Tu J V. Prevalence, predictors, and outcomes of primary nonadherence after acute myocardial infarction. Circulation. 2008 Feb;117(8):1028–

36.

- 218. Berra S, Borrell C, Rajmil L, Estrada M-D, Rodríguez M, Riley AW, et al. Perceived health status and use of healthcare services among children and adolescents. Eur J Public Health [Internet]. 2006;16(4):405–14. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckl055
- 219. Moynihan R, Sanders S, Michaleff ZA, Scott AM, Clark J, To EJ, et al. Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on utilisation of healthcare services: a systematic review. BMJ Open [Internet]. 2021;11(3). Available from: https://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/11/3/e045343
- 220. World Health Organization. Pulse survey on continuity of essential health services during the COVID-19 pandemic, Interim report 27 August 2020 [Internet]. World Health Organization. Geneva; 2020. Available from: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/334048/WHO-2019-nCoV-EHS_continuity-survey-2020.1-eng.pdf
- 221. Jones D, Neal RD, Duffy SRG, Scott SE, Whitaker KL, Brain K. Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the symptomatic diagnosis of cancer: the view from primary care. Lancet Oncol [Internet]. 2020 Jun 1;21(6):748–50. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(20)30242-4
- 222. Smolić Š, Čipin I, Međimurec P. Access to healthcare for people aged 50+ in Europe during the COVID-19 outbreak. Eur J Ageing [Internet]. 2021;18. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10433-021-00631-9
- 223. Carlucci L, D'Ambrosio I, Balsamo M. Demographic and Attitudinal Factors of Adherence to Quarantine Guidelines During COVID-19: The Italian Model. Front Psychol [Internet]. 2020;11:2702. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.559288
- 224. Presanis AM, Kunzmann K, Grosso FM, Jackson CH, Corbella A, Grasselli G, et al. Risk factors associated with severe hospital burden of COVID-19 disease in Regione Lombardia: a cohort study. BMC Infect Dis [Internet]. 2021;21(1):1041. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-021-06750-z
- 225. Gardner TL, Dovey SM, Tilyard MW, Gurr E. Differences between prescribed and dispensed medications. N Z Med J. 1996 Mar;109(1017):69–72.

- 226. Ax F, Pharm MS, Ekedahl A, Pharm MS, Med PD. Electronically transmitted prescriptions not picked up at pharmacies in Sweden. Res Soc Adm Pharm [Internet]. 2010;6(1):70–7. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.sapharm.2009.06.003
- 227. Kardas P, Cieszyński J, Czech M, Banaś I, Lewek P. Primary non-adherence to medication and its drivers of in Poland: findings of the analysis of the e-prescription pilot. Polish Arch Intern Med [Internet]. 2019 Sep 27;130(1):8–16. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-85078866455&doi=10.20452%2Fpamw.14994&partnerID=40&md5=777cb1f75bef3c 9884951d1311404a8f
- 228. Aznar-Lou I, Fernández A, Gil-Girbau M, Fajó-Pascual M, Moreno-Peral P, Peñarrubia-María MT, et al. Initial medication non-adherence: prevalence and predictive factors in a cohort of 1.6 million primary care patients. Br J Clin Pharmacol [Internet]. 2017 Jun;83(6):1328–40. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1111/bcp.13215
- 229. van Geffen ECG, Gardarsdottir H, van Hulten R, van Dijk L, Egberts ACG, Heerdink ER. Initiation of antidepressant therapy: do patients follow the GP's prescription? Br J Gen Pract J R Coll Gen Pract. 2009 Feb;59(559):81–7.
- 230. Ágh T, van Boven JFM, Wettermark B, Menditto E, Pinnock H, Tsiligianni I, et al. A Cross-Sectional Survey on Medication Management Practices for Noncommunicable Diseases in Europe During the Second Wave of the COVID-19 Pandemic. Front Pharmacol [Internet]. 2021;12:1433. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fphar.2021.685696
- 231. Kalanj K, Marshall R, Karol K, Tiljak MK, Orešković S. The Impact of COVID-19 on Hospital Admissions in Croatia. Front Public Heal [Internet]. 2021 Sep 9;9:1307.
 Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh.2021.720948/full
- 232. Harsha N, Kőrösi L, Pálinkás A, Bíró K, Boruzs K, Ádány R, et al. Determinants of Primary Nonadherence to Medications Prescribed by General Practitioners Among Adults in Hungary: Cross-Sectional Evaluation of Health Insurance Data. Front Pharmacol [Internet]. 2019;10:1280. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fphar.2019.01280
- 233. Kardas G, Panek M, Kuna P, Cieszyński J, Kardas P. Primary Non-Adherence to

Antihistamines—Conclusions From E-Prescription Pilot Data in Poland. Front Pharmacol [Internet]. 2020;11. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-85085879121&doi=10.3389%2Ffphar.2020.00783&partnerID=40&md5=e69382020ec 82fbb7b54ef6ff1c60a9f

- 234. Kardas G, Panek M, Kuna P, Kardas P. Primary non-adherence to inhaled medications measured with e-prescription data from Poland. Clin Transl Allergy [Internet].
 2020;10(1):39. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/s13601-020-00346-7
- 235. Oroszi B, Juhász A, Nagy C, Horváth JK, McKee M, Ádány R. Unequal burden of COVID-19 in Hungary: a geographical and socioeconomic analysis of the second wave of the pandemic. BMJ Glob Heal [Internet]. 2021;6(9). Available from: https://gh.bmj.com/content/6/9/e006427
- 236. Bogos K, Kiss Z, Kerpel Fronius A, Temesi G, Jenő E, Madurka I, et al. Different Trends in Excess Mortality in a Central European Country Compared to Main European Regions in the Year of the COVID-19 Pandemic (2020): a Hungarian Analysis. Pathol Oncol Res [Internet]. 2021;27:84. Available from: https://www.porjournal.com/articles/10.3389/pore.2021.1609774
- 237. Mor A, Berencsi K, Nielsen JS, Rungby J, Friborg S, Brandslund I, et al. Rates of Community-based Antibiotic Prescriptions and Hospital-treated Infections in Individuals With and Without Type 2 Diabetes: A Danish Nationwide Cohort Study, 2004–2012. Clin Infect Dis [Internet]. 2016;63(4):501–11. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciw345
- 238. Boruzs K, Juhász A, Nagy C, Ádány R, Bíró K. Relationship between Statin Utilization and Socioeconomic Deprivation in Hungary. Front Pharmacol [Internet]. 2016;7:66. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fphar.2016.00066
- 239. Sessa M, Rasmussen DB, Jensen MT, Kragholm K, Torp-Pedersen C, Andersen M. Metoprolol Versus Carvedilol in Patients With Heart Failure, Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease, Diabetes Mellitus, and Renal Failure. Am J Cardiol. 2020 Apr;125(7):1069–76.
- 240. Johannesdottir SA, Horváth-Puhó E, Ehrenstein V, Schmidt M, Pedersen L, Sørensen HT. Existing data sources for clinical epidemiology: The Danish National Database of

Reimbursed Prescriptions. Clin Epidemiol. 2012;4:303–13.

- 241. Boruzs K, Juhász A, Nagy C, Szabó Z, Jakovljevic M, Bíró K, et al. High inequalities associated with socioeconomic deprivation in cardiovascular disease burden and antihypertensive medication in Hungary. Front Pharmacol [Internet]. 2018;9(AUG):1–14. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2018.00839
- 242. National Academies of Sciences, Engineering and MH and MDB on HCSC on HCU and A with D. Health-Care Utilization as a Proxy in Disability Determination [Internet]. Mar 1. 2,. Health-Care Utilization as a Proxy in Disability Determination. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US), Factors That Affect Health-Care Utilization; 2018. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK500097/
- 243. Kwak MY, Hwang EJ, Lee TH. Effects of the Physician-Primary-Healthcare Nurse Telemedicine Model (P-NTM) on Medication Adherence and Health-Related Quality of Life (HRQoL) of Patients with Chronic Disease at Remote Rural Areas. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2021 Mar;18(5).
- 244. Lyles E, Burnham G, Chlela L, Spiegel P, Morlock L, Doocy S, et al. Health service utilization and adherence to medication for hypertension and diabetes among Syrian refugees and affected host communities in Lebanon. J Diabetes Metab Disord [Internet]. 2020;19(2):1245–59. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s40200-020-00638-6
- 245. Zhao Y, Wright J, Guthridge S, Lawton P. The relationship between number of primary health care visits and hospitalisations: evidence from linked clinic and hospital data for remote Indigenous Australians. BMC Health Serv Res [Internet]. 2013 Nov 6;13:466. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/24195746
- 246. Lindenmeyer A, Hearnshaw H, Vermeire E, Van Royen P, Wens J, Biot Y. Interventions to improve adherence to medication in people with type 2 diabetes mellitus: A review of the literature on the role of pharmacists. J Clin Pharm Ther [Internet]. 2006;31(5):409–19. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-33748358797&doi=10.1111%2Fj.1365-2710.2006.00759.x&partnerID=40&md5=83178fa1594d461b74adee80ff713b07
- 247. Bekele BB, Bogale B, Negash S, Tesfaye M, Getachew D, Weldekidan F, et al. Public

health interventions on prescription redemptions and secondary medication adherence among type 2 diabetes patients: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Diabetes Metab Disord [Internet]. 2021; Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s40200-021-00878-0

- 248. Guldberg TL, Vedsted P, Kristensen JK, Lauritzen T. Improved quality of Type 2 diabetes care following electronic feedback of treatment status to general practitioners: a cluster randomized controlled trial. Diabet Med. 2011 Mar;28(3):325–32.
- 249. Harsha N, Papp M, Kőrösi L, Czifra Á, Ádány R, Sándor J. Enhancing primary adherence to prescribed medications through an organized health status assessment-based extension of primary healthcare services. Int J Environ Res Public Health [Internet]. 2019;16(20). Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-85073119873&doi=10.3390%2Fijerph16203797&partnerID=40&md5=600b5aa4a8c4 51442be173f1a35c935d
- 250. O'Connor PJ, Crabtree BF, Abourizk NN. Longitudinal study of a diabetes education and care intervention: predictors of improved glycemic control. J Am Board Fam Pract. 1992;5(4):381–7.
- 251. Fischer MA, Jones JB, Wright E, Van Loan RP, Xie J, Gallagher L, et al. A randomized telephone intervention trial to reduce primary medication nonadherence. J Manag care Spec Pharm. 2015 Feb;21(2):124–31.
- 252. Renner HM, Hollar A, Stolpe SF, Marciniak MW. Pharmacist-to-prescriber intervention to close therapeutic gaps for statin use in patients with diabetes: A randomized controlled trial. J Am Pharm Assoc [Internet]. 2017 May;57(3):S236-S242.e1. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1544319117301553
- 253. von Hippel C. A Next Generation Assets-Based Public Health Intervention
 Development Model: The Public as Innovators. Front public Heal [Internet]. 2018 Sep
 4;6:248. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/30234092
- 254. Cassetti V, Powell K, Barnes A, Sanders T. A systematic scoping review of asset-based approaches to promote health in communities: development of a framework. Glob Health Promot [Internet]. 2020;27(3):15–23. Available from:

https://doi.org/10.1177/1757975919848925

- 255. Baker D. Developing and implementing a robust asset-based approach to public health. Perspect Public Health [Internet]. 2014 May;134(3):129–30. Available from: https://www.proquest.com/scholarly-journals/developing-implementing-robust-assetbased/docview/1536865964/se-2?accountid=15756
- 256. Sigerson D, Gruer L. Asset-based approaches to health improvement [Internet]. NHS Scotland. Glasgow; 2011. Available from: http://www.healthscotland.com/documents/5535.aspx%5Cnhttp://www.healthscotland. com/uploads/documents/17101assetBasedApproachestoHealthImprovementBriefing.pdf
- 257. von. FLOWERS. Comparing business and household sector innovation in consumer products: findings from a representative study in the United Kingdom. Manage Sci. 2010;58(9).
- 258. de Jong JPJ, von Hippel E, Gault F, Kuusisto J, Raasch C. Market failure in the diffusion of consumer-developed innovations: Patterns in Finland. Res Policy [Internet]. 2015;44(10):1856–65. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0048733315001122
- 259. Ogawa S, Pongtanalert K. Visualizing Invisible Innovation Continent: Evidence from Global Consumer Innovation Surveys. SSRN Electron J [Internet]. 2011;1–19. Available from: http://www.ssrn.com/abstract=1876186
- 260. Ádány R. Operations Manual for GPs Cluster on Public Health Services in Primary Health Care Version 05 [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2020 Feb 2]. 1–111 p. Available from: https://nepegeszseg.hu/Swiss/SH.8.1_operations_manual_version5.pdf
- 261. Howarth A, Quesada J, Silva J, Judycki S, Mills PR. The impact of digital health interventions on health-related outcomes in the workplace: A systematic review. Digit Heal [Internet]. 2018 Jan 1;4:2055207618770861. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/2055207618770861
- 262. O'Connor PJ, Schmittdiel JA, Pathak RD, Harris RI, Newton KM, Ohnsorg KA, et al. Randomized trial of telephone outreach to improve medication adherence and metabolic control in adults with diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2014 Dec;37(12):3317–24.

- 263. Eszter Sinkó, Katalin Dózsa, Péter Elek, Péter Gaál, Norbert Kiss GM. Final ReporSH/8/1 Swiss-Hungarian Cooperation Programme: "Public Health Focused Model Programme for Organising Primary Care Services Backed by a Virtual Care Service Centre". Budapest, Hungary; 2017.
- 264. Bekele BB, Harsha N, Kőrösi L, Vincze F, Czifra Á, Ádány R, et al. Is Prescription Nonredemption a Source of Poor Health Among the Roma? Cross-Sectional Analysis of Drug Consumption Data From the National Health Insurance Fund of Hungary. Front Pharmacol [Internet]. 2021;12:247. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fphar.2021.616092
- 265. Janusz Balkowski, Paweł Czyba ŁK. Situation of the Roma Minority in the Czech Republic, Hungary, Poland and Slovakia [Internet]. Desktop publishing Poland; 2011 [cited 2020 Jan 30]. Available from: https://searchworks.stanford.edu/view/10396525
- 266. Balogh S, Papp R, Jozan P, Csaszar A. Continued improvement of cardiovascular mortality in Hungary - impact of increased cardio-metabolic prescriptions. BMC Public Health [Internet]. 2010;10(1):422. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-10-422
- 267. National Democratic Institute. The Impact of Covid- 19 on Hungary 's Roma Communities Public Opinion Research [Internet]. [cited 2021 Apr 30]. Available from: https://www.ndi.org/publications/impact-covid-19-hungarys-roma-communities
- 268. Kosa Z, Szeles G, Kardos L, Kosa K, Nemeth R, Orszagh S, et al. A comparative health survey of the inhabitants of Roma settlements in Hungary. Am J Public Health. 2007 May;97(5):853–9.
- 269. Kósa K, Adány R. Studying vulnerable populations: lessons from the Roma minority. Epidemiology. 2007 May;18(3):290–9.
- Kósa K, Lénárt B, Adány R. [Health status of the roma population in Hungary]. Orv Hetil. 2002 Oct;143(43):2419–26.
- 271. Kósa Z, Széles G, Kardos L, Kósa K, Németh R, Országh S, et al. A Comparative Health Survey of the Inhabitants of Roma Settlements in Hungary. Am J Public Health [Internet]. 2007 May;97(5):853–9. Available from: http://ajph.aphapublications.org/doi/10.2105/AJPH.2005.072173

- 272. Papp M, Pálinkás A, Fürjes G, Vincze F, Ádány R, Földvári A, et al. Delivery of cardio-metabolic preventive services to Hungarian Roma of different socio-economic strata. Fam Pract. 2017;34(1):83–9.
- 273. D.S. S. Roma health issues: a review of the literature and discussion. Ethn Health.2003;8:223.
- M. M. The health of the Roma people: a review of the published literature. J Epidemiol Community Health [Internet]. 2000;54:864. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1136/jech.54.11.864
- 275. Nielsen LH, Løkkegaard E, Andreasen AH, Keiding N. Using prescription registries to define continuous drug use: how to fill gaps between prescriptions. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf [Internet]. 2008 Apr;17(4):384–8. Available from: http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/pds.1549
- 276. Mabotuwana T, Warren J, Harrison J, Kenealy T. What can primary care prescribing data tell us about individual adherence to long-term medication? Comparison to pharmacy dispensing data. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf [Internet]. 2009;18(10):956–64. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-70450196779&doi=10.1002%2Fpds.1803&partnerID=40&md5=b606aa594370c67676 693ac769bcf864
- 277. Adams AJ, Stolpe SF. Defining and Measuring Primary Medication Nonadherence: Development of a Quality Measure. J Manag Care Spec Pharm [Internet].
 2016;22(5):516–23. Available from: https://doi.org/10.18553/jmcp.2016.22.5.516
- 278. Rutherford A, Glass DA, Suarez EA, Adamson AS. Prescription-level factors associated with primary nonadherence to dermatologic medications. J Dermatolog Treat [Internet]. 2018 Apr 3;29(3):300–4. Available from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/09546634.2017.1365115
- 279. Chan HF, Brumpton M, Macintyre A, Arapoc J, Savage DA, Skali A, et al. How confidence in health care systems affects mobility and compliance during the COVID-19 pandemic. PLoS One. 2020;15(10):e0240644.
- 280. Mercier G, Arquizan C, Roubille F. Understanding the effects of COVID-19 on health care and systems. Lancet Public Heal [Internet]. 2020 Oct;5(10):e524. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2468266720302139

- 281. Worldometer. Coronavirus Update [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2021 Dec 30]. Available from: https://www.worldometers.info/coronavirus/
- 282. Sigrún Ólafsdóttir, Guðbjörg Andrea Jónsdóttir, Dana Hamplova, Jindrich Krejci, Yashwant Deshmukh, Noah Lewin-Epstein, Jarè Struwig BR. International Social Survey Programme 2021 Health and Health Care II [Internet]. Lausanne, Switzerland; [cited 2021 Jun 4]. Available from: https://issp.org/wpcontent/uploads/2022/02/2021ISSP_FINAL_20201130.pdf
- 283. Eurostat (European Commission). European Health Interview Survey (EHIS wave 3) Methodological manual [Internet]. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union; 2018 [cited 2021 Jun 11]. 222 p. Available from: http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/documents/3859598/8762193/KS-02-18-240-EN-N.pdf/5fa53ed4-4367-41c4-b3f5-260ced9ff2f6
- 284. Kósa K, Daragó L, Ádány R. Environmental survey of segregated habitats of Roma in Hungary: a way to be empowering and reliable in minority research. Eur J Public Health [Internet]. 2009;21(4):463–8. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckp097
- 285. Belak A, Madarasova Geckova A, van Dijk JP, Reijneveld SA. Health-endangering everyday settings and practices in a rural segregated Roma settlement in Slovakia: A descriptive summary from an exploratory longitudinal case study. BMC Public Health [Internet]. 2017 Dec 28;17(1):128. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-017-4029-x
- 286. Lauer SR, Yodanis CL. The International Social Survey Programme (ISSP): A Tool for Teaching with an International Perspective. Teach Sociol [Internet]. 2004 Jun 4;32(3):304–13. Available from: http://www.jstor.org/stable/3211408
- 287. Hardin AP, Hackell JM, Simon GR, Boudreau ADA, Baker CN, Barden GA, et al. Age Limit of Pediatrics. Pediatrics [Internet]. 2017 Sep 1;140(3):3–5. Available from: https://publications.aap.org/pediatrics/article/140/3/e20172151/38333/Age-Limit-of-Pediatrics
- 288. Dyussenbayev A. Age Periods Of Human Life. Adv Soc Sci Res J [Internet]. 2017 Mar 25;4(6):395–6. Available from: http://scholarpublishing.org/index.php/ASSRJ/article/view/2924

- 289. WHO. Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical (ATC) Classification [Internet]. World Health Organization. 2011 [cited 2020 Jan 21]. Available from: https://www.who.int/tools/atc-ddd-toolkit/atc-classification
- 290. Tripepi G, Jager KJ, Dekker FW, Zoccali C. Stratification for Confounding Part 2: Direct and Indirect Standardization. Nephron Clin Pract [Internet]. 2010;116(4):c322– 5. Available from: https://www.karger.com/DOI/10.1159/000319591
- 291. International Business Management. IBM SPSS Statistics V21 x86 [Internet]. 2016. Available from: https://www.ibm.com/support/pages/spss-statistics-210-availabledownload
- Peper FE, Esteban S, Terrasa SA. [Evaluation of primary adherence to medications in patients with chronic conditions: A retrospective cohort study]. Aten primaria. 2018 Feb;50(2):96–105.
- 293. Farris B, Shakowski C, Mueller SW, Phong S, Kiser TH, Jacknin G. Patient nonadherence to filling discharge medication prescriptions from the emergency department: Barriers and clinical implications. Am J Heal Pharm [Internet]. 2018 Mar 1;75(5):316–20. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/ajhp/article/75/5/316/5102326
- 294. Fernández A, Quan J, Moffet H, Parker MM, Schillinger D, Karter AJ. Adherence to Newly Prescribed Diabetes Medications Among Insured Latino and White Patients With Diabetes. JAMA Intern Med [Internet]. 2017 Mar 1;177(3):371. Available from: http://archinte.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?doi=10.1001/jamainternmed.2016.8653
- 295. McKee, Martin and MacLehose, Laura and Nolte E. Health policy and European Union enlargement. McGraw-Hill Education UK; 2004.
- 296. Murphy A, Palafox B, O'Donnell O, Stuckler D, Perel P, AlHabib KF, et al. Inequalities in the use of secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease by socioeconomic status: evidence from the PURE observational study. Lancet Glob Heal. 2018 Mar;6(3):e292–301.
- 297. Simon-Tuval T, Triki N, Chodick G, Greenberg D. Determinants of Cost-Related Nonadherence to Medications among Chronically Ill Patients in Maccabi Healthcare Services, Israel. Value Heal Reg Issues [Internet]. 2014;4:41–6. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2212109914000545

- 298. Zhong H. Equity in pharmaceutical utilization in Ontario: A cross section and over time analysis. Can Public Policy [Internet]. 2007;33(4):487–508. Available from: http://www.utpjournals.press/doi/abs/10.3138/cpp.33.4.487
- 299. Tamblyn R, Eguale T, Huang A, Winslade N, Doran P. The incidence and determinants of primary nonadherence with prescribed medication in primary care: A cohort study. Ann Intern Med [Internet]. 2014;160(7):441–50. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-84897460376&doi=10.7326%2FM13-1705&partnerID=40&md5=de0dcacd93583e62035451f10780bc02
- 300. Stirratt MJ, Dunbar-Jacob J, Crane HM, Simoni JM, Czajkowski S, Hilliard ME, et al. Self-report measures of medication adherence behavior: recommendations on optimal use. Transl Behav Med [Internet]. 2015;5(4):470–82. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-84936814439&doi=10.1007%2Fs13142-015-0315-2&partnerID=40&md5=c6c640658a6490dfdbb888d0f6d8a803
- 301. Kennedy J, Morgan S. A cross-national study of prescription nonadherence due to cost: Data from the joint Canada-United States survey of health. Clin Ther [Internet]. 2006 Aug;28(8):1217–24. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S0149291806001718
- 302. Baggarly SA, Kemp RJ, Wang X, Magoun AD. Factors associated with medication adherence and persistence of treatment for hypertension in a Medicaid population. Res Soc Adm Pharm [Internet]. 2014;10(6):e99–112. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-84922981625&doi=10.1016%2Fj.sapharm.2014.02.002&partnerID=40&md5=ae091a0 b09a40b4ee24ddb774e6d1096
- 303. Gaspar FW, Zaidel CS, Dewa CS. Rates and determinants of use of pharmacotherapy and psychotherapy by patients with major depressive disorder. Psychiatr Serv [Internet]. 2019;70(4):262–70. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-85063997975&doi=10.1176%2Fappi.ps.201800275&partnerID=40&md5=e0d4f74d86 a6e8efab3c1aef4942044f

- 304. Kratzer J, Cheng L, Allin S, Law MR. The impact of private insurance coverage on prescription drug use in Ontario, Canada. Healthc Policy [Internet]. 2015;10(4):62–74. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-84953854523&doi=10.12927%2Fhcpol.2015.24212&partnerID=40&md5=162da5198774a3a35637281da3e15c11
- 305. Guilcher SJT, Everall AC, Patel T, Packer TL, Hitzig SL, Lofters AK. Medication adherence for persons with spinal cord injury and dysfunction from the perspectives of healthcare providers: A qualitative study. J Spinal Cord Med [Internet].
 2019;42(sup1):215–25. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-85072787370&doi=10.1080%2F10790268.2019.1637644&partnerID=40&md5=58283 9e80716ecb4e0d2fc14415c2ad5
- 306. Davidson E, Lam S, Sokn E. Predictors of Medication Nonadherence From Outpatient Pharmacy Data Within a Large, Academic Health System. J Pharm Pract [Internet].
 2019 Apr 18;32(2):175–8. Available from: http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/0897190017748048
- 307. Devaraj NK, Mohamed M, Hussein N. Prevalence, factors influencing and knowledge about adherence to lipid-lowering therapy among hyperlipidemia patients. Med J Malaysia [Internet]. 2017;72(3):157–64. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-85025628098&partnerID=40&md5=3029dc197cf2d8440ba7cbb9e10d3f38
- 308. Franklin JM, Mahesri M, Krumme AA, Barberio J, Fischer MA, Brill G, et al. Time to Filling of New Prescriptions for Chronic Disease Medications Among a Cohort of Elderly Patients in the USA. J Gen Intern Med [Internet]. 2018;33(11):1877–84. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-85050823058&doi=10.1007%2Fs11606-018-4592-6&partnerID=40&md5=aa3dd7b42697a7e5ec70d9c0cfa48984
- 309. Brinda EM, Andrés AR, Enemark U. Correlates of out-of-pocket and catastrophic health expenditures in Tanzania: results from a national household survey. BMC Int Health Hum Rights. 2014 Mar;14:5.
- 310. Lee Y-M, Kim RB, Lee HJ, Kim K, Shin M-H, Park H-K, et al. Relationships among

medication adherence, lifestyle modification, and health-related quality of life in patients with acute myocardial infarction: a cross-sectional study. Health Qual Life Outcomes [Internet]. 2018 Dec 22;16(1):100. Available from: https://hqlo.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12955-018-0921-z

- 311. Marmot M. Health Inequalities in the EU—Final Report of a Consortium. European Union: European Commission Directorate-General for Health and Consumers; European Commission [Internet]. Brussels, Belgium; 2013 [cited 2020 Feb 25]. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.2772/34426
- Marmot M, Bell R. Fair society, healthy lives. Public Health [Internet]. 2012
 Sep;126(SUPPL.1):S4–10. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.puhe.2012.05.014
- 313. Aquino JA, Baldoni NR, Flor CR, Sanches C, Di Lorenzo Oliveira C, Alves GCS, et al. Effectiveness of individual strategies for the empowerment of patients with diabetes mellitus: A systematic review with meta-analysis. Prim Care Diabetes. 2018 Apr;12(2):97–110.
- 314. Rossi MC, Lucisano G, Funnell M, Pintaudi B, Bulotta A, Gentile S, et al. Interplay among patient empowerment and clinical and person-centered outcomes in type 2 diabetes. The BENCH-D study. Patient Educ Couns. 2015 Sep;98(9):1142–9.
- 315. Jeffery MM, D'Onofrio G, Paek H, Platts-Mills TF, Soares III WE, Hoppe JA, et al. Trends in Emergency Department Visits and Hospital Admissions in Health Care Systems in 5 States in the First Months of the COVID-19 Pandemic in the US. JAMA Intern Med [Internet]. 2020 Oct 1;180(10):1328–33. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2020.3288
- 316. Laukkanen L, Lahtinen S, Liisanantti J, Kaakinen T, Ehrola A, Raatiniemi L. Early impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and social restrictions on ambulance missions. Eur J Public Health [Internet]. 2021;31(5):1090–5. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckab065
- Chua K-P, Volerman A, Conti RM. Prescription Drug Dispensing to US Children During the COVID-19 Pandemic. Pediatrics. 2021 Aug;148(2).
- 318. Gillies MB, Burgner DP, Ivancic L, Nassar N, Miller JE, Sullivan SG, et al. Changes in antibiotic prescribing following COVID-19 restrictions: Lessons for post-pandemic

antibiotic stewardship. Br J Clin Pharmacol [Internet]. n/a(n/a). Available from: https://bpspubs.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/bcp.15000

- 319. Jackson C, Bedford H, Cheater FM, Condon L, Emslie C, Ireland L, et al. Needles, Jabs and Jags: a qualitative exploration of barriers and facilitators to child and adult immunisation uptake among Gypsies, Travellers and Roma. BMC Public Health. 2017 Mar;17(1):254.
- 320. Sudzinova A, Nagyova I, Studencan M, Rosenberger J, Skodova Z, Vargova H, et al. Roma coronary heart disease patients have more medical risk factors and greater severity of coronary heart disease than non-Roma. Int J Public Health [Internet]. 2013 Jun;58(3):409—415. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/s00038-013-0462-5
- 321. Ekuklu G, Berberoglu U, Eskiocak M, Saltik A. Utilization of primary health care services by Turkish gypsies and members of the general population at Muradiye Health Unit District in Edirne, Turkey. Yonsei Med J. 2003 Jun;44(3):414–23.
- 322. Colombini M, Rechel B, Mayhew SH. Access of Roma to sexual and reproductive health services: Qualitative findings from Albania, Bulgaria and Macedonia. Glob Public Health [Internet]. 2012;7(5):522–34. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1080/17441692.2011.641990
- 323. Carrasco-Garrido P, de Andrés A, Hernández Barrera V, Jiménez-Trujillo I, Jiménez-García R. Health status of Roma women in Spain. Eur J Public Health [Internet].
 2010;21(6):793–8. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckq153
- 324. Czeisler MÉ, Marynak K, Clarke KEN, Salah Z, Shakya I, Thierry JM, et al. Delay or Avoidance of Medical Care Because of COVID-19–Related Concerns — United States, June 2020. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2020;69(36):1250–7.
- 325. Mansfield KE, Mathur R, Tazare J, Henderson AD, Mulick AR, Carreira H, et al. Indirect acute effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on physical and mental health in the UK: a population-based study. Lancet Digit Heal [Internet]. 2021;3(4):e217–30. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S2589750021000170
- 326. Karter AJ, Parker MM, Solomon MD, Lyles CR, Adams AS, Moffet HH, et al. Effect of Out-of-Pocket Cost on Medication Initiation, Adherence, and Persistence among Patients with Type 2 Diabetes: The Diabetes Study of Northern California

(DISTANCE). Health Serv Res [Internet]. 2018;53(2):1227–47. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-85018394585&doi=10.1111%2F1475-6773.12700&partnerID=40&md5=635d3b140f7bbd670948e2ed5033fd49

- 327. Rodbard HW, Green AJ, Fox KM, Grandy S. Impact of type 2 diabetes mellitus on prescription medication burden and out-of-pocket healthcare expenses. Diabetes Res Clin Pract [Internet]. 2010;87(3):360–5. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-77649181498&doi=10.1016%2Fj.diabres.2009.11.021&partnerID=40&md5=ea2f2695 15e1041da4afa2539b0c477d
- 328. Hennessy D, Sanmartin C, Ronksley P, Weaver R, Campbell D, Manns B, et al. Out-of-pocket spending on drugs and pharmaceutical products and costrelated prescription non-adherence among Canadians with chronic disease. Heal Reports [Internet].
 2016;27(6):3–8. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-85009808202&partnerID=40&md5=7a35ef110018c8708a905b69d48b743f
- 329. Blackwell SA, Baugh DK, Montgomery MA, Ciborowski GM, Waldron CJ, Riley GF. Noncompliance in the use of cardiovascular medications in the medicare part D population. Medicare Medicaid Res Rev [Internet]. 2011;1(4):E1–25. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-84930480775&doi=10.5600%2FMMRR.001.04.A05&partnerID=40&md5=0ec17bf84 201c9e2916060238fa82577
- 330. Akweongo P, Aikins M, Wyss K, Salari P, Tediosi F. Insured clients out-of-pocket payments for health care under the national health insurance scheme in Ghana. BMC Health Serv Res [Internet]. 2021;21(1):440. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-021-06401-8
- 331. Villani J, Daly P, Fay R, Kavanagh L, McDonagh S, Amin N. A community-health partnership response to mitigate the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on Travellers and Roma in Ireland. Glob Health Promot. 2021 Jun;28(2):46–55.
- 332. Kyriakides S, Dalli H, Schmit N. EU Commissioners Outline COVID-19 Issues and Measures in a Letter to National Ministers [Internet]. Brussels, Belgium; 2020. Available from: https://www.eurodiaconia.org/pl/2020/04/eu-commissioners-outline-
covid-19-issues-and-measures-in-a-letter-to-national-ministers/

- 333. Becker CB, Taniyama Y, Kondo-Arita M, Sasaki N, Yamada S, Yamamoto K. Unexplored Costs of Bereavement Grief in Japan: Patterns of Increased Use of Medical, Pharmaceutical, and Financial Services. OMEGA - J Death Dying [Internet]. 2021;83(1):142–56. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/0030222821992193
- 334. Avis NE, Brambilla DJ, Vass K, McKinlay JB. The effect of widowhood on health: A prospective analysis from the Massachusetts women's health study. Soc Sci Med [Internet]. 1991 Jan;33(9):1063–70. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/027795369190011Z
- 335. Perkins JM, Lee H, James KS, Oh J, Krishna A, Heo J, et al. Marital status, widowhood duration, gender and health outcomes: a cross-sectional study among older adults in India. BMC Public Health [Internet]. 2016;16(1):1032. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-016-3682-9
- 336. Salerno S, Sun Y, Morris EL, He X, Li Y, Pan Z, et al. Comprehensive evaluation of COVID-19 patient short- and long-term outcomes: Disparities in healthcare utilization and post-hospitalization outcomes. PLoS One [Internet]. 2021 Oct 6;16(10):e0258278. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0258278
- 337. Carretero MT, Calderón-Larrañaga A, Poblador-Plou B, Prados-Torres A. Primary health care use from the perspective of gender and morbidity burden. BMC Womens Health. 2014 Nov;14:145.
- 338. Mustard CA, Kaufert P, Kozyrskyj A, Mayer T. Sex Differences in the Use of Health Care Services. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 1998;338(23):1678–83. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199806043382307
- 339. Lim MT, Lim YMF, Tong SF, Sivasampu S. Age, sex and primary care setting differences in patients' perception of community healthcare seeking behaviour towards health services. Tu W-J, editor. PLoS One [Internet]. 2019 Oct 21;14(10):e0224260. Available from: https://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0224260
- 340. Linnamäki K. Gendered Articulations of Control and Care on Social Media During the COVID-19 Pandemic in Hungary. Front Polit Sci [Internet]. 2021;3:52. Available from: https://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fpos.2021.656731

- 341. Galasso V, Pons V, Profeta P, Becher M, Brouard S, Foucault M. Gender differences in COVID-19 attitudes and behavior: Panel evidence from eight countries. Proc Natl Acad Sci [Internet]. 2020;117(44):27285–91. Available from: https://www.pnas.org/content/117/44/27285
- 342. Xu Z, Wang Z, Wang S, Ye Y, Luo D, Wan L, et al. The impact of type 2 diabetes and its management on the prognosis of patients with severe COVID-19. J Diabetes. 2020 Jul;
- 343. FRA/UNDP. Inequalities and multiple discrimination in access to and quality of healthcare [Internet]. Unhcr.Org. 2013. 119 p. Available from: http://www.unhcr.org/refworld/pdfid/513f31802.pdf
- 344. Emanuel EJ, Persad G, Upshur R, Thome B, Parker M, Glickman A, et al. Fair Allocation of Scarce Medical Resources in the Time of Covid-19. N Engl J Med [Internet]. 2020;382(21):2049–55. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMsb2005114
- 345. Kapiriri L, Kiwanuka S, Biemba G, Velez C, Razavi SD, Abelson J, et al. Priority setting and equity in COVID-19 pandemic plans: a comparative analysis of 18 African countries. Health Policy Plan [Internet]. 2021; Available from: https://doi.org/10.1093/heapol/czab113
- 346. Aoun SM, Keegan O, Roberts A, Breen LJ. The impact of bereavement support on wellbeing: a comparative study between Australia and Ireland. Palliat Care Soc Pract [Internet]. 2020 Jan 27;14:263235242093513. Available from: http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/2632352420935132
- 347. Berk ML, Taylor AK. Women and divorce: health insurance coverage, utilization, and health care expenditures. Am J Public Health. 1984 Nov;74(11):1276–8.
- 348. Kósa I, Nemes A, Belicza E, Király F, Vassányi I. Regional differences in the utilisation of coronary angiography as initial investigation for the evaluation of patients with suspected coronary artery disease. Vol. 168, International journal of cardiology. Netherlands; 2013. p. 5012–5.
- 349. Teller Nóra: Adaptációs csapdák. 203-218. In: Roma kutatások, 2010 élethelyzetek a társadalom peremén, Szerkesztette: Kurucz Erika, Nemzeti Család- és Szociálpolitikai Intézet, TÁMOP 5.4.1/08/1-2009-0002 számú kiemelt projekt, 2011 [Internet]. 2010.

Available from: http://www.ncsszi.hu/download.php?file_id=1920

10. Keywords

Prescription non-redemption, Roma people, cardiovascular drugs, alimentary tract drugs, antiinfective agents, CRPNR, COVID-19 pandemic, hospital admission, GP visit, healthcare service, Hungary, interaction effect, specialist care

11. Acknowledgment

First and foremost, I am enormously thankful to my supervisor, Professor Dr. Janos Sandor for his priceless and invaluable unceasing help, support, advice, motivation and patience during my PhD study. His level of deep knowledge, outstanding technical ability, seniority, tolerance and abundant experience has stimulated me in all my ways and times of research and daily life. It is not easy to achieve my ambition of having PhD study without his wonderful help, charming and often welcoming approach both in my good and bad moments. I have no more words to express my heartfelt gratitude that better explains his role in my journey which is very vital for my present and future career as well.

I also would like to thank Professor Adany Roza and Prof Margit Balasz for their kindness and help during my PhD study. It is their kind help and support that has made my study and life easy in the school to have a pleasing time.

Still, I have a great honor and kindly valued Koos Zoltanne, Reka Kovacs and Zsuzsa Toth for their technical help and unreluctantly pleasant support.

I kindly thank Tempus Public Foundation for offering me all the required provisions under the Stipendium Hungaricum Scholarship scheme.

Here again, I am so grateful for my beloved and juvenile wife Seblewengel Getachew, our sons Eyoab and Benayas for their taking the risk, paying sacrifice, moral support, big patience and love during my PhD study. You are a reference of a strong and brilliant lady for a dude that broke the stereotype further study is impossible after having a marriage at an early age for a man. This PhD is completely impossible without your willingness and commitment to letting me do and God Bless you!

Last, but not least I would like to thank my childhood and youthful academic founders, Mr. Abebe Kema, Awoke Belay Mrs. Genet Mekuria, who has empowered and enlightened me and others [Dr. Tadewos Menta, Mr. Muluken, Tekle, Tadele, Adal, Solomon, Kongo, Demeke, Degu, Taybela, Desalegn] not mentioned here made me a man of today. Meanwhile Mr. Haile Balango and Ephrem Aysa you have taken my risk and made an extraordinary bridge once in my life that connected my vision and ambition. I would like to say Thank you!

My mother Asamenech Mekonin, you have been making me energetic and productive in my life and I am proud of you my beloved mother. I love you, siblings too. And I dedicate this PhD to my beloved father Begashaw Bekele who has nurtured me in love and compassion till

now. I always wonder and admire you for life!! You are a genuine father to your children, we love you always and I praise God for you in our lives!!

I am also highly grateful to the staff and co-workers of Mizan Tepi University, College of Health Sciences. I greatly appreciate your kind moral support from the beginning to today of my study.

12. Funding

The study was carried out in the framework of the "Public Health-Focused Model Program for Organizing Primary Care Services Backed by a Virtual Care Service Center" (SH/8/1). The Model Program is funded by the Swiss Government via the Swiss Contribution Program (SH/8/1) in agreement with the government of Hungary. Additional sources of funding were from the GINOP-2.3.2-15-2016-00005 project, which was cofinanced by the European Union and the European Regional Development Fund.

Also, the "Routine monitoring for the health status and health care use in the Hungarian segregated colonies" program (BM/6327-3/2021, FEIF/951/2021-ITM), supported by the Deputy State Secretary for Social Inclusion of the Hungarian Government. Furthermore, the Stipendium Hungaricum Scholarship Program (grant SHE-15324-002/2018 to Bayu Begashaw Bekele) supported his PhD study. Funders have no role in the design, collection, analysis, interpretations, and publication processes.

This study was funded by the Stipendium Hungaricum Scholarship scheme under Tempus Public Foundation with reference number SHE-15324-002/2018 to Bayu Begashaw Bekele.

13. Publication List



UNIVERSITY AND NATIONAL LIBRARY UNIVERSITY OF DEBRECEN H-4002 Egyetem tér 1, Debrecen Phone: +3652/410-443, email: publikaciok@lib.unideb.hu

Registry number: Subject: DEENK/88/2022.PL PhD Publication List

Candidate: Bayu Begashaw Bekele Doctoral School: Doctoral School of Health Sciences

List of publications related to the dissertation

 Bekele, B. B., Alhaffar, M. H. D. B. A., Wasnik, R. N., Sándor, J.: The Effect of the COVID-19 Pandemic on the Social Inequalities of Health Care Use in Hungary: a Nationally Representative Cross-Sectional Study. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health.* 19 (4), 1-17, 2022. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19042258 IF: 3.39 (2020)

List of other publications

 Bekele, B. B., Manzar, D., Alqahtani, M., Pandi-Perumal, S. R.: Diabetes mellitus, metabolic syndrome, and physical activity among Ethiopians: a systematic review. *Diabetes Metab Syndr.* 15 (1), 257-265, 2021. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.dsx.2020.12.031

4. Bekele, B. B., Negash, S., Bogale, B., Tesfaye, M., Getachew, D., Weldekidan, F., Balcha, B.: Effect of diabetes self-management education (DSME) on glycated hemoglobin (HbA1c) level among patients with T2DM: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials.

Diabetes Metab Syndr. 15 (1), 177-185, 2021. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.dsx.2020.12.030



 Bekele, B. B., Bogale, B., Negash, S., Tesfaye, M., Getachew, D., Weldekidan, F., Yosef, T.: Public health interventions on prescription redemptions and secondary medication adherence among type 2 diabetes patients: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials.

J Diabetes Metab Disord. 20, 1933-1956, 2021. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s40200-021-00878-0

6. Ghrouz, A. K., Noohu, M. M., Manzar, D., Bekele, B. B., Pandi-Perumal, S. R., Bahammam, A. S.: Short-term insomnia symptoms are associated with level and not type of physical activity in a sample of Indian college students.

J. Prev. Med. Hygiene 62 (2), 447-454, 2021. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.15167/2421-4248/jpmh2021.62.2.1893

- 7. Kebede, K. M., Tadesse, A. H., Bekele, B. B.: A qualitative study of factors influencing the utilization of institutional delivery: Insights from pastoral communities, Southwest Ethiopia. 8 (3), 2284-2295, 2020.
 DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.22038/JMRH.2020.40116.1448
- Kebede, T., Woldemichael, K., Jarso, H., Bekele, B. B.: Exclusive breastfeeding cessation and associated factors among employed mothers in Dukem town, Central Ethiopia. *Int Breastfeed J.* 15, 1-10, 2020. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s13006-019-0250-9 IF: 3.461
- Bekele, B. B., Negash, S., Bogale, B., Tesfaye, M., Getachew, D., Weldekidan, F., Balcha, B.: The effectiveness of diabetes self-management education (DSME) on glycemic control among T2DM patients randomized control trial: systematic review and meta-analysis protocol.

J. Diabetes Metab. Disord. 19 (2), 1631-1637, 2020. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s40200-020-00584-3

10. Pikó, P., Fiatal, S., Werissa, N. A., Bekele, B. B., Rácz, G., Kósa, Z., Sándor, J., Ádány, R.: The Effect of Haplotypes in the CETP and LIPC Genes on the Triglycerides to HDL-C Ratio and Its Components in the Roma and Hungarian General Populations. *Genes.* 11 (56), 1-13, 2020.
DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/genes11010056
IF: 4.096

11. Manzar, D., Bekele, B. B., Noohu, M. M., Salahuddin, M., Albougami, A., Spence, D. W., Parenau, S. R., Bahammam, A. S.: Prevalence of poor sleep quality in the Ethiopian population: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sleep Breath.* 24 (2), 709-716, 2019.
DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11325-019-01871-x
IF: 2.162



 Bekele, B. B.: The prevalence of macro and microvascular complications of DM among patients in Ethiopia 1990-2017: systematic review. *Diabetes Metab Syndr.* 13 (1), 672-677, 2019. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.dsx.2018.11.046

 Bekele, B. B., Dadi, T. L., Tesfaye, T.: The significant association between maternity waiting homes utilization and perinatal mortality in Africa: systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Res Notes.* 12 (1), 1-6, 2019. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s13104-019-4056-z

 Bekele, B. B., Legese, T., Daniel, A., Kumalo, A., Yimam, H., Lamaro, T.: Determinants of measles recurrent outbreak in South West Ethiopia: an obstacle for implementation of infectious disease eradication in the country. *EC Microbiol.* 14, 1-8, 2018.

 Bekele, B. B., Umubyeyi, A.: Maternity waiting homes and skilled delivery in Ethiopia: review of strategy and implementation to drive sustainable development goals. *Med. Pract. Rev. 9* (3), 19-26, 2018.
 DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.5897/MPR2018.0137

16. Dadi, T. L., Bekele, B. B., Kasaye, H. K., Nigussie, T.: Role of maternity waiting homes in the reduction of maternal death and stillbirth in developing countries and its contribution for maternal death reduction in Ethiopia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 18 (748), 1-10, 2018.
DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/s12913-018-3559-y
IF: 1.932

 Bekele, B. B., Tesema Berkesa, S., Tefera, E., Kumalo, A.: Self-Medication Practice in Limmu Genet, Jimma Zone, Southwest Ethiopia: Does Community Based Health Insurance Scheme Have an Influence? *Journal of Pharmaceutics. 2018*, 1-8, 2018. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2018/1749137

 Cromwell, E. A., Roy, S., Sankara, D. P., Weiss, A., Stanaway, J., Goldberg, E., Pigott, D. M., Larson, H., Vollset, S. E., Krohn, K., Foreman, K., Hotez, P., Bhutta, Z., **Bekele, B. B.**, Edessa, D., Kassembaum, N., Mokdad, A., Murray, C. J. L., Hay, S. I.: Slaying little dragons: the impact of the Guinea Worm Eradication Program on dracunculiasis disability averted from 1990 to 2016. *Gates Open Res. 2*, 1-14, 2018.

DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.12688/gatesopenres.12827.1

 Bekele, B. B., Tesfaye, Y., Zelalem, E., Ubong, U., Kumalo, A.: Assessment of Birth Preparedness and Complication Readiness among Pregnant Mothers Attending Ante Nated Care Service in Mizan-Tepi University Teaching Hospital, South West Ethiopia. *Clinics Mother Child Health.* 14 (1), 1-7, 2017. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.4172/2090-7214.1000257



 Belato, D. T., Mekiso, A. B., Bekele, B. B.: Male Partners Involvement in Prevention of Motherto-Child Transmission of HIV Services in Southern Central Ethiopia: in Case of Lemo District, Hadiya Zone.
 AIDS Res Treat. 2017, 1-8, 2017.
 DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2017/8617540

 Bekele, B. B., Tesfaye, T.: Assessment of Integrated Disease Surveillance and Response Implementation in Special Health Facilities of Dawuro Zone. *JA. 4* (3), 11-15, 2016. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.11648/j.ja.20160403.11

 Abute, L., Kebede, Y., Astale, T., Bekele, B. B., Legese, T.: Directly observed treatment shortcourse compliance and associated factors among adult tuberculosis cases in public health institutions of Hadiya zone, Southern Ethiopia. *J. Infect. Dis. Immun. 8* (1), 1-9, 2016. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.5897/JIDI2016.0157

23. Bekele, B. B., Tessema, F., Gesesew, H. A.: Health Care Seeking Behavior in Southwest Ethiopia.
 PLoS One. 11 (9), 1-13, 2016.

DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0161014 IF: 2.806

- Bekele, B. B., Tesfaye, T.: Healthcare Utilization among Urban and Rural Households in Esera District: comparative Cross-sectional Study.
 Am. J. Publ. Health Res. 4 (2), 56-61, 2016.
 DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.12691/ajphr-4-2-3
- Bekele, B. B., Tonamo, A.: Rabies prevalence, prevention and clinical features in case of developing countries: article review. *Develop. Country Studies 6* (2), 116-122, 2016.

Total IF of journals (all publications): 23,657 Total IF of journals (publications related to the dissertation): 9,2



The Candidate's publication data submitted to the iDEa Tudóstér have been validated by DEENK on the basis of the Journal Citation Report (Impact Factor) database.

18 February, 2022